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DIRECTORS =

Executive Directors’ HITES"

Dr. LIU Yong (Chairman of the Board and General Manager) BBET (EFEF/EHRALE)

Dr. CHEN Jianping R 1E L

Mr. LI Bu s

Ms. CHEN Qingging RESXL

Non-Executive Directors? EHITES?

Dr. HONG Kunxue BB+

Dr. ZHOU Hongbin BZEE

Dr. ZHANG Jiaxin REZHLT

Mr. HU Houwei HEREEE

Independent Non-Executive Directors BYEHITES

Mr. LIANG Guodong REIREE

Dr. XIA Lijun BEVE#L

Professor GAO Feng GAO Feng#if%

Professor YUEN Ming Fai RGEHE

SUPERVISORS Ex

Ms. QIAO Weiwei (Chairwoman) SRERE(F/E)

Mr. WANG Feizhou ERAIE

Ms. QIAN Ranting B EZ

Ms. LIU Ping 2 F L+

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES BEARMWE

Ms. CHEN Qingging RESLL

Ms. HO Yin Kwan (BE:Z::3eeum

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES REAR

Dr. LIU Yong 2B+

Mr. LI Bu Eb it

L Ms. CHEN Qingging was appointed as an executive Director ' RETZTR2023F5 A 11 AEZERIITE
on May 11, 2023. £

2 Mr. ZHAO Hui and Dr. DU Wei resigned as non-executive 2 T A A EE T3 20234 3 520 H BT IE
Directors and members of the Remuneration and Appraisal WITESRFWEEZZESZEBRG &5
Committee on March 20, 2023; Dr. FENG Tao resigned as B+R2023F4 A3HBIEIEANITE R RIES
a non-executive Director and a member of the Nomination ZESZEWMYG  RESBHILMERLER
Committee on April 3, 2023; Dr. ZHANG Jiaxin and Mr. HU 202355 A1 HEZERIEHITES -

Houwei were appointed as non-executive Directors on May 11,
2023.



AUDIT COMMITTEE

Dr. XIA Lijun (Chairman)
Professor YUEN Ming Fai
Dr. ZHOU Hongbin

REMUNERATION AND APPRAISAL COMMITTEE

Professor YUEN Ming Fai (Chairman)
Dr. XIA Lijun

Mr. LIANG Guodong

Professor GAO Feng

Mr. LI Bu

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Dr. LIU Yong (Chairman)
Professor GAO Feng

Mr. LIANG Guodong

Dr. XIA Lijun

H SHARE REGISTRAR

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor

Hopewell Centre
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Wan Chai

Hong Kong

HEAD OFFICE AND REGISTERED OFFICE IN THE PRC

No. 888 Yaocheng Avenue
Medical High-tech District
Taizhou City

Jiangsu Province

the PRC

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG
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Dear Shareholders,

In 2023, bearing in mind the mission of “developing the first-class
vaccines to protect human health” and guided by the Company’s
strategy, all Recbio people braved the obstacles, strived forward,
and ultimately delivered satisfactory outcomes in a challenging
environment. The Company’s early investment in research and
development and commercialization of various pipelines reaped
multiple milestone achievements in 2023.

The phase Il clinical trial of recombinant HPV 9-valent
vaccine REC603 in China has entered its 30th month of visit
and observation, marking another big step toward the new
drug application. Another strategic product, REC610, a novel
adjuvanted recombinant shingles viral vaccine, has been
approved for phase | and Il clinical trials in China. Currently, all
subjects have been successfully enrolled for the phase | clinical
trial in China, with promising results observed in the first-in-human
(FIH) clinical trial conducted in the Philippines. The preclinical
research for recombinant respiratory syncytial virus vaccine
REC625, incorporating our independently developed new adjuvant
BFAO1, has progressed smoothly. The Company has garnered
recognition from international organizations for its research and
development and commercialization of new adjuvants, leading to
its inclusion in the vaccine new adjuvant library managed by CEPI.
The Company has signed joint development agreements with two
industry chain partners in succession, offering them innovative
adjuvant solutions and collaborating on the development of new
adjuvant respiratory syncytial virus vaccines and new adjuvant
rabies vaccines.

Meanwhile, we are proactively preparing ourselves for the
explosive commercialization of our strategic pipelines. The
construction of the HPV vaccine industrialization base, compliant
with the standards required by the pre-qualification process of
the World Health Organization, has fulfilled the requirements
for completion, boasting a designed production capacity of 20
million doses of HPV 9-valent vaccine per year. The production
base for the innovative vaccines (CHO cell) has acquired a
manufacturing license and has successfully produced multiple
batches of novel adjuvanted recombinant shingles viral vaccine.
The production base is also equipped to produce other innovative
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vaccﬁes (CHO cell), including the novel adjuvanted recombinant
respiratory syncytial virus vaccines. The Company’s production
and quality management system has undergone another audit
by a European Qualified Person (QP), resulting in the attainment
of a declaration of conformity. Progress in the commercialization
process in overseas markets has been substantial. We have
reached intention agreements with partners in Saudi Arabia, the
United Arab Emirates, the Philippines, and India, to collaborate
on clinical registration and market expansion of recombinant HPV
9-valent vaccine in the Middle East, North Africa, Southeast Asia,
and South Asia regions.

Organizational structure optimization and talent pool development
are the crucial driving forces for the development of an enterprise.
In 2023, oriented to value creation, the Company took into account
industry characteristics and its realities when further enhancing
the organizational structure and the human resources system and
reducing costs while improving efficiency, which has laid a robust
foundation for sustainable operations. To continuously improve
our business capabilities, the Company has appointed Mr. ZHOU
Yang as chief operating officer and Mr. YANG Kejian as senior
vice president. Also, the core strength of the Company at all levels
has been significantly reinforced.

Due to its exceptional business performance and capital
strength, the Company won a “Gelonghui Golden Award” under
the category of Annual Excellent Public Health Enterprise and
was recognized as the “Most Popular New Stock with Securities
Companies” among the new stocks listed on the Stock Exchange.

Looking ahead to 2024, the medium- to long-term certainty of our
corporate value is intertwined with the short-term uncertainty of the
external environment when opportunities coexist with challenges.
We are confident that as long as we put concerted and tireless
efforts to unswervingly execute our strategies and objectives, all
Shareholders will surely be gratified by our performance.

Finally, on behalf of the Board, | would like to thank all
Shareholders, business partners, and friends for their enduring
trust and steadfast support from the bottom of my heart. My
profound appreciation also goes to the management and the rest
of our employees for staying with the Company through thick and
thin. Let us hope that Recbio’s products can be marketed soon
and contribute to mankind’s wellness so that we can reward our
supportive Shareholders for their great hope.

Jiangsu Recbio Technology Co., Ltd.
Chairman of the Board and General Manager
Dr. LIU Yong

Jiangsu Province, the PRC
April 2024
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A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the HEKEXTBER RFBEHRERNAEE KA E
Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the HBRFEMEEREERBEZHMZMT

audited financial information and financial statements is set out

below:

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS &HZEelEzZREMEZEWEAR
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the year ended December 31,
BZ12A31HLEE
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
2023%F 2022 2021%F 20206 2019
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB000
ARBFRT NREFT NREFT AREFT AREFT

Other income and gains Hip A R es 100,555 147,993 27,810 9,551 12,932
Loss before tax BrEEAIES 1B (572,443) (735,996) (657,566) (179,400) (138,270)
Loss for the year FRERE (572,443) (735,996) (657,566) (179,400) (138,270)
Loss attributable to owners of the parent BRRREANEGLEE (571,957) (722,703) (657,561) (179,400) (138,270)
Loss per share - Basic and diluted (in RMB)  &iE1E — EAREE (ARE) (1.19) (1.52) (1.56) (0.58) (0.48)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL #IGEaHMBERRER

POSITION
As at December 31,
M12A31H

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
2023%F 2022% 20214 20204F 20194
RMB’000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000  RMB000
ARETFn NREFT AREFT AREFT AREFT
Total non-current assets ERBEEERE 1,056,904 889,687 624,649 337638 115,895
Total current assets MBEERS 1,129,373 1,419,920 1294571 709,376 310,650
Total current liabilities e B ELEE 444235 328983 139,293 57,481 17,798
Net current assets MENVEEFE 685,138 1,090,937 1,155,278 651,895 292,852
Total assets less current liabilities BEBERIDEE 1,742,042 1980,624 1,779,927 989,533 408,747
Total non-current liabilities FRBBELE 671,098 327,546 106,631 1,998,317 728,294

Total (deficit)/equity (B4k) /B 1,070,944 1,653,078 1,673,296 (1,008,784) (319,547)
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BUSINESS REVIEW
Overview

Founded in 2012, we are a vaccine company dedicated to the
research, development and commercialization of innovative
vaccines, with a high-value innovative vaccine portfolio driven
by in-house developed technologies. We primarily focus on the
R&D of innovative vaccines such as HPV vaccine candidates.
Our vaccine portfolio currently consists of more than 10 vaccines,
including our three strategic products, namely REC603, a
recombinant HPV 9-valent vaccine under phase Ill clinical trial;
REC610, a novel adjuvanted recombinant shingles vaccine, which
has completed enrollment of all subjects for phase | in China;
and a novel adjuvanted recombinant vaccine against respiratory
syncytial virus, which is about to enter clinical research stage.

Through years of dedication and focus on this area, we have
developed a comprehensive vaccine innovation engine consisting
of a novel adjuvant platform, protein engineering platform and
immunological evaluation platform. These platforms empower
us to continue to discover and develop innovative vaccines that
apply advanced technologies in our vaccine candidates. We are
one of the few companies that are capable of developing novel
adjuvants, benchmarking all of the FDA-approved novel adjuvants
to date. Our technology platforms form a “solid trifecta”, creating
synergies among the design and optimization of antigens, the
development and production of adjuvants and the identification of
the optimal combinations of antigens and adjuvants. We have also
established an IPD system, enabling us to advance the R&D of
multiple vaccine candidates simultaneously. Guided by our “OPTI”
vaccine development philosophy, we have established a vaccine
portfolio consisting of more than 10 candidates.

E 3301
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BMIR—RR2012F LR E ARG - MAOREF
AmEmfEkmEl e EEAFEEEH
& WHAEFMENREMAMED - AMEEFEFRN
HPVIR:E & E FAIF & | % - BalRMAEE
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REC603 ©* —REAHNBHPVEE & BATENIIIEEE
RAERPEER - REC610  — AR EETRBER
SEE  BRPREIS2SEAEBETAAMA UKk
Bl % 2 A B PR A 72 P B MO 3 e B 4R T IR 38 A BB R
SEH

BREERMEHBEZFNRAERERT - HAFEET
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We have started to build our manufacturing capabilities at an early
stage, aiming at ensuring our vaccine candidates to be smoothly
transferred into successful commercial vaccine products. We
are constructing HPV vaccine manufacturing facility in Taizhou,
Jiangsu province, which meets the WHO Prequalification (WHO
PQ) Standards, the first phase of which has a designed capacity
of 20 million doses of HPV 9-valent vaccines per year. Currently,
the facility is under the stage of equipment installation and
testing. In addition, we have completed the construction of our
innovative vaccines manufacturing facility based on the CHO cell
expression systems in November 2021, and successfully acquired
the production license issued by Jiangsu MPA. In April 2022, this
manufacturing facility received the European Union (EU) Qualified
Person Declaration issued by a Qualified Person (QP), which
indicated that the Company’s manufacturing facility in Taizhou
and its quality management system met the EU GMP standard.
This manufacturing facility has a total GFA of approximately
17,000 sg.m., and can be used for the manufacturing of a variety
of innovative vaccines (CHO cell), including the novel adjuvanted
recombinant shingles vaccines.

Our Vaccine Pipeline

Our vaccine portfolio strategically covered seven disease areas
with significant burden globally, including HPV, varicella zoster
virus, respiratory syncytial virus, cytomegalovirus and herpes
simplex virus infection, etc. As of the Latest Practicable Date, our
vaccine portfolio consisted of more than 10 vaccine candidates
including, in particular, REC603, a recombinant HPV 9-valent
vaccine candidate under phase Il clinical trial in China; a novel
adjuvanted recombinant shingles vaccine under phase | clinical
research stage in China; and a novel adjuvanted recombinant
vaccine against respiratory syncytial virus, which is about to enter
clinical research stage.
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The following table summarizes our vaccine pipeline as of the TXRBAHEZEEEREATABARMANEEER -
Latest Practicable Date.
R&D Status
LR Commercialization
Diseases Candidates Type of Vaccine Adjuvant Systems Product Rights Commercial Rights  Pre-clinical IND Filing Phase | Phase Il Phase lll (4
bl REER HRE ERRS miR xR 8 R AT IND# 3§ BERR LTS NI R R
Recombinant HPV 9-valent vaccine Alum Self-developed Global * b
*RECO0S Py i8R BT 23 ‘ °
Novel adjuvanted recombinant Undisclosed novel Sl Global |
RECED  HPV 9-valent vaccine adjuvant” ey 25 | 2
Cervical HERIEENEHPVE S ABBEHELRO |
cancers R binant HPV bivalent |
& ecombinan ivalent
Gonital RECE01 (Types 16/18) vaccine %AE:J Se\f-deve\okped G\o;)al
4618 (16/18) HPVEE IR AR S ‘
Recombinant HPV bivalent |
REC602 (Types 6/11) vaccine Q&E‘I Se\f-gd;;;\%ped Gg?l
E=(F (6/11) HPVEH
Novel adjuvanted recombinant |
REC604a  HPV quadrivalent vaccine® BFAO4 se‘;dg;%psd Gg);l
e AP EHPVREE©
Novel adjuvanted recombinant |
REC610  shingles vaccine® BRAOT SR g [
BB REREY =
Respiratory
Diseases Caused Novel adjuvanted recombinant
by Sesplzatffy REC625 respiratory syncytial virus vaccine BFAO1 Se\f-gd;\;;\;éped Gg);' [ Y
yncytial P %
Virus (RSV)/ MEREATREARASEE
Metapneumovirus
ﬂ"&gf;‘ﬂ Recombinant metapneumovirus Undisclosed novel Self-developed Global
BEENEE REC627 vaccine adjuvant) d > -
ER AT SRS KpmiEmo SRR E2
FRERR
Human
Cytomegalovirus Recombinant human
U REC609 cytomegalovirus vaccine BFAO1 Selfideveloped G\o:al | g
EAEBRABLE EEiR 5
Recombinant Bicomponent \
ReCOV  COVID-19 Vaccine BFACS Co-deveioped® Global
ERSANFTRERE AfrERED 2R
Recombinant Hepatitis Undisclosed novel -
REC629 B virus vaccine adjuvant”) Se‘fudm%ped Gfgal
BRLRFARERE REFAGER -
Therapeutic Recombinant Undisclosed novel
REC630 Hepatitis B virus vaccine adjuvant” Se\f-gd;ve\zo%ped GE??I
AEREAZETAAB AL RBBILLER ik B3
Herpes Caused
by Herpes
Recombinant herpes
|?‘I":cptl|2:| REC608 simplex virus vaccine BFAO1 Se\;d;g;%ped G;gf"l

BHRPBR
S|RNBE

EEBABTRERE

% Core Product UE G

Notes:

1. “Undisclosed novel adjuvant”
novel adjuvant to be used in vaccine candidates.

represents a self-developed 1.

2. Our Core Product REC603, a HPV 9-valent vaccine, obtained 2.
the umbrella IND approval from the NMPA in July 2018. The
umbrella IND approval covers all three phases (phase I, Il

and IlIl) of clinical trials of REC603. Based on communications
with the CDE of the NMPA, the NMPA has no objection for
us to proceed with phase Il clinical trial in China directly.

Accordingly, the Company did not conduct any phase Il
clinical trial for REC603.

3. REC604a has obtained the implied license for conducting 3.

clinical trials from Chinese medical products administrations.
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4. REC610 received a drug clinical trial approval notice (notice
number: 2023LP02151) issued by the NMPA in October 2023,
which is approved for use as a preventive 3.3 biological
product in its phase | and phase Il clinical trials being carried
out in China.

B. ReCOV was designed and developed by the Group jointly with
Professor Wang Xiangxi's group at the Institute of Biophysics,
Chinese Academy of Science. ReCOV has obtained formal
marketing registration authorization from Mongolia. We will
adopt a more reasonable follow-up development strategy by
taking into account market demand and relevant regulatory
guidance.

HPV Vaccine Pipeline

HPV is the most common viral pathogen of the reproductive tract.
Although HPV infections may clear up within a few months without
any intervention, certain types of HPV infections can persist and
develop into cervical cancer. These high-risk HPV infections are
mainly caused by HPV types 16, 18, 31, 33, 45, 52 and 58, which
account for approximately 90% of cervical cancer cases globally.
It is widely accepted that HPV vaccine can play an important role
in eliminating cervical cancer as it can prevent HPV infection on
certain high-risk types. In addition, some cancers of the anus,
vulva, vagina, and oropharynx and most genital warts can be
prevented by HPV vaccines.

REC603 — Phase |l Stage HPV 9-Valent Vaccine — Our Core
Product

REC603, our Core Product, is designed to provide protection
against HPV types 6, 11, 16, 18, 31, 33, 45, 52 and 58. It is
expected that REC603 will be one of the first of domestic vaccines
of its kind to be approved and commercialized in China.

Summary of Clinical Trial: We jointly applied, and obtained the
umbrella IND approval for REC603 in July 2018. The umbrella IND
approval covers all three phases (phase I, Il and Ill) of clinical
trials. In March 2019, we commenced the phase | clinical trial of
REC603 in China. We completed phase | clinical trial of REC603 in
China in July 2020. Based on communications with the CDE of the
NMPA, the NMPA has no objection for us to proceed with phase
Il clinical trial in China directly. Accordingly, we did not conduct
any phase Il clinical trial for REC603.
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The CDE of the NMPA issued the “Technical Guidelines for
the Clinical Trials of Human Papillomavirus Vaccines (for Trial
Implementation)” (the “Guidelines”) in July 2023, which clearly
points out that the randomized, double-blind and placebo-
controlled design is still the best strategy to confirm the
immunogenicity profile of the first-generation of vaccine for the
time being. We are in the process of conducting phase IlI clinical
trial in China. The phase Il clinical trial in China consists of three
parts, i.e., the primary efficacy trial, the immuno-bridging trial in
younger-age groups, and the immunogenicity comparative trial
with Gardasil®9, with a multi-center, randomized, blinded and
parallel controlled design and with a total size of 16,050 subjects.
At the same time, follow-up on the subjects of REC603's primary
efficacy trial is being conducted in accordance with the clinical
protocol. We have completed the visit of the 24th month and are
in the process of conducting the visit and observation of the 30th
month. We will carry out an interim analysis by taking pathological
endpoints and plan to submit a BLA application to the NMPA
in 2025 when conditions are satisfied. Since obtaining the IND
approval in China, no material unexpected accidents or adverse
changes in relation to REC603 have occurred.

Advantages of REC603: We believe our REC603 has various
advantages, including:

Positive immunogenicity profile. REC603 demonstrates a positive
immunogenicity profile in its phase | clinical trial. In general, we
observed a significant increase in terms of NAb GMT level against
all of the target HPV types.

High-yield and stable production of HPV VLPs. REC603 adopts H.
polymorpha expression system. In general, the VLPs from different
expression systems are all highly similar to natural HPV capsid in
structure and epitope in order to trigger immune response after
vaccination, including those being produced by H. polymorpha
expression system. H. polymorpha, a methylotrophic yeast
species, is able to grow to very high cell density rapidly on simple
media and has relatively high optimum growth temperature.
Owing to its strong and tunable promoters derived from the
methanol utilization pathway, high secretion capacity, and lower
glycosylation activity compared to S. cerevisiae, H. polymorpha
is suitable for production of recombinant proteins for medical
use. With high copies of expression cassettes integrated stably in
the genome of H. polymorpha, high-yield and stable expression
of HPV VLPs is achieved, making our vaccine candidate more
suitable for commercial production.
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Favorable safety profile. REC603 was safe and well-tolerated
as shown in the phase | clinical trial for REC603. There were
no statistical differences in terms of incidences of AEs between
the vaccine group and the placebo group. Although there is
currently no available paper reporting a head-to-head clinical trial
comparing domestic HPV vaccines and foreign HPV vaccines,
in the clinical trial conducted by Merck Sharp & Dohme for
Gardasil®9 in 2009, the rate of adverse event was 86.6% among
subjects enrolled in the vaccine cohort, as compared to 53.75%
as observed in the phase | clinical trial of REC603." The main
adverse reactions were expected fever and inject site pain, mostly
were transient and mild.

Scalable manufacturing potential. Our patented technology in HPV
VLPs in combination with optimized fermentation strategy and
purification process enables us to achieve high and stable yield
in bulk production. With well-defined critical process parameters,
manufacturing of REC603 can be easily scaled-up to meet the
market demand domestically and globally.

Opportunities and potentials: \We believe there are significant
opportunities for our HPV vaccine candidates, considering the
following factors:

Superiority of HPV 9-valent vaccines. In general, HPV 9-valent
vaccines can provide protection against 90% of cervical cancer
and 90% of the anal and genital warts and therefore are the most
recommended vaccines for HPV protection. However, to the best
knowledge and information of the Company with reference to
independent market research, currently there is only one HPV
9-valent vaccine approved in China, and it is expected HPV
9-valent vaccines will account for a larger market share in China
after more HPV 9-valent vaccines are approved in China.

! The above information was derived from multiple clinical
trials conducted for different vaccines without the support of
controlled, head-to-head clinical studies, and a number of
factors (including the different subject enrollment standards
adopted in different trials, different population characteristics
of subjects, physicians’ inoculation skills and experiences,
and lifestyle of the subjects) could affect the relevant clinical
results and could render cross-trial comparison results less
meaningful.
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Domestic substitute. To the best knowledge and information of
the Company with reference to independent market research,
the first domestic HPV bivalent vaccine accounted for 66.7% of
China’s HPV bivalent vaccine market in terms of production value
in the first year of its launch by virtue of its cost effectiveness,
even if it was only approved in 2019 whereas the first imported
HPV bivalent vaccine was approved in China in 2016. We believe
that considering domestic vaccine products tend to adopt more
favorable prices as compared to their global peers, HPV 9-valent
vaccines will follow a similar trend in China after being approved.
In recent years, the Chinese government has also promulgated
policies in favor of domestic HPV vaccine developers. For
example, in 2019, the National Health Commission of the People’s
Republic of China released the Healthy China Action — Cancer
Prevention and Control Implementation Plan (2019-2022), stating
to accelerate the review and approval process of domestic HPV
vaccines and improve the accessibility of HPV vaccines. As one
of the few domestic vaccine companies to have phase Ill stage
HPV 9-valent vaccine candidate, we believe we will benefit from
such favorable government policies in the future.

Same age coverage as imported vaccines. On August 30, 2022,
HPV 9-valent vaccine available in the market in China has been
expanded for females aged 9 to 45. Our Core Product, REC603,
has also initiated phase Il clinical trial for females aged 9 to 45 in
2021, indicating a same coverage in terms of age as compared to
the current approved vaccines.

Next-generation HPV vaccines under development. We are
also developing next-generation HPV quadrivalent and 9-valent
vaccine candidates with novel adjuvants, which are designed
to adopt a two-shot regimen without compromising the efficacy/
safety profile of vaccine candidates, and are potentially superior
as compared to the commercialized products as they are all
adopting three-shot regimen.

The Guidelines clearly states that “randomized, double-blind,
placebo-controlled design is currently the best strategy to
confirm the protective efficacy of first-generation vaccines”. Our
phase Il clinical protocol for the 9-valent HPV vaccine strictly
follows the guidelines of the regulatory authorities; and we have
the largest HPV 9-valent phase Il clinical trial subjects in China
and are conducting clinical trials in Henan, Shanxi and Yunnan
provinces with high HPV infection rates. Currently, the Company is
conducting follow-up visits according to the established protocol,
maintaining ranking among the leading group in China in term of
the clinical development progress.
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Cautionary Statement required under Rule 18A.08(3) of the
Listing Rules: We cannot guarantee that we will ultimately
develop or market our Core Product successfully.
Shareholders and potential investors of our Company are
advised to exercise due care when dealing in the Shares of
our Company.

REC601 — Phase | Stage HPV Bivalent (Type 16/18) Vaccine

The bivalent vaccine candidates are designed as HPV protection
solutions for people with different affordability and have the
potential to be included in the national vaccination regime in
China and other jurisdictions. Due to the cost advantage of the
HPV bivalent vaccine, it may become the mainstream vaccine for
developing countries.

We are developing a bivalent HPV vaccine candidate, namely
REC®601, targeting HPV types 16 and 18, which are the main
cause for a majority of cervical cancer cases. Currently, we have
completed data evaluation and analysis on the phase | trial in
China. The phase | trial data showed that REC601 has a favorable
safety profile and an immunogenicity profile in healthy females
aged 9 to 45. There was no vaccination-related grade 4 or higher
AEs or SAEs. 30 days after the whole immunization: the positive
rates of HPV types 16 and 18 antibodies reached 100.00%, and
the negative population before immunization also reached positive
conversion after the whole immunization (positive conversion rate
was 100.00%).

The HPV types 16 and 18 antibody levels also increased
significantly: GMT of HPV type 16 antibody increased by 632.99
times and GMT of HPV type 18 antibody increased by 1,194.02
times compared with that before immunization. REC601 adopts a
similar technical process line with the recombinant HPV 9-valent
vaccine.

We will adopt a more reasonable follow-up development strategy
by taking into account market demand and relevant regulatory
guidance.
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REC602 — Phase | Stage HPV Bivalent (Type 6/11) Vaccine

We are also developing REC602, a bivalent HPV vaccine
candidate targeting HPV type 6/11. We have completed the phase
| trial in late 2022. REC602 adopts a similar technical process line
with the recombinant HPV 9-valent vaccine. We will adopt a more
reasonable follow-up development strategy by taking into account
market demand and relevant regulatory guidance.

REC604a and REC604b — Early-Stage HPV Vaccines Formulated
with Novel Adjuvant

Supported by our strong technology platforms, we are exploring
opportunities to develop HPV vaccines formulated with novel
adjuvant, namely REC604a and REC604b. Unlike the traditional
aluminum adjuvant we are currently using, we are conducting
early-stage development of next-generation HPV 9-valent and
quadrivalent vaccines formulated with a novel self-developed
adjuvant. Based on existing studies, compared to Merck’s
Gardasil, GSK’s AS04-adjuvanted Cervarix has demonstrated
strong cross-protection effectiveness with higher titers of
neutralizing antibodies in clinical trials, suggesting that novel
adjuvants can enhance the immunogenicity of HPV vaccines.
As the introduction of novel adjuvant enhances immunogenicity
profile of REC604a and REC604b, they are designed to adopt
a two-shot regimen. We have obtained the implied license for
conducting clinical trials for REC604a in China, and will adopt
a more reasonable follow-up development strategy by taking
into account market demand and relevant regulatory guidance.
We plan to use a novel self-developed adjuvant to improve the
immunogenicity of REC604b.

Shingles Vaccine

RECE610 — Novel Adjuvanted Recombinant Shingles Vaccine
Candidate under Phase | Clinical Stage

REC610 received a drug clinical trial approval notice (notice
number: 2023LP02151) issued by the NMPA in October 2023,
which is approved for use as a preventive 3.3 biological product
in its phase | and phase Il clinical trials being carried out in
China and completed enrollment of all subjects for phase | clinical
study in China in March 2024. This study adopted a randomized,
double-blind, parallel controlled design in 180 healthy adult
subjects aged 40 and above in Pu’er, Yunnan Province to evaluate
the safety, tolerability and immunogenicity of REC610.
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REC610 achieved positive results in the interim analysis of phase
| clinical trial in the Philippines. The Interim Analysis (IA) results
showed that REC610 demonstrated overall favorable safety and
tolerability profile in healthy participants aged 40 and above after
two doses of the vaccination. REC610 induced strong gE-specific
humoral and cellular immune responses, which were evident after
the first vaccination and reached the peak at 30 days after the
second vaccination. The humoral and cellular immune responses
were comparable between REC610 and Shingrix® group, and the
immune response level in REC610 group was numerically higher
than that in Shingrix® group.

1) Safety: REC610 had good safety profile with the two-
dose vaccination regimen. No SAE, AESI or TEAE leading
to early discontinuation was reported. The incidences of
vaccination related TEAEs, solicited local and systemic
TEAEs, unsolicited TEAEs were comparable between
REC610 group and Shingrix® group. Majority of vaccination
related TEAE were grade 1 or grade 2, and all recovered
in 1-3 days post vaccination. The common (>5%) solicited
TEAEs in REC610 group included injection site pain,
injection site swelling, pyrexia, headache, and myalgia.

2) Immunogenicity: REC610 induced strong gE-specific
humoral and cellular immune responses, which were
evident after the first vaccination and reached the peak
at 30 days after the second vaccination. The humoral
and cellular immune responses were comparable
between REC610 and Shingrix® group, and the immune
response level in REC610 group was numerically higher
than that in Shingrix® group. REC610 induced favorable
humoral and cellular immune responses in both elderly
and adult groups. Both REC610 and Shingrix® groups
induced high levels of gE-specific antibodies at 60 days
after the first dose vaccination, and 30 days after the
second dose vaccination. The GMT, GMI and SCR of gE-
specific antibodies were comparable in REC610 group
and Shingrix® group, especially, the GMT and GMI of gE-
specific antibodies were numerically higher in REC610
group than those in Shingrix® group. Both REC610 and
Shingrix® groups induced strong cellular immune response
at 60 days after the first dose vaccination, and 30 days
after the second vaccination. Tested by the internationally
recognized ICS method, the frequencies and CMI response
rates of CD4 + T cells secreting at least one or two of gE-
specific cytokines were comparable in REC610 group
and Shingrix® group, and the cellular immune response
level was numerically higher in REC610 group than that in
Shingrix® group.
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Shingles is a common viral infectious disease. According to
statistics, about 6 million new cases of shingles occur each year
in China, and the incidence of shingles has gradually become
younger in recent years. According to global research data on
shingles vaccines that have been marketed, as compared to
attenuated live vaccines, novel adjuvanted recombinant shingles
vaccines can provide stronger cellular immune and protective
efficacy. REC610 is equipped with a novel adjuvant BFAO1
independently developed by the Company, which can promote the
production of high levels of VZV glycoprotein E (gE)-specific CD4
+ T cells and antibody. REC610 is intended to prevent shingles
in adults aged 40 and above. According to statistics, China’s
population aged 40 and above is approximately 700 million.
Only GSK Shingrix®, the novel adjuvant recombinant vaccine, is
on the market in China, and there is a strong demand for import
substitution.

Respiratory Syncytial Virus Vaccine Pipeline

REC625 — Novel Adjuvanted Recombinant Respiratory Syncytial
Virus Vaccine

The REC625 is equipped with the novel adjuvant BFAO1
independently developed by us and intended to prevent the
diseases caused by respiratory syncytial virus infection in the
elderly population. Preclinical studies have shown that REC625
has favorable immunogenicity and can induce high levels of
specific neutralizing antibodies, and its immunogenicity is
comparable to that of international mainstream varieties. The
project adopted our independently designed vaccine antigen
structure and relevant invention patents application has been
submitted, and we plan to complete the preclinical study for this
product in 2024.
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COVID-19 Vaccine
ReCOV — Recombinant Bicomponent COVID-19 Vaccine

ReCOV is a recombinant COVID-19 vaccine developed by
the Company comprehensively using its core technology
platforms, including its novel adjuvant, protein engineering and
immunological evaluation platforms, and the adjuvant used therein
is its self-developed novel adjuvant BFA03. ReCOV vaccine has
a variety of comprehensive advantages, including favorable
broad-spectrum of neutralizing antibodies and good immune
persistence, overall positive safety profile, potential growth in
production scale, low production cost, good preparation stability,
and ability to be stored and transported at room temperature. In
a comparative clinical study with a positive control of the Pfizer’s
mRNA vaccine, a sequential booster of ReCOV among subjects
who have completed vaccination of inactivated vaccines induced
durable and widespread cross-neutralizing antibodies against
various Omicron variants, with all subgroups achieving superior
levels of neutralizing antibodies as compared to the Pfizer's mRNA
vaccine (with statistically significant differences). The vaccine
has obtained formal marketing authorization from Mongolia. We
will adopt a more reasonable follow-up development strategy
by taking into account market demand and relevant regulatory
guidance.

Other Disease Areas
REC627 — Early-stage Recombinant Metapneumovirus Vaccine

Metapneumovirus is a key cause of respiratory diseases
after influenza virus and syncytial virus. There is currently no
effective vaccine against metapneumovirus available on the
market worldwide. We are developing REC627, an early-stage
recombinant metapneumovirus vaccine and are developing novel
adjuvants to enhance tolerability, immunogenicity, length of
protection and cross-protection capability.
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REC609 - Early-stage Recombinant Human Cytomegalovirus
Vaccine

We are developing a recombinant human cytomegalovirus vaccine
(i.e., REC609) with our technology platform, with a higher cellular
immune response and enhanced protection.

REC629 — Early-stage Recombinant HBV Vaccine

We plan to develop a recombinant HBV vaccine (i.e., REC629)
based on the same yeast expression system as the HPV vaccine,
combined with the enhanced immune effects of the novel
adjuvant, with a higher humoral immune response and enhanced
protection.

REC630 - Early-stage Therapeutic Recombinant HBV Vaccine

We plan to develop a therapeutic recombinant HBV vaccine (i.e.,
REC630) based on the same yeast expression system as the
HPV vaccine, combined with the enhanced immune effects of the
novel adjuvant, with a higher immune response and enhanced
protection.

REC608 — Early-stage Recombinant HSV Vaccine

HSV is a key cause of genital herpes. We are developing a
recombinant HSV vaccine (i.e., REC608) with our technology
platform, taking into account a multi-antigen combination scheme
in the antigen design to fully utilize the enhanced immunity effect
of the adjuvant, as well as the influence of mucosal immunity,
resulting in a higher cellular immune response and stronger
protection.
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Our Technology Platforms

We have developed three advanced technology platforms
for novel adjuvant development, protein engineering and
immunological evaluation. These platforms empower us to
continue to discover and develop subunit vaccines that apply
advanced technologies in our vaccine candidates.

Novel adjuvant platform

Adjuvants are substances that are used in conjunction with
antigens to assist in antigen presentation and enhance immune
responses. Conventionally, only the alum adjuvant was widely
used in vaccines for human use. Since the early 21st century,
novel adjuvants have been widely applied in the vaccine industry
gradually, and created vaccine products that can stimulate higher
and broader immune response. At present, five novel adjuvants
are applied in FDA-approved vaccines for human use, namely
ASO01, AS03, AS04, CpG1018, and MF59, the components of which
have been in the public domain for over 20 years. Through this
platform, we are one of the few companies that have been able to
develop adjuvant, benchmarking all of the above-mentioned FDA-
approved adjuvants. This capability has enabled us to not rely
on any particular adjuvant supplier. In addition, our platform also
empowers us to discover and apply new adjuvants in the next-
generation vaccine candidates. The two independently developed
novel adjuvants, BFAO1 and BFAQ3, have been successfully
included in the adjuvant supply pool managed by CEPI due to
their significant advantages in efficacy and safety, as well as
their commercial-scale industrialization capabilities, to meet the
demand for innovative adjuvants from vaccine developers around
the world.
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Protein engineering platform

Our protein engineering platform utilizes a structure-based
immunogen design approach to provide antigen optimization
solutions for the development of subunit vaccines based on
multidisciplinary studies. This platform enables us to rapidly
target and prepare pathogen-derived antigens, to define the
structural basis of antigenicity, to understand mechanisms of
immune protection and to guide rational immunogen design,
which are critical steps in our vaccine development. In addition,
our protein engineering platform can elicit immune response in
different expression systems, including E.coli, H. polymorpha,
baculovirus and CHO cell expression systems, among others.
With this diversified expression system toolbox, we are able to
select and apply the most suitable expression systems in vaccine
development. Through this platform, we are capable of rapidly
advancing the development of our COVID-19 and HPV vaccine
candidates.

Immunological evaluation platform

To elucidate the mechanism of immune protection for emerging
and re-emerging infectious diseases, immunological evaluation
is a critical step in subunit vaccine discovery and development.
With this platform, we are able to select the optimal antigen and
adjuvant combination and in turn improve the immunogenicity
profile of our candidates. The immunological evaluation process
involves multiple disciplines, including immunology, biology,
molecular biology and clinical chemistry. Our core scientific team
began to build our immunological evaluation platform as early as
2004 and we became one of the first teams in China to have such
a platform. With this platform, we are one of the first companies
that can conduct pseudoviral neutralization, ELISPOT, and ICS
tests in China, which have been used in the development of our
vaccine candidates.

Research and Development

R&D is crucial to our sustainable success. We are led by a core
scientific team with over 20 years of experience in the research,
development and commercialization of vaccine products,
including working experience at the CDC in China. As of the
Latest Practicable Date, our in-house R&D team consisted of over
100 talented personnel, most of them held masters or doctorate
degrees in immunology, pathogen biology, clinical medicine or
other related areas. Benefiting from our IPD system, our R&D team
comprises four different product development teams, namely the
vaccine innovation core, process research core, comprehensive
R&D core and R&D quality core. Our R&D team is primarily
located in our Beijing R&D center and our Taizhou R&D base, and
is responsible for the full-cycle vaccine R&D.
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Our IPD system lays a solid foundation for our R&D activities. The
IPD system governs the entire life cycle of vaccine candidates.
We conduct market demand analysis for our vaccine candidates
at the early stage of vaccine development. Such analysis will
serve as the basis of our vaccine development program to
ensure our vaccine products can meet the market demand. In
addition, under the IPD system, our R&D resources are allocated
for the goals of each R&D project. As vaccine development
involves a complex and multi-disciplinary process, for each
vaccine development project, we will assign a designated project
manager and establish a product development team, consisting
of employees from technology platforms and related departments
including clinical and regulatory affairs, manufacturing, quality
control and quality assurance. In addition, our management
team is responsible for crucial decision-making and technical
review at key points during the R&D process to ensure the
R&D can satisfy our R&D protocol and the applicable legal and
quality requirements. Empowered by the IPD system, we have
been able to advance multiple vaccine development programs
simultaneously.

We have developed three advanced technology platforms
for novel adjuvant development, protein engineering and
immunological evaluation. These platforms empower us to
continue to discover and develop subunit vaccines that
apply advancing technologies in our vaccine candidates. Our
technology platforms form a “solid trifecta”, creating synergies
among the design and optimization of antigens, the development
and production of adjuvants and the identification of the optimal
combinations of antigens and adjuvants. Supported by these
platforms, we have developed several vaccine candidates. We are
constantly upgrading our technology platforms to further enrich
our R&D toolbox and we believe that our technology platforms
will continue to drive our vaccine candidate development going
forward.
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The Company has further enhanced the high-efficiency matrix
organizational structure based on the IPD concept. In terms of the
products, we divided the entire process from R&D to marketing
into five seamlessly connected processes, namely planning, pre-
research, development, clinical and industrialization, which are
managed in stages according to the characteristics of different
stages, and are uniformly made decisions and coordinated by
IPMT. The Company has also integrated resource capability
modules based on its strategy and pipeline goals, strengthened
its three core technology platforms, including novel adjuvant,
protein engineering and immunological evaluation platforms, and
reorganized its clinical development, process development and
quality analysis departments. Upon the above organizational
optimization, the number of research and development staff in the
Company has experienced a decrease while efficiency has been
improved.

For the year ended December 31, 2023, our total research and
development costs amounted to RMB487.8 million and we had
not capitalized any research and development costs for the same
period.

Manufacturing and Commercialization

Our R&D activities have primarily been conducted at our Beijing
R&D center and Taizhou headquarters. Our Beijing R&D center
is equipped with a pilot plant mainly for the pre-IND process
development and has laboratories for vaccine R&D with a total
GFA of approximately 4,000 sq.m. Our Taizhou headquarters R&D
facility has a total GFA of approximately 3,800 sg.m. and four pilot
plants, mainly for the manufacturing of our clinical trial samples
and process development. Our R&D facilities can also support
the manufacturing and development of novel adjuvants. Most
of our vaccine candidates used in our clinical trials have been
manufactured by our in-house manufacturing team, including our
HPV vaccine pipeline, shingles vaccines pipeline, etc.
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In anticipation of the huge market demand of our clinical-
stage vaccine candidates, we have started to prepare for the
commercial manufacturing of our vaccine candidates. We are
constructing our HPV vaccine manufacturing facility in Taizhou,
Jiangsu province, the first phase of which has a designed peak
annual capacity of 20 million doses of HPV 9-valent vaccines.
Currently, the facility is under the stage of equipment installation
and testing. In addition, we completed the construction of our
manufacturing facility for innovative vaccines (CHO cell) in
Taizhou, Jiangsu province in November 2021 and obtained a
vaccine manufacturing license issued by Jiangsu MPA. The
manufacturing facility has a total GFA of approximately 17,000
sg.m., and can also be used for the manufacturing of a variety of
innovative vaccines (CHO cell), including recombinant shingles
vaccines. On April 9, 2022, the Company received the European
Union (EU) Qualified Person Declaration issued by a Qualified
Person (QP) for our innovative vaccines (CHO cell) manufacturing
facility in Taizhou.

We have engaged third-party CMOs and manufacturers to
produce vaccine samples for our clinical trials, aiming for an
efficient and more cost-effective process. We have also adopted
stringent procedures to ensure the facilities and production
qualifications of our CMOs are in compliance with the relevant
regulatory requirements and all of our CMOs are GMP certified.
We selected a limited number of industry-leading third party CMOs
based on their qualification, relevant expertise, manufacturing
capacity, track record and the contract terms.

We have formulated clear commercialization strategy for our
clinical-stage vaccine candidates, namely HPV vaccines and
recombinant shingles vaccines. In building sales channels and
terminals for the commercialization of our vaccine candidates in
international markets, we are currently building our international
business development team. Our international business
development team plans to enter into collaborations with foreign
governments, MNCs, CSOs and international organizations to
commercialize the Company’s products overseas. In January
2024, we have signed the framework agreement with SPIMACO,
a pharmaceutical company in Saudi Arabia, for the recombinant
HPV 9-valent vaccine REC603 and entered into a strategic
cooperation. According to the agreement, we exclusively license
SPIMACO to develop, register and commercialize recombinant
HPV 9-valent vaccine REC603, in 15 Middle East and North Africa
countries, including Saudi Arabia.
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Intellectual Property

As a company focusing on the research, development and
commercialization of recombinant vaccine products, we believe
intellectual property is crucial to our business. We actively seek
patent protection for our vaccine candidates in China and major
jurisdictions and file the relevant patent applications of each
project, when appropriate, to cover certain antigens, strains,
proteins, formulations and production processes. We have
developed a significant portfolio of intellectual property rights to
protect our technologies and products. We hold 17 authorized
patents in China and 57 patent applications (including 72
invention patents and patent applications, and 2 design patents),
among which, the authorized patents are mainly concentrated
in the Core Products related to HPV project, adjuvant platform
and syncytial virus vaccine projects, etc. In particular, we
constantly strengthen the deployment of proprietary intellectual
property rights for innovative vaccines. Among them, for the
protein engineering platform, we have applied for a total of 27
invention patents in relation to antigens for recombinant human
herpes simplex virus vaccine (HSV), SARS-COV-2 and its variants
vaccine, and respiratory syncytial virus vaccine (RSV) projects.
For the new adjuvant platform, we have applied for 21 invention
patents in relation to key raw materials for adjuvants, of which
4 new adjuvant patents have been granted. For the year ended
December 31, 2023, we were not involved in any proceedings
in respect of, and we had not received notice of any claims of
infringement of, any intellectual property rights that might be
threatened or pending as claimant or respondent.

Employees and Remuneration

As of December 31, 2023, the Group had 472 employees, all of
whom were based in China. The total staff costs incurred by the
Group (which are recorded as part of our administrative expenses,
research and development costs and selling and distribution
expenses) for the year ended December 31, 2023 was RMB227.6
million, as compared to RMB213.2 million for the year ended
December 31, 2022. The remuneration package of our employees
includes wages and other incentives, which are generally
determined by their qualifications, industry experience, positions
and performance. We conduct new employee training, as well
as professional and safety training programs for all employees in
accordance with our internal procedures. We make contributions
to social insurance and housing provident funds in compliance
with applicable PRC laws and regulations in all material respects.
We also enter into standard confidentiality, intellectual property
assignment and non-competition agreements with our key
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management and research and development staff, which typically
include a standard non-compete agreement that prohibits the
employee from competing with us, directly or indirectly, during
his or her employment and for two years after the termination of
his or her employment. Employees also sign acknowledgments
regarding service inventions and discoveries made during the
course of his or her employment.

Business Outlook

Going forward, leveraging our strengths, we plan to implement the
following strategies:

° accelerate the R&D, clinical trial and commercialization of
our vaccine candidates;

° continue to strengthen our R&D capabilities;

° refine our organization structure and human resource
management to enhance our competitiveness; and

o advance our international strategy through “going-out” and
“bringing-in” strategies.

We believe that we will further strengthen our core competitive
strengths and enable us to capture rising business opportunities
through the following practices:

. concentrate resources and prioritize the marketing of HPV
9-valent vaccines and recombinant shingles vaccines as
soon as possible;

o actively carry out the planning and pre-research of
subsequent pipelines, and conduct preclinical studies in
due time within the scope of resource capabilities;

° develop intelligent manufacturing processes and
equipment, enhance the construction of quality
management system, strengthen brand construction and
communication, and enhance the construction of marketing
team and marketing network;

° strengthen international BD capabilities to achieve greater
breakthroughs in the international market and foreign
commercial authorization;

° cooperate with industrial partners to build a strong
domestic marketing network.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

The following discussion is based on, and should be read in
conjunction with, the financial information and the notes included
elsewhere in this report.

Analysis of Our Key Items of Our Results of Operations
Other Income and Gains

Our other income and gains decreased by 32.0% from RMB148.0
million for the year ended December 31, 2022 to RMB100.6 million
for the year ended December 31, 2023, such decrease resulted
from (i) RMB97.6 million decrease of our exchange gains arising
from foreign currency transactions; (ii) RMB21.6 million increase of
interest income; and (iii) RMB25.1 million increase of government
grant.

Selling and Distribution Expenses

Our selling and distribution expenses decreased by 2.3%
from RMB8.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2022 to
RMB8.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, which
was substantially the same as compared with the corresponding
period.

Research and Development Costs

Our research and development costs decreased by 31.9% from
RMB716.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2022 to
RMB487.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2023. Such
decrease in research and development costs resulted from the
following:

° RMB172 million decrease in clinical trial expenses from
RMB369 million for the year ended December 31, 2022
to RMB197 million for the year ended December 31,
2023, mainly due to the decrease in clinical expenditure
compared with the previous period as our Core Product,
REC603/REC611, had been in the case collection stage of
phase Il clinical trials.

° RMB88 million decrease in pre-IND expenses from RMB108
million for the year ended December 31, 2022 to RMB20
million for the year ended December 31, 2023, mainly
because the Company’s three major pipeline products
had substantially completed their preliminary research and
development and are currently in the clinical stage.
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Administrative Expenses

Our administrative expenses decreased by 7.4% from RMB155.3
million for the year ended December 31, 2022 to RMB143.8 million
for the year ended December 31, 2023, mainly because listing
expenses have been settled as the Group has completed Initial
Public Offering in prior year which is not accrued in the current
year.

Other Expenses

Our other expenses increased from RMBO0.06 million for the year
ended December 31, 2022 to RMB19.3 million for the year ended
December 31, 2023, mainly due to the increase of RMB8.7 million
in impairment of other non-current assets and the increase of
RMBS8.0 million in provision of impairment for inventories.

Finance Costs

Our finance costs increased by 288.6% from RMB3.5 million for
the year ended December 31, 2022 to RMB13.6 million for the
year ended December 31, 2023, mainly because we obtained
additional debt financing.

Analysis of Key Items of Financial Position
Property, Plant and Equipment

Our property, plant and equipment primarily consisted of (i)
leasehold improvements; (i) plant and machinery; (iii) furniture
and fixtures; (iv) computers and office equipment; (v) motor
vehicles; and (vi) construction in progress. Our property, plant
and equipment increased by 50.5% from RMB558.7 million as
of December 31, 2022 to RMB840.8 million as of December 31,
2023, mainly because the construction of the purification and
decoration project for the vaccine building and quality inspection
building of our HPV Industrialization Base gradually picked up.

Right-of-use Assets

Our right-of-use assets represent (i) leasehold land, representing
the land use right of our manufacturing facility for our HPV
vaccines with an original use right of 50 years; and (ii) leased
properties, representing our leased manufacturing facility for
ReCOV and our leased office building and laboratories. Our right-
of-use assets decreased by 40.1% from RMB72.5 million as of
December 31, 2022 to RMB43.4 million as of December 31, 2023,
mainly because we terminated the lease contracts of Beijing
ABZYMO, Wuhan Recbio and Wuhan Recogen in advance to cut
down the operating expenses.
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Other Non-current Assets

Our other non-current assets mainly represent our time deposits
and prepayment for purchase of property, plant and equipment.
Our other non-current assets decreased by 43.3% from RMB215.6
million as of December 31, 2022 to RMB122.2 million as of
December 31, 2023, mainly due to the redemption of time
deposits and the settlement of prepayment for property, plant and
equipment.

Prepayments, Other Receivables and Other Assets

Our prepayments, other receivables and other assets increased
by 219.2% from RMB38.6 million as of December 31, 2022 to
RMB123.2 million as of December 31, 2023, mainly resulting
from: (i) an increase of RMB46.6 million in prepayment for shares
purchased under 2022 H share incentive scheme; (ii) an increase
of RMB26.0 million in value-added tax recoverable; and (iii) an
increase of RMB14.3 million in prepayment for raw materials.

Cash and Bank Balances

Our cash and bank balances decreased by 31.2% from
RMB1,325.2 million as of December 31, 2022 to RMB912.4 million
as of December 31, 2023, mainly due to the purchase of research
and development services, raw materials and equipment, the
industrialization construction, and administrative expenses.

Trade and Bills Payables

Our trade payables increased by 84.2% from RMB62.5 million as
of December 31, 2022 to RMB115.1 million as of December 31,
2023, mainly due to the increase in the purchase of raw materials
used in the research and development projects.

Other Payables and Accruals

Our other payables and accruals increased by 9.6% from
RMB244.7 million as of December 31, 2022 to RMB268.1 million as
of December 31, 2023, mainly resulting from the following: (i) an
increase of RMB54.4 million for the purchase of industrialization-
based equipment of HPV 9-valent, which is mainly in line with
the progress of our commercialization layout; (ii) a decrease of
RMB9.4 million in staff payroll, welfare and bonus payables, which
is mainly due to the streamlining of our team; and (iii) a decrease
of RMB20.6 million in the clinical trial expenses, which is in line
with the progress of the research and development of our vaccine
candidates.
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Lease Liabilities

Our lease liabilities decreased by 61.3% from RMB49.6 million
as of December 31, 2022 to RMB19.2 million as of December 31,
2023, mainly because we terminated the lease contracts of Beijing
ABZYMO, Wuhan Recbio and Wuhan Recogen in advance to cut
down the operating expenses.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our primary uses of cash relate to the research and development
of our vaccine candidates and the purchase of fixed assets.
We monitor and maintain a level of cash and cash equivalents
deemed adequate to finance our operations and mitigate the
effects of fluctuations in cash flows. As our business develops and
expands, we expect to generate more cash from our operating
activities through commercialization of new vaccines. Going
forward, we believe our liquidity requirements will be satisfied
by using funds from a combination of cash from operations,
bank balances and cash. As of December 31, 2023, our cash
and bank balances amounted to RMB912.4 million. Out of the
RMB912.4 million cash and bank balances as of December 31,
2023, RMB323.8 million (approximately 35.5%) was denominated
in RMB, RMB510 million (approximately 55.9%) was denominated
in U.S. dollars and RMB78.6 million (approximately 8.6%) was
denominated in Hong Kong dollars.

Net Current Assets

Our net current assets decreased by 37.2% from RMB1,090.9
million as of December 31, 2022 to RMB685.1 million as of
December 31, 2023, primarily due to the decrease in cash
and bank balances resulting from our purchase of research
and development services, raw materials and equipment, the
industrialization construction, and administrative expenses.

Charge on Asset

As of December 31, 2023, the Group had pledged the real estate
located on the west side of Xiangtai Road and the north side of
Yaocheng Avenue in Medical High-tech District, Taizhou, Jiangsu
Province for a loan with a principal of RMB200 million (FY2022:
RMB100 million).
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Indebtedness and Financial Ratios

The total interest-bearing bank loans and other borrowings of
the Group as of December 31, 2023 were RMB631.6 million.
RMB46.3 million of the bank loans and other borrowings were
current borrowings with maturity dates in 2024 and effective
interest rates ranging from 3.3% to 6.7%. RMB585.3 million of the
bank borrowings and other borrowings were non-current bank
borrowings with maturity days from 2025 to 2028 and effective
interest rates ranging from 3.3% to 6.7%.

Our current ratio (calculated as current assets divided by
current liabilities as of the same date) decreased from 4.3 as of
December 31, 2022 to 2.5 as of December 31, 2023, mainly due
to the decrease in cash and cash equivalents resulting from the
purchase of fixed assets.

Our gearing ratio (calculated as total liabilities divided by total
assets as of the same date) was 51.0% as of December 31, 2023
(as of December 31, 2022: 28.4%), as the large amount of loans
borrowed for production and operations.

Contingent Liabilities

As of December 31, 2023, we did not have any contingent
liabilities.

Capital Expenditure and Contractual Commitments

Our capital expenditure is mainly for the purchase of our long-
term assets including (i) construction in progress; (ii) plant and
machinery; (iii) leasehold improvements; (iv) motor vehicles; (v)
computers and office equipment; and (vi) furniture and fixtures.
Our capital expenditure decreased from RMB296.7 million for the
year ended December 31, 2022 to RMB212.0 million for the year
ended December 31, 2023, mainly related to the increase in the
procurement of production equipment during the period.

Our capital expenditure commitments increased from RMB68.9
million as of December 31, 2022 to RMB76.2 million as of
December 31, 2023, primarily attributable to further progress in
research and development projects, resulting in the continued
increase in investment in construction and procurement of
equipment, as well as significant increase in construction in
progress during the period.
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As disclosed in the Prospectus, we plan to apply approximately
HK$88 million from the proceeds from the Global Offering (before
exercise of over-allotment option) for constructing the HPV
manufacturing facility in Taizhou. Save as disclosed above, the
Group had no other material capital expenditure or investment
plan as at the Latest Practicable Date.

Significant Investments and Material Acquisitions and
Disposals

Our Company had no significant investments, material acquisitions
and/or disposals of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures for
the year ended December 31, 2023.

Events after the Reporting Period

Save as disclosed in this report, we are not aware of any material
subsequent events from the end of the Reporting Period to the
date of this report.

Financial Risks

We are exposed to a variety of financial risks, including interest
risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk as set
out below. Our overall risk management program focuses on
the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimize
potential adverse effects on our financial performance.

Interest Risk

The Group has no significant interest-bearing assets other than
time deposits and cash and cash equivalents. The Group’s
interest rate risk arises from its borrowings, which are at variable
rates and expose the Group to the risk of changes in market
interest rates. The Group has not used any interest rate swaps to
hedge its exposure to interest rate risk. The Group’s exposure to
the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the
Group’s debt obligations with a floating interest rate.

As at December 31, 2023, if interest rates on loans had been 50
basis points higher/lower with all other variables held constant, the
loss before tax for the year ended December 31, 2023 would have
been RMB2,063,000 (2022: RMB670,000) higher/lower, mainly as
a result of the increase in bank loans by the Company this year.
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Foreign Currency Risk

We mainly operate in China and a majority of our transactions are
settled in RMB, the functional currency of our Company’s principal
subsidiaries. The Group however has certain transactional
currency exposure as a portion of our transactions are settled
in U.S. dollars. The Group trades only with recognized and
creditworthy third parties. In addition, receivable balances are
monitored on an ongoing basis and the Group’s exposure to
bad debts is not significant. We currently do not have a foreign
currency hedging policy. However, our management monitors
foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant
foreign exchange exposure should the need arise. The Group did
not have significant foreign currency exposure from its operations
as of December 31, 2023.

Credit Risk

We generally trade only with recognized and creditworthy third
parties. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an
ongoing basis and our exposure to bad debts is not significant.
The credit quality of the financial assets included in prepayments,
other receivables and other assets is considered to be “normal”
when they are not past due and there is no information indicating
that the financial assets had a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition. Otherwise, the credit quality of the
financial assets is considered to be “doubtful”.

As of December 31, 2023, cash and cash equivalents were
deposited in banks of high quality without significant credit
risk. The Directors are of the view that our exposure to credit
risk arising from other receivables is not significant since
counterparties to these financial assets have no history of default.

Liquidity Risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, we monitor and maintain
a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by the
management of our Group to allocate the working capital and
mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. Our objective is
to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility
through the use of bank loans and other borrowings and lease
liabilities. We aim to maintain sufficient cash and cash equivalents
to meet our liquidity requirements.

Future Plans for Material Investments and Capital Assets

Save as disclosed in this report, we did not have other plans
for material investments and capital assets as of the Latest
Practicable Date.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Dr. LIU Yong, aged 51, is an executive Director of our Company
and chairman of the Board of our Company. Dr. Liu founded our
Group on March 7, 2011 and has been serving as a Director
since January 25, 2019 and the chairman of our Board since
October 2020, and was re-designated as an executive Director
on June 28, 2021. He is primarily responsible for the overall
management of business strategy, corporate development and
research and development of our Group. Dr. Liu has been serving
as the general manager of Beijing ABZYMO, a subsidiary of our
Company, since March 7, 2011. Dr. Liu has been serving as the
executive director of Beijing ABZYMO since March 2011. He has
been serving as the general manager and executive director of
Wuhan Recbio, a subsidiary of our Company, since September
2021, and chairman of the board of directors of Wuhan Recogen,
a subsidiary of our Company, since September 2021. He has
been serving as the general manager and an executive director of
Hangzhou Ruibaio Technology Company Limited (F/H35{E R R
ABRAF]), a subsidiary of our Company, since February 2023.

Dr. Liu has over 23 years of technical and management
experience in the field of novel vaccines. Dr. Liu has published
over 60 publications in leading academic journals and held over
20 invention patents since 1998. Prior to the foundation of our
Group, Dr. Liu worked at National Center for AIDS/STD Control
and Prevention of Chinese Center for Disease Control and
Prevention (B3R R T8 5 #52 6 A0 O I R SO R TE 2 Fl A 0 ) from
February 2004 to September 2010 as a research professor and
led the development of HIV DNA vaccine as a team leader of HIV
DNA vaccine team. Dr. Liu has also worked as a visiting scholar
at the NIH Vaccine Research Center in the U.S., where he carried
out research on HIV.

Dr. Liu graduated from China Union Medical University (B
MEERIKE) with a doctoral degree in pathogen biology in July
2000. Dr. Liu was a research fellow in NIH Vaccine Research
Center in the U.S. from December 2006 to December 2007. Dr.
Liu participated in post-doctoral research in basic medicine at
Chinese Center for Disease Control and Prevention (B &R &R
TH|H L) from August 2001 to December 2003.
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Dr. Liu obtained the certificate of research professor in
biochemistry and molecular biology by Ministry of Health, PRC
in July 2008. He was an editorial board (the sixth) member of
the Chinese Journal of Microbiology and Immunology, and the
only Asian member of the Young and Early Career Investigators
Committee (YECIC) of the Global HIV Vaccine Enterprise (GHVE).
Once elected as one of the third “Top Ten Innovative and
Entrepreneurial High-level Talents” of Taizhou Medical New & Hi-
tech Industrial Development Zone in May 2020, Dr. Liu was also
recognized as an excellent entrepreneurial individual (8]Z 5t
@A) on the tenth anniversary of the establishment of Taizhou
Medical New & Hi-tech Industrial Development Zone in May 2019.

Dr. CHEN Jianping, aged 46, was appointed as a Director on
November 2, 2020 and re-designated as an executive Director on
June 28, 2021. He is primarily responsible for the management of
daily operations of R&D activities and the strategic development
of our Company. Dr. Chen has been serving as a vice general
manager in our Company since January 30, 2019. He has been
serving as a director in Wuhan Recogen, a subsidiary of our
Company, since September 2021.

Dr. Chen worked in National Center for AIDS/STD Control and
Prevention of Chinese Center for Disease Control and Prevention
from July 2002 to October 2009 as a researcher and a core
member of immunity team to assist with immunity evaluation and
immunity research relating to HIV vaccines. Dr. Chen served in
leading academic institutions including Harvard University and
NIH Vaccine Research Center in the U.S. Dr. Chen assumed
several positions in Beijing Health Guard Biotechnology INC. (3t
BEEETEMEMRm AR AR, a company listed on the National
Equities Exchange and Quotations (stock code: 833575) from
June 2012 to February 2016 successively, including a manager in
bioformulation agents division, manager in clinical medicine and
registration division and vice general manager. From March 2016
to February 2018, Dr. Chen served as head of registration division
in Beijing Xinaijin Biotechnology Co., Ltd. (At ¥ ELEWRIEE
FR 2 7]). Dr. Chen served as a chief expert in Beijing ABZYMO
from March 2018 to December 2018. Dr. Chen contributed to the
research and the establishment of database for genetic variation
and epidemiological characteristics of major HIV strains across
the country.
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Dr. Chen obtained his bachelor’'s degree in biology technology
from Sichuan University (F9JII’X&) in the PRC in July 1999. Dr.
Chen obtained his master's degree in physiology from Beijing
Normal University (JtREN#IAZ) in the PRC in June 2002. Dr.
Chen obtained his doctoral degree in immunology from the
Chinese Center for Disease Control and Prevention (fF Bl &KBTEL
HIFR D) in July 2009. From October 2009 to September 2010,
Dr. Chen participated in post-doctoral research in immune system
at University of Connecticut and Medical University of South
Carolina. Dr. Chen obtained the certificate of associate researcher
of immunology from the Minister of Health of the PRC (F#E A R £
FEEEAFL) in July 2009.

Dr. Chen has been awarded the Commemorative Certificate for
the Prevention and Treatment of SARS in the Capital (& #5483k
B T4 2% 2E) by Beijing Joint Working Group on Prevention
and Treatment of SARS (bR [5/AFEERAfH A BES THE/N4H) in July
2003. Dr. Chen has been awarded the First-class Prize of 2006
China Medical Science and Technology Award (20064 FF#EEE &2
Bl #E—% %) by Chinese Medical Association (FRFEEEZES) in
December 2006. Dr. Chen has been awarded the Second-class
Prize of National Science and Technology Progress Award (BIZ
RlER #2548 — % 49) by the State Council of the PRC (FEAR
HMMBEFBT) in December 2007. Dr. Chen has been awarded the
Honorary Certificate of Wenchuan Earthquake Relief (3 KHE
MER L ZZE) by the Chinese Center for Disease Control and
Prevention (R BI& mTEFT S A L)) in July 2008.

Mr. LI Bu, aged 47, was appointed as a Director on March
27, 2021 and re-designated as an executive Director on June
28, 2021. He is primarily responsible for managing the daily
operations of administrative, human resources, purchasing and IT
departments and the strategic development of our Company. He
joined our Company in April 2020 as an assistant to the general
manager and human resources director and has been serving
as a vice general manager in our Company since November 9,
2020. He has been serving as a director in Wuhan Recogen, a
subsidiary of our Company, since September 2021.
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Prior to joining our Company, Mr. Li served as a human resources
manager in KPC Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (EZ&EBRHDBREAR),
a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code:
600422) from 1999 to May 2005. Mr. Li served as a president
assistant in Walvax Biotechnology Co., Ltd. (EFARZREDFITAE R
/x&]), a company listed on the ChiNext Market of Shenzhen Stock
Exchange (stock code: 300142) from September 2007 to June
2009. Mr. Li served as a human resources director in Yunnan
Belle Shoes Limited (Ef B EEZ2 7)) from June 2009 to August
2012. Mr. Li served as a general manager in Kunming Hanyu
Business Consulting Co., Ltd (EREBFEGHAAERAA) from
April 2014 to January 2020.

Mr. Li obtained his bachelor's degree in technology economics
from Central South University of Technology (R L% A2) in the
PRC in June 1999. Mr. Li obtained his master’'s degree in business
management from Kunming University of Science and Technology
(RBE T KEZ) in the PRC in June 2011,

Ms. CHEN Qingging, aged 41, was appointed as chief financial
officer, vice general manager and secretary of the Board of our
Company on May 9, 2021, appointed as a joint company secretary
of the Company on June 28, 2021 and appointed as an executive
Director on May 11, 2023. Ms. Chen is primarily responsible
for financing activities, investor relationship, internal audit and
control and corporate governance of the Group. She is also in
charge of the finance and legal department. Prior to joining our
Group, Ms. Chen worked in Tencent Technology (Beijing) Co.,
Ltd. (BEREHR(EER)BBRAF]) from May 2005 to April 2008. Ms.
Chen worked as a deputy finance director in Beijing Qianxiang
Wangjing Technology Development Co., Ltd. (JtRTEESREL
ERAMRAA]), a company listed on New York Stock Exchange
(ticker symbol: RENN) from January 2009 to January 2015. Ms.
Chen worked as a vice president of finance in Qufengi (Ganzhou)
Information Technology Co., Ltd. (8% Hi(EE M) ERITER A A,
a company listed on New York Stock Exchange (ticker symbol:
QD) from March 2015 to April 2017. From May 2017 to September
2017, Ms. Chen worked as a senior finance director in Beike
Finance Holdings (Beijing) Limited (B RZX&EEBEALR)ER A
Al) (currently known as Beike Finance Holdings (Beijing) Limited
(BERERHER (L)AL A F])), a subsidiary of KE Holdings Inc.,
a company listed on New York Stock Exchange (ticker symbol:
BEKE). Ms. Chen worked as the chief finance officer in Shihezi
Chenshang Equity Investment Partnership (Limited Partnership)
(BAFMRHEREREEGBREE(BRE%)) from November 2017
to July 2020. Ms. Chen worked as a vice president in Dmall Life
(China) Network Technology Co., Ltd. (Z B4 E(FEBERIEA
fR 2 ]) from August 2020 to March 2021.
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Ms. Chen obtained her bachelor's degree in management and
her master’'s degree in economics from Central University of
Finance and Economics (FRREF&EARE) in the PRC in July 2004
and December 2017, respectively. Ms. Chen also obtained her
master’s degree in business administration from Peking University
(At AKE) in the PRC in June 2019.

Non-Executive Directors

Dr. HONG Kunxue, aged 59, was appointed as a Director on May
9, 2021 and re-designated as a non-executive Director in July
2021. Dr. Hong has been serving as the chief scientist since June
1, 2021. Dr. Hong is primarily responsible for providing guidance
and advice on R&D strategies of our Company.

Prior to joining our Group, Dr. Hong was a lecturer in examination
department of Henan Medical University (A ERIAE) in June
1995. Dr. Hong worked as a research scholar in the University of
California, Los Angeles in the U.S. from August 2004 to February
2005 and a visiting scholar in Duke Human Vaccine Institute
from August 2004 to August 2005. Dr. Hong worked in National
Center for AIDS/STD Control and Prevention of Chinese Center for
Disease Control and Prevention from December 2001 to May 2021
as a team leader of immunity team to lead immunity evaluation of
vaccines and immunity research relating to HIV vaccines.

Dr. Hong obtained his bachelor’'s degree in clinical medicine
from Henan Medical University (currently known as Zhengzhou
University (B8JHA£2)) in the PRC in June 1988. Dr. Hong obtained
his master’'s degree in clinical laboratory diagnostics from
Jilin Medical College (EM&ZT) (currently known as Beihua
University (JtZ X&) in the PRC in July 1991. Dr. Hong obtained
his doctoral degree in genetics from China Union Medical
University (FEI#MEERILRZ) (currently known as Peking Union
Medical College (It = FIEEPT)) in the PRC in July 1999. Dr.
Hong participated in post-doctoral research at Chinese Center
for Disease Control and Prevention (7 BB EHIF L) in the
PRC from October 1999 to December 2001.
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Dr. Hong has been a member of the Academic Committee and
Degree Committee in National Center for AIDS/STD Control and
Prevention of Chinese Center for Disease Control and Prevention
from July 2008 to May 2021. Dr. Hong has also been a member of
the editorial board of Infectious Microbes & Diseases (BRI AE
YIERR 5 (55 32) ) since 2019. Dr. Hong was awarded a certificate
of honor for combating the COVID-19 by the People’s Government
of Hubei Province in April 2020. Dr. Hong was appointed as an
Optical Valley Industry Professor by Wuhan University (EZKAE2)
in December 2021.

Dr. ZHOU Hongbin, aged 50, was appointed as a Director on
November 2, 2020 and re-designated as a non-executive Director
on June 28, 2021. He is primarily responsible for providing
guidance and advice on corporate and business strategies.

From May 2005 to April 2021, Dr. Zhou successively served
as investment manager, investment vice general manager,
investment director, executive director and managing director
of Legend Capital (BEEREERMHERAF). From June
2015 to September 2021, Dr. Zhou served as a supervisor at
Guangzhou Kingmed Diagnostics Group Co., Ltd. (BE/N&igEEE
REBREE R ERAE]), a company listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange (stock code: 603882). From February 2017 to March
2021, Dr. Zhou served as a director at Shanghai Atour Business
Management (Group) Co., Ltd. (/B AHEETE(EE)ARAQ
7). From December 2018 to March 2021, Dr. Zhou served as a
supervisor of Shanghai Genext Medical Technology Co., Ltd. (I
BREMEER RS AR A T]). From April 2020 to December 2021,
Dr. Zhou served as a director of Novast Laboratories, Limited (/¥
BE T BB AT]) and Novast Pharmaceuticals, Ltd. (E3@
SERIBERBRAA).
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Dr. Zhou is concurrently serving the following positions outside
our Group: a director of Jiangsu Lihua Animal Husbandry Co.,
Ltd. (T&EREMERMD AR A7), a company listed in the ChiNext
Market of Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 300761) from
July 2015 to April 2023, a director of Milkyway Chemical Supply
Chain Service Co., Ltd. (BFBRE{t THEERBROBR D
A]), a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock
code: 603713) from September 2015, a director of Shanghai
Cell Therapy Group Co., Ltd. (L/BMMRGEEEBR AR from
September 2016, a director of Pharmaron Beijing Co., Ltd. (5
b (b R) R M AR A R]), a company listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 03759) and in
the ChiNext Market of Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code:
300759) from October 2016 to June 2023, a director of Ningbo
Xinwan Technology Development Co., Ltd. (EEFERIEERA
R A7]) from August 2017, a director of Chemclin Diagnostics
Co., Ltd. (BIEZEEMKRHER AT, a company listed on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 688468) from February
2018 to December 2023, a director of Joy Wing Mau Corporation
Limited (BEBREREEERHABMRAF]) from February 2019, a
director of MicuRx Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (/& BERIESRD AR
~\]), a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock
code: 688373) from October 2020 to December 2023, a supervisor
of China Southern Airlines Cargo Logistics (Guangzhou) Co.,
Ltd. (AAMZEEEYR(EMN)ER2AF]) (currently known as China
Southern Airlines Logistics Co., Ltd. (BAMEYRER AR,
which is held by China Southern Airlines Company Limited (&
AN ER AT as to 55%, a listed company on the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 01055), Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock
code: 600029) and the New York Stock Exchange (ticker symbol:
ZNH)) from February 2021, the co-chief investment officer of
Legend Capital (BEEAERRKRMNARAF]) from April 2021, a
director of Atour Lifestyle Holdings Limited since March 2021, and
a director of TriApex Laboratories Co., Ltd. from March 2023.

Dr. Zhou obtained his bachelor’'s degree in engineering from
Wuhan University (E/ZAZ) in the PRC in July 1994. Dr. Zhou
obtained his master’s degree in engineering from Wuhan
University in the PRC in June 1997. Dr. Zhou obtained his doctoral
degree in management from Fudan University (B X&) in the
PRC in July 2000.
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Dr. ZHANG Jiaxin, aged 41, was appointed as a non-executive
Director on May 11, 2023. He is primarily responsible for providing
guidance and advice on corporate and business strategies.
Dr. Zhang is currently a member of the Party committee, secretary
of the disciplinary committee and director of the group office
of Yangtze River Pharmaceutical (Group) Co., Ltd. (5 F/ T%ez
SEBABRAR) (“Yangtze River Pharmaceutical Group”), mainly
responsible for disciplinary inspection, overall coordination,
supervision, information collection, logistics and management of
the tertiary industry units of the Yangtze River Pharmaceutical
Group. Dr. Zhang joined Yangtze River Pharmaceutical Group
in October 2011 and served as the director of the general
management office of Yangtze River Pharmaceutical Group
from 2011 to 2016; and the director of the legal and discipline
committee of Yangtze River Pharmaceutical Group from 2016 to
2019; from 2019 to 2020, he served as the director of the legal
affairs department of Yangtze River Pharmaceutical Group; from
2020 to 2021, he served as the director of the legal compliance
department of Yangtze River Pharmaceutical Group; from
November 2017 to the present, he has been serving as a member
of the Party committee and secretary of the disciplinary committee
of Yangtze River Pharmaceutical Group; from January 2022 to the
present, he has been serving as the director of the group office of
Yangtze River Pharmaceutical Group.

Dr. Zhang studied at Jilin University (F#AK2) from September
2002 to June 2011 and obtained a bachelor’'s degree in law, a
master's degree in law and a doctoral degree in law from Jilin
University in 2006, 2008 and 2011, respectively.

Mr. HU Houwei, aged 42, was appointed as a non-executive
Director on May 11, 2023. He is primarily responsible for providing
guidance and advice on corporate and business strategies. Mr.
Hu worked at China Merchants Bank Co., Ltd. Shenzhen Branch
from July 2006 to March 2008 as a business manager in the
Corporate Department; worked at the Investment Banking Division
of Ping An Securities Co., Ltd. as a senior manager from April
2008 to November 2011; served as a senior business director
of the Investment Banking Division of Hualin Securities Co., Ltd.
from November 2011 to March 2015; and successively served
as research director and head of compliance & risk control in
Shenzhen Fer-Capital Investment Co., Ltd. (RYIBIEREIEEEIE
ABREAF]) from April 2015 to the present.

Mr. Hu obtained a bachelor’'s degree in economics and a master’s
degree in economics from Nankai University (FFRAZ) in June
2004 and June 2006, respectively.
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Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. LIANG Guodong, aged 72, was appointed as a Director on
May 9, 2021 and re-designated as an independent non-executive
Director on June 28, 2021. Mr. Liang is primarily responsible for
supervising and providing independent judgement to our Board.

Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Liang worked as an assistant
research professor in Institute of Virology of Chinese Academy
of Preventive Medicine (FEITEN 2RI ERMESE2MITAT) from
October 1987 to June 1992. Mr. Liang worked in National Institute
for Viral Disease Control and Prevention in China CDC (& B %
FERT I H R O R SR TR EIFT) from September 1995 to August
2014 with his last positions as a research professor and deputy
director in the institute.

Mr. Liang obtained his bachelor’'s degree in medicine and
master’s degree in medicine from Shanxi Medical College (II7A%
EP7) in the PRC in September 1977 and July 1987, respectively.
Mr. Liang has been awarded third prize and first prize of Science
and Technology Progress Award of Ministry of Health of the PRC
in September 1998 and August 1999, respectively. Mr. Liang has
been a member of National Planned Immunization Committee
of PRC (BEIR:t&EI%%ZZE82) and National Infectious Disease
Standards Committee of PRC (BEIRERFIZEZES®) since
September 2010 and December 2013, respectively. Mr. Liang has
been awarded the first prize for Science and Technology Awards
of Chinese Preventive Medicine Association in December 2013
and second prize of Chinese Medicine Science and Technology
Award in January 2014.
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Dr. XIA Lijun, aged 47, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on June 28, 2021. Dr. Xia is primarily
responsible for supervising and providing independent judgment
to our Board.

Prior to joining our Group, Dr. Xia served as a lecturer, master’s
supervisor, professor and doctoral supervisor of Shanghai
University of Finance and Economics (LE/&BA&ZKE) from
March 2006 to January 2011, as a professor of Antai College of
Economics and Management of Shanghai Jiao Tong University (£
BRBABLHREER) since March 2011 and as the head of
Department of Accountancy of Antai College of Economics and
Management of Shanghai Jiao Tong University (E&XBAZEZ
ZEEERL) from March 2011 to March 2023. From April 2015
to June 2020, Dr. Xia also served as an independent director of
BBI Life Sciences Corporation, a company formerly listed on the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 1035). From July 2019 to July 2022,
Dr. Xia served as an independent director of Shanghai Sanyou
Medical Co., Ltd. (EB=REES=MBRMHBRAF]), a company
listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 688085).
From May 2020 to May 2021, Dr. Xia worked as an independent
director of Visionox Technology Inc. (EE#HREBMHERAR]), a
company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code:
002387). From February 2020 to January 2023, Dr. Xia served as
an independent director of East Money Information Co., Ltd. (&7
HEEFEBRMEBEMR AR, a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange (stock code: 300059).

Dr. Xia is currently serving as a member of the Guiding Committee
of Professional Education of Accountancy of the Ministry of
Education of the PRC, the president of Higher Engineering College
Committee under Accounting Society of China.

Dr. Xia is concurrently serving the following positions outside
our Group, including as an independent director of Shenzhen
Huitai Medical Equipment Co., Ltd. (RIIEREEZ=MALD AR
A\]), a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock
code: 688617) from November 2019, an independent director of
Shanghai Tongiji Science & Technology Industrial Co., Ltd. (_E/&[F
EREEERMD AR AR, a company listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange (stock code: 600846) from April 2020, an independent
supervisor of Orient Securities Company Limited (35517
ABRAR]), a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code:
3958) and Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 600958) from
March 2021, an independent director of Huatai Baoxing Fund
Management Co., Ltd. (ERREESEEFRAR]) from July 2016,
and an independent director of Zhejiang Sunrise Garment Group
Co., Ltd. CHIEFEREEE RN AR Q) from December 2018,
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Dr. Xia obtained his bachelor's degree in economics from
Hangzhou Institute of Electronic Engineering (f1/N&EF T %
%) in July 1997. Dr. Xia received his master's degree and
doctoral degree in Management (Accounting) from Shanghai
University of Finance and Economics in March 2003 and March
2006, respectively, and conducted postdoctoral research at the
Corporate Governance Center of the Chinese University of Hong
Kong from April 2007 to August 2007, and February 2008 to

August 2008.

Dr. Xia is in charge of the Masters of Accounting Training Project
of the Ministry of Finance of PRC since October 2018. He served
as the vice president of Higher Engineering College Committee
under Accounting Society of China from October 2020 to October
2023. He was qualified as a Certified Public Accountant in China
in June 2000.

Professor GAO Feng, aged 63, was appointed as a Director on
May 9, 2021 and re-designated as an independent non-executive
Director on June 28, 2021. Professor Gao is primarily responsible
for supervising and providing independent judgement to our
Board.

Prior to joining our Group, Professor Gao worked in University of
Birmingham, Alabama in the U.S. as a research instructor from
April 1993 to April 1994. Professor Gao worked in Medical Center
of Duke University in the U.S. as an associate research professor
of medicine from July 2002 to June 2011.

Professor Gao served as a professor in Jilin University (F#X
&) in the PRC from December 2010 to November 2023. Professor
Gao has been serving as an honorary professor in Medical Center
of Duke University since September 2020 and a professor in Jinan
University (Bf K2) in the PRC since October 2020.

Professor Gao obtained his bachelor's degree in medicine from
Harbin Medical College (" RE% 287) (currently known as Harbin
Medical University (FaEEERIAZ)) in the PRC in July 1984.
Professor Gao obtained his master’s degree in medicine from
Chinese Academy of Preventive Medicine (FF EITER} & EH Efy)
in the PRC in October 1987. Professor Gao participated in post-
doctoral research in University of Birmingham, Alabama in the U.S.
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Professor Gao has been serving as the vice chairman of
Professional Committee of Immunity and Cell Therapy of Chinese
Society of Laboratory Animals (FEIEREES R EEMBEER
¥Z8%) and HIV Professional Committee of Chinese Association
of STD and AIDS Prevention and Control (ff BIEEIEE A HE
timmEE%EZ8E) since December 2018 and October 2020,
respectively. He is also a standing member of Basic Research
Professional Committee of Chinese Association of STD and AIDS
Prevention and Control (FREIMERIER A S ERHRBER
8). Professor Gao has been serving as the vice chairman of
Molecular Diagnostics Branch of China International Exchange
and Promotive Association for Medical and Health Care (FFEIZ
BEREEEIRREE D TLEZEDE) since August 2022 and the
executive president of Foshan Institute of Pathogenic Microbiology
(BB R IR A AT 5P ) since March 2023.

Professor YUEN Ming Fai, aged 73, was appointed as an
independent Director on May 9, 2021 and re-designated as an
independent non-executive Director on June 28, 2021. He is
primarily responsible for supervising and providing independent
judgement to our Board.

Prior to joining our Group, from November 1979 to December
1991, Prof. Yuen was appointed as a lecturer, and later senior
lecturer at The University of Hong Kong. After that, Prof. Yuen
worked for The Hong Kong University of Science and Technology
(*HKUST”) from January 1992 to June 2016. During his tenure at
HKUST, he had served as professor and head of the Department
of Mechanical and Aerospace Engineering, professor of the
Department of Biomedical Engineering, Director of the Technology
Transfer Center, and Acting Vice-President (R&D) of HKUST.
Prof. Yuen had also served at the HKUST R and D Corporation
Ltd. (“RDC”) from January 2001 to June 2007 as vice president,
and from April 2009 to November 2010 as the president and the
chairman of the board of directors. He retired from HKUST in July
2016 and was appointed as a professor emeritus. From January
2017 to March 2022, Prof. Yuen was appointed as a specialist
professor in Wuyi University (FL& A £).

Prof. Yuen served as an independent non-executive director
of UDL Holdings Limited (RXT&BEBRAFR]) (currently known as
DTXS Silk Road Investment Holdings Company Limited (KEF™
ISR B AR /A R))), a company listed on the Main Board of
Stock Exchange (stock code: 620) from April 2002 to November
2015. Prof. Yuen also served as an independent non-executive
director of CHTC Fong'’s International Company Limited (FFE18X
S EEB AR AR]), a company listed on the Main Board of Stock
Exchange (stock code: 641) from September 2004 to March 2022.
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Prof. Yuen obtained his bachelor’'s degree in mechanical
engineering from The University of Hong Kong in October 1971
and obtained his doctoral degree in mechanical engineering from
University of Bristol in the United Kingdom in October 1977.

BOARD OF SUPERVISORS

Ms. QIAO Weiwei, aged 37, was appointed as a Supervisor on
May 9, 2021 and was appointed as chairman of the Board of
Supervisors on September 16, 2022. Ms. Qiao has been serving
as a manager of human resources and director of general
manager’s office in our Company, as well as the deputy director
of human resources of the Company since November 1, 2021.
She is primarily responsible for overseeing the operations and
financial affairs. Ms. Qiao has been serving as a supervisor in
Wuhan Recbio, one subsidiary of our Company since September
2021. Ms. Qiao has been serving as a supervisor of Hangzhou
Ruibaio Technology Company Limited (f1/13s{EREE AR A7), a
subsidiary of the Company since February 2023.

Prior to joining our Group, Ms. Qiao worked in Taizhou
Xinshengyuan Biological Medicine Co., Ltd. (FEM¥EREYE
BEABRAF) from July 2009 to June 2018. Ms. Qiao worked at
Wenzhou Biomedical Collaborative Innovation Center (&M 44
B2z i[RI AIFTH L) from June 2018 to December 2019. Ms. Qiao
worked as a project performance managing expert in Beijing
ABZYMO from August 2020 to October 2020.

Ms. Qiao obtained her bachelor’'s degree in business
administration from Nanjing University of Finance and Economics
(A RBHEAE) in the PRC in July 2014. Ms. Qiao has been
qualified as National Certificate of Human Resource Managers
II'and Il of PRC in April 2015 and July 2013, respectively.
In September 2016, Ms. Qiao also obtained certification for
completing the Advanced Seminar on the 13th Five-year
Development Plan of Biopharmaceutical Industry of Jiangsu
Province from Department of Human Resources and Social
Security Department of Jiangsu Province. In May 2014, Ms. Qiao
obtained certification for completing Taizhou’s Enterprise Human
Resource Manager Quality Improvement Training Course from
Taizhou Human Resources and Social Security Department.
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Mr. WANG Feizhou, aged 56, was appointed as a Supervisor
on June 17, 2022. Mr. Wang served as a teaching assistant at
Jimei Navigation Institute (a predecessor of Navigation College
of Jimei University) in Xiamen from August 1987 to March 1993,
a lecturer at the School of Information Engineering of Jimei
University in Xiamen from March 1993 to August 1998, a visiting
scholar sponsored by the Ministry of Education of the PRC at
the Centre for Transportation Studies of Nanyang Technological
University in Singapore from July 1998 to July 1999, an associate
professor at the School of Information Engineering of Jimei
University in Xiamen from August 1999 to July 2013, a Telus
technical specialist of ATl Group (a Canadian telecom company
now merged into AFL Group) from February 2014 to September
2015, the risk control director and chief technical analyst of CAUS
HOLDINGS GROUP CO., LTD. in Canada from September 2015
to September 2017, and a fund partner of Shanghai Zhongfu
Venture Capital Management Co., Ltd. (E/EFRIBAIZIREERA
R |]) from January 2018 to October 2021. Mr. WANG Feizhou
has been a co-founder and the chairman of the fourth session of
the board of supervisors of 1029 CAFE SOCIETY, an entrepreneur
club in Canada, since April 2015, and a co-founder and the chief
technology officer of RAYSENSE TECHNOLOGY CONSULTING
INC. in Canada since May 2018. Meanwhile, Mr. Wang has
served as a fund partner and the legal representative of Jiangsu
Zhongwei Tengyun Venture Capital Management Co., Ltd. ((T#k
FEEEAIEINEEEBMR AR since May 2021 and August 2022,
respectively.

Mr. Wang obtained a bachelor's degree in radio communication
engineering from Dalian Maritime University in 1987 and a
master’'s degree in information engineering and control from
Dalian Maritime University in 2000.
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Ms. QIAN Ranting, aged 48, was appointed as a Supervisor
on May 25, 2021. She is primarily responsible for overseeing
the operations and financial affairs. Prior to joining our Group,
Ms. Qian served as a managing director of Huigiao Investment
Advisory (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. (B E#M(LE)BRAR]) from
February 2018 to July 2019. She served as a director of Shanghai
Duoning Biotechnology Co., Ltd. (L/BZEAYERIFERAF)
from November 2018 to September 2022. She also served as a
managing director of Shanghai Kuokun Investment Management
Co., Ltd. (L/BEHKEEEABRARF) from August 2019 to
September 2020. She has served as a director of SMO Clinplus
Co., Ltd., a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange
(stock code: 301257) since March 2020, a director of Beijing
WeMed Medical Equipment Co., Ltd. (It M BEEREERAF)
since April 2021, a director of Jiangsu Synthgene Biotechnology
Co., Ltd. CIEREELEYRIF AR AR since March 2022, and a
director of Shanghai BangBang Robotics Co., Ltd. (/&M #es
ABBRZAR]) since November 2022. Ms. Qian has been serving as
the general manager and legal representative of Shanghai Hongjia
Private Funds Management Co., Ltd. (LB FREESEEAR
‘A |]) (previously known as Shanghai Hongjia Asset Management
Co., Ltd. (LBLFEEEEBRAA])) since October 2020 and
February 2022, respectively.

Ms. Qian obtained her bachelor’'s degree in economics from
Beijing International Studies University (1t & —SNHEERT) in
the PRC in July 1997. Ms. Qian obtained her master of business
administration from China Europe International Business School
(PRI EIEE0) in April 2004. Ms. Qian obtained her master
in finance and development from University of London in the
U.K. in December 2011. Ms. Qian has been a fellow member of
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants (FCCA) since
March 2013.

Ms. LIU Ping, aged 44, was elected as an employee
representative Supervisor on June 30, 2022. Ms. Liu has
successively served as a deputy manager, a manager of the
comprehensive management department of the Company since
November 2019. Ms. Liu served as the QA director of Gan & Lee
Pharmaceuticals Co., Ltd. (HZEEHFRAF]) (the predecessor
of Gan & Lee Pharmaceuticals Co., Ltd.) from January 2002
to August 2010. Ms. Liu served as the director of the quality
department of Beijing Mabworks Biotech Co., Ltd. (It RKXEE
EWEATIRD AR ATR]) from September 2010 to April 2011. Ms.
Liu served as the manager of the quality department of Beijing
ABZYMO Biosciences Co., Ltd. from May 2011 to October 2019.
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Ms. Liu graduated from Shenyang Pharmaceutical University (/&
F5ZERIKE) in 2001, and from the Network School of Medical
Education of Peking University (It RAZEEM[EHEFEP) in
2015, both majoring in pharmacy.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Dr. LIU Yong (2/E), aged 51, is also the general manager of our
Company. For details of his biography, please see *
Directors — Executive Directors.”

—Board of

Dr. CHEN Jianping (FRf2¥), aged 46, is also the vice general
manager of our Company. For details of his biography, please see
“—Board of Directors — Executive Directors.”

Mr. LI Bu (Z=7), aged 47, is also the vice general manager of our
Company. For details of his biography, please see “—Board of
Directors — Executive Directors.”

CHEN Qinggqging (FR& &), aged 41, is also the chief financial
officer, vice general manager and secretary of the Board. For
details of her biography, please see °
Executive Directors.”

‘—Board of Directors —

Mr. ZHOU Lei (&), aged 38, he was appointed as a finance
controller on March 22, 2019. He is primarily responsible for
financial management. Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Zhou worked
as a finance controller in Yangtze River Pharmaceutical Group
from January 2017 to March 2019.

Mr. Zhou obtained his bachelor's degree in accounting from
Jiangsu University of Science and Technology (L& RHTAZ) in
June 2008. Mr. Zhou has been registered as a senior accountant
with the Ministry of Finance of the PRC (FF#E A B A0 B B &)
since August 2022. Mr. Zhou has been registered as a certified
tax agent with the China Certified Tax Agents Association (F
HF R FEEI 7€) since November 2020. Mr. Zhou has been a
member of the Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(PR &R E) since February 2022.
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JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Ms. CHEN Qingqing (FR& %), aged 41, was appointed as one
of our joint company secretaries on June 28, 2021. For details
of her biography, please see “—Board of Directors — Executive
Directors” above.

Ms. HO Yin Kwan ({J###), was appointed as a joint company
secretary of the Company on June 30, 2022. Ms. Ho is a vice
president of SWCS Corporate Services Group (Hong Kong)
Limited. She has over 20 years of professional experience in
corporate secretarial field and has been providing corporate
services to both listed and private companies incorporated in
Hong Kong and overseas. Ms. Ho holds a bachelor’'s degree in
business and finance from the University of Portsmouth in the
United Kingdom and a master’s degree in corporate governance
from the Open University of Hong Kong (currently known as
Hong Kong Metropolitan University). Ms. Ho is a member of The
Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute and The Chartered
Governance Institute in the United Kingdom.

CHANGES TO DIRECTORS’, SUPERVISORS’ AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S INFORMATION

Pursuant to Rule13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, changes to
Directors’, Supervisors’ and senior management’s information
since the publication of the interim report for the six months ended
June 30, 2023 of the Company and up to the date of this report
are set out below:

Directors

(1) Since December 2023, Dr. ZHOU Hongbin ceased to
serve as a director of Chemclin Diagnostics Co., Ltd.
(Bl BRI AERAF]), a company listed on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 688468) and
MicuRx Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (/8 BERIEERNDBRAT),
a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock
code: 688373).

Since November 2023, Professor GAO Feng ceased to
serve as a professor at Jilin University (F#AZ) in the
PRC.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT
(M

Mr. ZHOU Hongjun resigned as vice general manager of
the Company on September 30, 2023.

Save as the above disclosure, there were no other changes in the
information of the Directors, Supervisors and senior management
of the Company as of the Latest Practicable Date.
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The Board is pleased to present this report of Directors together

with the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended December 31, 2023.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board currently comprises four executive Directors, four non-
executive Directors and four independent non-executive Directors.
Our Directors during the year ended December 31, 2023 and up
to the date of this report are:

EEEMAREAEETGHREERAKEEHE2023

F12A31 B I FEMEETHHRE -

EEE

EECHATHUENITES  WEEHTEERNT
BB IERITESRAK - REZE2023F12831H

IFFERBEAREBHILERNESRR

Executive Directors* HITES

Dr. LIU Yong (Chairman of the Board and General Manager) BBET (EFgF/ZHAALE)
Dr. CHEN Jianping BRIEF1E L

Mr. LI Bu Eibitas

Ms. CHEN Qingging RESXLT
Non-Executive Directors® FHITESS
Dr. HONG Kunxue BB+

Dr. ZHOU Hongbin BZE L

Dr. ZHANG Jiaxin RIESZEL

Mr. HU Houwei HEREEE
Independent Non-Executive Directors BIEHITES
Mr. LIANG Guodong REREE

Dr. XIA Lijun EVEH+
Professor GAO Feng GAO Feng#if%
Professor YUEN Ming Fai RGEHE

Details of our Directors are set out in the section headed
“Biographies of our Directors, Supervisors and Senior
Management” in this report.

EREENFBINARE[EF
BREE]—# -

EEheReER

4 Ms. CHEN Qingging was appointed as an executive Director — * RETZTR2023F5 A 11 AR ERINTE
on May 11, 2023. E
5 Mr. ZHAO Hui and Dr. DU Wei resigned as non-executive  ° I S A AT BB 0202343 A20 B BREIE

NTEERTNAEXEZESZERG  &F
B+7R2023F4 A3HBHIIEANITESR RIEH
ZECZEWE  RESBLIRUEEXELER
2023F5 R 11 HEZTAIENITES -

Directors and members of the Remuneration and Appraisal
Committee on March 20, 2023; Dr. FENG Tao resigned as
a non-executive Director and a member of the Nomination
Committee on April 3, 2023; Dr. ZHANG Jiaxin and Mr. HU
Houwei were appointed as non-executive Directors on May 11,
2023.



BOARD OF SUPERVISORS

The Supervisory Board currently comprises four Supervisors. Our
Supervisors during the year ended December 31, 2023 and up to
the date of this report are:

Ms. QIAO Weiwei (Chairwoman)
Mr. WANG Feizhou

Ms. QIAN Ranting

Ms. LIU Ping

Details of our Supervisors are set out in the section headed
“Biographies of our Directors, Supervisors and Senior
Management” in this report.

GENERAL INFORMATION

Our Company is a joint stock company incorporated in the
PRC with limited liability on May 25, 2021. The H Shares of
our Company have been listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange since March 31, 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

We are a vaccine company with a high-value subunit vaccine
portfolio driven by in-house developed technologies. We
primarily focus on the R&D of HPV vaccine candidates. Our
vaccine portfolio consists of more than 10 vaccines, including
our Core Product, REC603, a recombinant HPV 9-valent vaccine
under phase Il clinical trial. For further details, please refer to
“Management Discussion and Analysis — Business Review” in this
report.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of our Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out in
note 1 to the consolidated financial statements in this report.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group as required by
Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance, including an analysis
of the Group’s financial performance and an indication of likely
future developments in the Group’s business is set out in the
sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management
Discussion and Analysis” in this report. These discussions form
part of this Directors’ report. Events affecting our Company that
have occurred since the end of the Reporting Period are set out
in the paragraph headed “Important Events after the Reporting
Period” below. The discussion of our key relationships with
employees, suppliers and others that have a significant impact on
our Company is set out in “Relationship with Key Stakeholders”
below.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

We face a variety of risks relating to our financial position and
prospects, R&D, clinical trials and regulatory approval of our
vaccine candidates, our manufacturing and commercialization
of our vaccines and vaccine candidates, our relationship with
third parties, strategic partners and collaborators, our intellectual
property rights, other aspects of our business operations, and the
industry and regulatory development in China. Some of the major
risks that we face include:

o we have incurred significant net losses since inception and
expect to continue to incur net losses for the foreseeable
future, and may never achieve or maintain profitability. As
a result, you may lose substantially all of your investment in
us if our business fails;

° our financial prospects depend on the successful
development, approval and commercialization of our
clinical-stage and preclinical-stage vaccine pipeline;

° we may be unable to successfully complete clinical
development, obtain regulatory approval and
commercialize our vaccine candidates;

° we invest substantial resources in R&D in order to develop
our vaccine candidates and enhance our technology
platforms, which we may not be able to do successfully;

° vaccine development involves a lengthy and expensive
process with uncertain outcomes and results of earlier
clinical trials may not be predictive of results of later-stage
clinical trials;

° the vaccine industry in China is highly regulated and
such regulations are subject to change which may affect
approval and commercialization of our vaccine candidates;
and

o if we are unsuccessful in obtaining or maintaining effective
intellectual property protection for one or more of our
vaccine candidates, and the scope of such intellectual
property rights obtained may not be sufficiently broad.

We cannot guarantee that we will ultimately develop or market
our Core Product or any of our vaccines and vaccine candidates
successfully.
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The above is not an exhaustive list of the risks that we and
our business face. Shareholders and potential investors of our
Company are advised to make their own judgment and/or consult
their own investment advisors before making any investment in the
Shares and when dealing in the Shares of our Company.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

In respect of social responsibilities, we have entered into
employment contracts with our employees in accordance with
the applicable PRC laws and regulations. We hire employees
based on their merits and it is our corporate policy to offer equal
opportunities to our employees regardless of gender, age, race,
religion or any other social or personal characteristics. We strive
to provide a safe working environment for our employees. We
have implemented work safety guidelines setting out safety
practices, accident prevention and accident reporting procedures.
Our employees responsible for manufacturing and quality control
and assurance are required to hold relevant qualifications, as
well as wear the proper safety gear when working. We conduct
regular safety inspections and maintenance for our manufacturing
facilities.

We strive to operate our facilities in a manner that protects the
environment and the health and safety of our employees and
communities. We have implemented company-wide environmental
health and safety policies and operating procedures, covering
waste treatment, process safety management, worker health and
safety requirements and emergency planning and response.
As required by the applicable PRC laws and regulations, our
manufacturing facilities under construction are required to pass
the environmental impact assessment. We have obtained such
assessment for our HPV vaccine manufacturing facility and
COVID-19 vaccine manufacturing facility in February 2020 and
April 2021, respectively. For waste water generated during our
R&D and manufacturing processes, we will classify and treat it.
The active waste water will enter the sewage station for treatment
after high temperature sterilization, while the inactive waste water
will directly enter the sewage station for treatment, and then be
sent to the sewage treatment plant after treatment. In particular,
as our manufacturing for COVID-19 vaccine is expected to be
completed soon, we have formulated a set of matrix and criteria
with respect to the waste water, including its Ph values shall be
between 6 to 9 and its Chemical Oxygen Demand (COD) waste
shall not exceed 500 mg/L, ammonia nitrogen shall not exceed
35 mg/L and total phosphorus shall not exceed 3 mg/L. For
waste gas, we will build activated charcoal filter and water spray
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equipment to process before emission. In addition, our businesses
involve the use of hazardous and flammable chemical materials.
We generally contract with third parties for the disposal of these
materials and wastes. In order to manage the environmental,
social and climate related risks, we have adopted a set of internal
control policies, which set out the standard procedures for us to
monitor such risks and how should we deal with these emergency
events. We have also adopted an environmental risk assessment
management procedure, which requires us to conduct periodic
review on the environmental impact that our operations may have.
We also adopt a standard environment, health and safety (EHS)
risk management procedure and EHS compliance evaluation
procedure, pursuant to which we are required to conduct periodic
review the risks and challenges we may encounter in this area.
During the Reporting Period and up to the Latest Practicable Date,
we complied with the relevant environmental and occupational
health and safety laws and regulations in all material aspects and
we did not have any incidents or complaints which had a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of
operations during the period.

We pay close attention to the global trend and China’s national
strategies of addressing climate change and ecological
environment protection, and will actively enhance our ability to
address climate change and cope with China’s initiatives and
action plans regarding future carbon dioxide emission. In terms
of major climate change-related initiatives or action plans that
may affect us, we plan to formulate policies after our Listing to
systematically identify, assess and manage climate change-
related risks, and formulate relevant response strategies.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS AND MATERIAL LITIGATION

As of the Latest Practicable Date, neither we nor any of
our Directors were involved in any litigation, arbitration or
administrative proceedings which could have a material
adverse impact on our business, financial condition or results of
operations, including those that may have an influence on the
R&D of our Core Product, REC603. As of the Latest Practicable
Date, we were not aware of any pending or threatened litigation,
arbitration or administrative proceedings against us or our
Directors which would have a material adverse impact on our
business, financial condition or results of operations, nor any
material breach by the Group of applicable laws and regulations
in China that are material to our business operations.
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RELATIONSHIP WITH KEY STAKEHOLDERS

We recognize that various stakeholders including suppliers,
employees, Shareholders and other business partners are key to
the Group's success. We strive to achieve corporate sustainability
through engaging, collaborating, and cultivating strong
relationships with them.

Employees

As of the Latest Practicable Date, we had 474 employees, all of
whom were full-time employees in mainland China. The number
of employees employed by the Group varies from time to time
depending on need. The remuneration package of our employees
includes wages and other incentives, which are generally
determined by their qualifications, industry experience, positions
and performance.

We build our success on employees’ dedication and commitment.
Our Company is committed to providing as many opportunities
as possible for employees’ skills enhancement and career
development. We aim at cultivating talents in a long run, and
encouraging employees to develop their full potential and to keep
pace with the growth of our Company. We recruit our employees
primarily through recruiting websites, third-party recruiters and
employee referrals. We conduct new employee training, as well
as professional and safety training programs for all employees
in accordance with our internal procedures. We enter into
employment agreements with our employees to cover matters
such as wages, benefits and grounds for termination. During
the Reporting Period, we made contributions to social insurance
and housing provident funds in compliance with applicable PRC
laws and regulations in all material respects. We also enter into
standard confidentiality, intellectual property assignment and non-
competition agreements with our key management and research
and development staff, which typically include a standard non-
compete agreement that prohibits the employee from competing
with us, directly or indirectly, during his or her employment and
for two years after the termination of his or her employment.
Employees also sign acknowledgments regarding service
inventions and discoveries made during the course of his or her
employment.

Our Company also has adopted two share incentive schemes to
provide incentives and rewards for certain employees who have
contributed to the success of our business. Please refer to the
section headed “Share Schemes” below for further details.
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For tﬁe year ended December 31, 2023, we did not experience
any material labor disputes or strikes that may have a material
and adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results
of operations, or any difficulty in recruiting employees.

Customers and Suppliers

During the Reporting Period and up to the Latest Practicable
Date, we had no commercialized vaccines and therefore had no
customers.

During the Reporting Period, our major suppliers primarily
included suppliers of raw materials and consumables for our
vaccine candidate R&D, suppliers of equipment for our R&D and
manufacturing process, and service providers such as CROs.
We maintain a list of qualified suppliers and we will conduct
qualification reviews and on-site audits for all of the qualified
suppliers. We have established stable relationships with qualified
suppliers. We only procure raw materials from qualified suppliers.
We conduct regular review on qualified suppliers and suppliers
that fail to pass such reviews will be removed from the list of
qualified suppliers. We select our suppliers by considering
their qualifications, compliance with relevant regulations and
industry standards, quality, prices, business scale, market share,
reputation and after-sales service quality. We have maintained
stable business relationships with our major suppliers. We have
been devoted to maintaining long-term cooperation relationship,
enhancing product quality, increasing sales volume and improving
profitability.

For the year ended December 31, 2023, purchases from the
Group’s five largest suppliers amounted to RMB323 million (2022:
RMB198 million), accounting for approximately 42% (2022: 29%)
of the Group’s total purchase amount in the same year. The
Group’s purchase from the largest supplier for the year ended
December 31, 2023 amounted to RMB103 million (2022: RMB62
million), accounting for approximately 13% (2022: 9%) of the
Group’s total purchase amount for the same year.

None of our Directors, their associates or any Shareholders who,
to the knowledge of our Directors, owned more than 5% of our
issued share capital as of the Latest Practicable Date, held any
interest in any of our five largest suppliers during the Reporting
Period.
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Shareholders

We consider that effective communication with Shareholders
is essential for enhancing investor relations and investor
understanding of our business performance and strategies. Apart
from transparent and timely disclosure of corporate information
in accordance with the Listing Rules, our Company has kept
effective communication with Shareholders through our website,
WeChat platform, Shareholder’s hotline, and IR mailbox. Senior
managements are also glad to receive Shareholders’ on-site visit
and have one-on-one meetings with them to share the information
which they are concerned and enable them to make rational
investment decisions.

RESULTS AND FINANCIAL SUMMARY

The results of the Group for the year ended December 31, 2023
are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on
page 134 of this report. A summary of the audited consolidated
results and the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last
five financial years, as extracted from the audited consolidated
financial statements, is set out in the section “Financial Highlights”
in this report. This summary does not form part of the audited
consolidated financial statements of our Company. Please
also refer to the section headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis” in this report for further details.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of our
Company and our Group for the year ended December 31, 2023
are set out in note 13 to the consolidated financial statements in
this report.

DONATION

For the year ended December 31, 2023, the donation of the Group
was RMB100,000.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF OUR
COMPANY’S SHARES
During the Reporting Period, neither our Company nor any of its

subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any listed securities of
the Company.
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H SHARE FULL CIRCULATION

On August 15, 2022, the Company held an extraordinary general
meeting and class meetings of Shareholders to review and
approve the proposal to apply for the “Full Circulation” of the
Company’s unlisted shares.

On August 25, 2022, the Company received a formal acceptance
letter from the CSRC regarding the Company’s submission to the
CSRC of its application for the implementation of this H Share full
circulation (the “Application”). According to the Application, the
Company applied to convert 222,498,569 Domestic Shares into H
Shares and list them on the Stock Exchange.

On November 10, 2022, the Company received approval from the
CSRC for the Application. According to the approval, accordingly,
the CSRC approved 46 Shareholders of the Company to convert a
total of 222,498,569 Domestic Shares into H Shares and list them
on the Stock Exchange. The approval is valid for 12 months from
the date of approval (November 3, 2022).

On December 1, 2022, the Stock Exchange granted approval for
the listing and trading of 222,498,569 H Shares (i.e., the maximum
number of Domestic Shares to be converted according to the
conversion and listing).

On February 20, 2023, the Company completed the conversion
of 222,498,569 Domestic Shares into H Shares. The converted
H Shares were listed on the Stock Exchange at 9:00 a.m. on
February 21, 2023.

For details of the Company’s H Share full circulation plan,
please refer to the Company’'s announcements dated June 30,
2022, August 15, 2022, August 25, 2022, November 10, 2022,
December 5, 2022 and February 20, 2023 and the circular dated
July 29, 2022.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles
of Association or the laws of the PRC which would oblige our
Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to the existing
Shareholders.
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DIVIDENDS

The Board did not recommend the distribution of a final dividend
for the year ended December 31, 2023 (FY2022: Nil).

There is no arrangement under which Shareholders waived or
agreed to waive any dividend.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

According to the Individual Income Tax Law of the People’s
Republic of China (HZEARKEXMBEAMSERE)) and its
implementation rules, dividends paid to individuals by PRC
companies are generally subject to an individual income tax levied
at a flat rate of 20%. For an individual who has no domicile in the
PRC and is not resident in the territory of the PRC or who has no
domicile in the PRC and has been resident in the territory of the
PRC for less than 183 days cumulatively within a tax year, his/
her receipt of dividends from a PRC company is normally subject
to a PRC withholding tax of 20% unless specifically exempted
or reduced by an applicable tax treaty and other tax laws and
regulations.

Pursuant to the Notice of the State Administration of Taxation on
Issues Concerning Withholding the Enterprise Income Tax on
Dividends Paid by Chinese Resident Enterprises to Holders of
H Shares who are Overseas Non-resident Enterprises (Guo Shui
Han [2008] No. 897) KEIZRM A RBMMN BEREEMIRINHK
FEE R R ORI B R H R 3 P15 35 76 A R 8 38 A0 )(
T4 4 [2008]8975%)), a PRC resident enterprise, when distributing
dividends for 2008 and for the years afterwards to holders of H
Shares who are overseas non-resident enterprises, shall withhold
the enterprise income tax at a flat rate of 10%.

Our Company did not declare or pay any dividend for the year
ended December 31, 2023. Accordingly, the Shareholders of our
Company (including the holders of H Shares) are not subject to
income tax on dividend distribution. If any of the H Shareholders
is unsure about the taxation implications of purchasing, holding,
disposing of, dealing in, or the exercise of any rights in relation to
the H Shares, he/she is advised to consult an expert.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARES ISSUED

Details of movements in the share capital of our Company for
the year ended December 31, 2023 are set out in note 26 to the
consolidated financial statements in this report.
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ISSUANCE OF DEBENTURE AND CONVERTIBLE
BOND

Our Group did not issue any debenture or convertible bond for the
year ended December 31, 2023.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the share incentive schemes as described below, no
equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Group, or
existed for the year ended December 31, 2023.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance to provide
liability insurance for Directors and senior management of the
Company in respect of legal actions against them due to affairs
of the Company. As of the date of this report, all Directors of our
Company were covered under the liability insurance purchased by
our Company for its Directors.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As of the Latest Practicable Date, our Company did not have any
reserves available for distribution to our Shareholders.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

As of December 31, 2023, our Company has a total bank loans
and other borrowings in the amount of RMB631.6 million. Please
refer to the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis
- Financial Review” in this report and note 23 to the consolidated
financial statements in this report.

LOAN AGREEMENTS THAT ARE REQUIRED TO BE
DISCLOSED UNDER THE LISTING RULES

As of the Latest Practicable Date, our Company has not entered
into any loan agreement which contains covenants requiring
specific performance of the controlling shareholders (as defined
in the Listing Rules). Our Directors have confirmed that, as of the
Latest Practicable Date, they were not aware of any circumstances
that would give rise to disclosure requirements under Rules 13.13
to 13.19 of the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ SERVICE
CONTRACTS

Our Company has entered into a service agreement with each
of the Directors and Supervisors which contains provisions in
relation to, among other things, compliance with relevant laws
and regulations, observation of the Articles of Association and
provisions on arbitration. Each of the agreements is for a term
of three years following his/her respective appointment date and
the service agreements may be renewed in accordance with our
Articles of Association and the applicable rules.

Save as disclosed above, our Company has not entered, and
do not propose to enter, into any service contracts with any
of the Directors or Supervisors in their respective capacities
as Directors/Supervisors (other than contracts expiring or
determinable by the employer within one year without the payment
of compensation (other than statutory compensation)).

DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS
OF SIGNIFICANCE

None of the Directors and Supervisors nor any entity connected
with the Directors and Supervisors had a material interest,
either directly or indirectly, in any transactions, arrangements
or contracts of significance to which our Company, our holding
company, or any of our subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a
party subsisting during or at the end of the year ended December
31, 2023.

INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

Save as disclosed in this report and save for their respective
interests in the Group, none of the Directors and Supervisors was
interested in any business which competes or is likely to compete,
directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group for the year
ended December 31, 2023.
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From time to time, our non-executive Directors and independent T FIMFERITEE R B IFATESTETRFER
non-executive Directors may serve on the boards of directors of EZHEERAEYREITERNNIELT R ETAA
both private and public companies within the broader healthcare EZEZ=€{TH - A © AR ZSIERNITEE MBI
and biopharmaceutical industries. However, as these non-  $¥\{72E = W IE 3 M9 A9 I AR AR 3R 3k 17 B & 22 B BX A9 AR
executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors are 8 ' BfiRAKREEAZS AR ESHHEANER
neither our controlling shareholders nor members of our executive A &L HMIEEZBIINEEAETKETEENE
management team, we believe that their interests in such M RBIALEER o

companies as directors would not render us incapable of carrying

on our business independently from the other companies in which

they may hold directorships from time to time.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS BEEEYN

No contract concerning the management or administration of the EZE2023F 12 A31HIEFE ' A ARMERAR
whole or any substantial part of the business of our Company was RIZHPRAL D EENERRTHRER LA FE
entered into or existed for the year ended December 31, 2023. B4 -



SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

As of December 31, 2023, so far as the Directors are aware, the
following persons (other than the Directors, Supervisors or chief
executives of our Company) had interests or short positions in the
Shares or underlying Shares of our Company as recorded in the
register required to be kept by our Company pursuant to Section
336 of the SFO:

Long Positions in the Shares and Underlying Shares of the
Company

Nature of interest
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Approximate

Approximate  percentage of

percentage interest in the

of interest  relevant class

inour  of Shares of

Number and class of Shares”  Company®™ our Company
NG

BARR  REENRG

BENEY ERNEL

Name e/ 2% ERltE ROBARERO Epadll R4l
Taizhou Yuangong Technology M IRHRABL%E(E  Beneficial owner 62,147,715 Domestic Shares 17.16% 37.25%
Partnership (Limited RA%) [FNTT))O BEEBA 62,147,715 AR
Partnership) (“Taizhou 20,715,905 H Shares 6.55%
Yuangong’)? 20,715,905 kH&R
Taizhou Ruibaitai RINFERBERR Beneficial owner 8,076,923 Domestic Shares 1.67% 4.84%
Pharmaceutical aRLR(BRA%) EHEAA 8,076,923 W E MK
Technology Partnership (A% - B2ERER
(L.P.) (previously known BENBAYLE)
as Lianyungang Ruibaitai (IwE%)w
Pharmaceutical Technology
Partnership) (“Ruibaitai”)®
Beijing Junlian Shengyuan LRBRBRRERE Beneficial owner 7,084,855 Domestic Shares 5.87% 4.25%
Equity Investment AELE (ERAE) EBaBAA 7,084,855k WA
Enterprise (Limited ((EBRR)W 21,254,565 H Shares 6.72%

Partnership) (“Junlian
Shengyuan”)¥

21,254,565 fixHIk
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Approximate

Approximate  percentage of
percentage interest in the
of interest  relevant class
inour  of Shares of
Nature of interest Number and class of Shares”  Company” our Company!"
NG
BARNR  REENRG
ERMEN ERNEL
Name e/ 48 EiME ROEGARERO AL AL
Lhasa Junqi Enterprise NERHGRER Interest in controlled corporations 10,465,255 Domestic Shares 8.67% 6.27%
Management Co., Ltd. BRAF REAERE 10,465,255 W& &
31,395,765 H Shares 9.93%
31,395,765 Hf%
Legend Capital Co., Ltd. EBERERRHBR Interest in controlled corporations 10,465,255 Domestic Shares 9.89% 6.27%
(‘Legend Capital’)* RE([BBER))Y  SEEEER 10,465,255k A& Ik
37,317,145 H Shares 11.80%
37,317,145 HI%
Beijing Juncheng Hezhong  REFTATREAEEAY Interest in controlled corporations 10,465,255 Domestic Shares 9.89% 6.27%
Investment Management % (BRAE)W REiEER 10,465,255 M E R
Partnership Enterprises 37,317,145 H Shares 11.80%
(Limited Partnership)® 37,317,145 [ HIR
Beijing Jungi Jiarui Business It REREELEEE Interest in controlled corporations 10,465,255 Domestic Shares 9.89% 6.27%
Management Limited® BRATH REERR 10,465,255 A E
37,317,145 H Shares 11.80%
37,317,145 Hfx
CHEN Hao® B« Interest in controlled corporations 10,465,255 Domestic Shares 9.89% 6.27%
REAERE 10,465,255 X W& i
37,317,145 H Shares 11.80%
37,317 145t H
Tianjin Huizhi No. 1 Investment REEESHAFEEZA Interest in controlled corporations 10,465,255 Domestic Shares 9.89% 6.27%
Management Consulting ARLE(EREE)Y  XEiEER 10,465,255 WA
Partnership Enterprises 37,317,145 H Shares 11.80%

(Limited Partnership)®

37,317, 145RHIR
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Approximate

Approximate percentage of
percentage interest in the
of interest  relevant class
inour  of Shares of
Nature of interest Number and class of Shares”  Company” our Company!"
|
fEARE  REENRG
BENEY ERNEL
Name e/ % REiME RAHEE KA AR AL
ZHU Linan® K Interest in controlled corporations 10,465,255 Domestic Shares 9.89% 6.27%
R R 10,465,255/ M &
37,317,145 H Shares 11.80%
37,317,145 Hfk
Tianjian Junlian Jieyou REEBBALEEEZA Interest in controlled corporations 10,465,255 Domestic Shares 9.89% 6.27%
Investment Management AELE(BRAR)Y XEiEER 10,465,255 M E %
Partnership Enterprises 37,317,145 H Shares 11.80%
(Limited Partnership)® 37,317,145 HiR
Huai'an Chaorui Medical ERRBRBENZARLE Beneficial owner 29,912,024 H Shares 6.19% 9.46%
Technology Partnership (BERA%) (LRE: L EaAEA 29,912,024 Hi&
(Limited Partnership) ARREENEAYL
(previously known as 2(ERE%)) ([EZ
Shanghai Chaorui Medical B&))e
Technology Partnership
(Limited Partnership))
(“Huai’an Chaorui")®
YU Yue® T e Interest in controlled corporations 29,912,024 H Shares 6.19% 9.46%
R AR R 29,912,024 Hik
LIU Hongyan®® EIHE=R Interest in controlled corporations 7,734,298 Domestic Shares 8.01% 4.64%
R R 7,734,298 WAk
30,937,192 H Shares 9.79%
30,937 192 Hix
Beneficial owner 358,808 Domestic Shares 0.37% 0.22%
ERARA 358,808 WA MK
1,435,232 H Shares 0.45%
1,435,232 Hf%
Spouse interest 256,292 Domestic Shares 0.27% 0.15%
B 256,292 M E IR
1,025,168 H Shares 0.32%

1,025,168 H
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Approximate

Approximate  percentage of
percentage interest in the
of interest  relevant class
inour  of Shares of
Nature of interest Number and class of Shares”  Company” our Company!"
|
fBARE  REENRG
ERMEN ERNEL
Name e/ E% EiME RAOEE RERIO AR B0
LYFE Niagara River Limited”  LYFE Niagara River Beneficial owner 18,151,700 H Shares 3.76% 5.74%
Limited™ ERBAA 18,151,700 8 HRR
LYFE Capital Fund Ill LYFE Capital Fund Il Interest in controlled corporations 18,151,700 H Shares 3.76% 5.74%
(Dragon), L.P." (Dragon), L.P. SRR 18,151, 700 R HRE
LYFE Capital Management LYFE Capital Interest in controlled corporations 18,151,700 H Shares 3.76% 5.74%
Limited™ Management Limited”  S1%%E## 18,151,700k HA%
ZHAQ Jin® HE Interest in controlled corporations 18,151,700 H Shares 7.14% 5.74%
R R 18,151,700 RH%
16,348,140 Domestic Shares 9.80%
16,348,140 M & &
Shenzhen Fuhai Xincai FITEEBHMY ZEelZ  Beneficial owner 15,946,630 H Shares 3.30% 5.04%
Phase Il Venture Capital REESABLE ERliAA 15,946,630 HA%
Investment Fund (BERA%)®
Partnership (Limited
Partnership)®
Shenzhen Fuhai Xinwan FYMEREEMERE  Interest in controlled corporations 15,946,630 H Shares 3.30% 5.04%
Equity Investment Fund HeEEME RIEEEES 15,946,630 HA%
Management Enterprise (BERA%)®
(Limited Partnership)®
Shenzhen Oriental Fortune AITEAEELEER  Interest in controlled corporations 8,669,705 Domestic Shares 6.89% 5.20%
Capital Investment Co., BOERAR(RFE XEiEER 8,669,705k W& [k
Ltd. (“Oriental Fortune Bl)e 24,616,335 H Shares 7.79%
Capital")® 24,616,335[HIR
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Approximate

Approximate percentage of
percentage interest in the
of interest  relevant class
inour  of Shares of
Nature of interest Number and class of Shares”  Company” our Company!"
NG
BARR  REENRG
ERHHN ERNEL
Name e/ % EiME RAHEE KA AR [EpAll
CHEN Wei® 3=l Interest in controlled corporations 8,669,705 Domestic Shares 6.89% 5.20%
REEERR 8,669,705 M &
24,616,335 H Shares 7.79%
24,616,335 HiX
Shenzhen Fer-Capital B RIREER Interest in controlled corporations 9,067,913 Domestic Shares 5.63% 5.44%
Investment Management BRAR(TRBR REiEER 9,067 913 AE K
Co., Ltd. (‘Fer-Capital")" ) 18,135,827 H Shares 5.74%
18,135,827 BXHR
FENG Taol 3=l Interest in controlled corporations 9,067,913 Domestic Shares 5.63% 5.44%
REiEER 9,067 913 A E
18,135,827 H Shares 5.74%
18,135,827 FRHR
Nanjing Zhaoyin Modern ERRERRELESE  Beneficial owner 20,446,160 H Shares 4.23% 6.47%
Industry No. I Equity BREES (BRA%) E&EAA 20,446,160 H
Investment Fund (Limited ([RBER )0
Partnership) (“Zhaoyin
Modern”)!"®
Jiangsu Zhaoyin Modern THBRBREZRERE  Interest in controlled corporations 20,446,160 H Shares 4.23% 6.47%

Industry Equity Investment
Fund Phase | (Limited
Partnership)(™

Ee-H(ERa%)O

REEERR

20,446,160fkHIR
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Approximate

Approximate  percentage of
percentage interest in the
of interest  relevant class
inour  of Shares of
Nature of interest Number and class of Shares”  Company” our Company!"
NG
BARNR  REENRG
 EadiokE ERNEN
Name e/ 48 Bt ROEGARERO Epaldll AL
CMB International Financial ~ BHEEEEER (RYI)  Interest in controlled corporations 22,719,240 H Shares 4.70% 7.19%
Holdings (Shenzhen) Co., BRI RErEER 22,719,240 Hi&
Ltd.(0
Jiangsu Zhaoyin Industrial IHARERESER Interest in controlled corporations 22,907,700 H Shares 4.74% 7.25%
Fund Management Co., BRARF REiEER 22,907, 700 HI&
Ltd.(10
CMB International Capital REEBEAEE (R)  Interest in controlled corporations 22,907,700 H Shares 4.74% 7.25%
Management (Shenzhen) BRARO RIEEEER 22,907, 700MHIR
Co., Ltd.1"0
CMB Financial Holdings RESBER (A Interest in controlled corporations 22,907,700 H Shares 4.74% 7.25%
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.(® BRAF REiEER 22,907, 700k Hi&
CMB International Capital REELSBAERAF  Interest in controlled corporations 22,907,700 H Shares 474% 7.25%
Corporation Limited"® REiEER 22,907, 700 HIK
CMB International Capital RBERSRER Interest in controlled corporations 22,907,700 H Shares 4.74% 7.25%
Holdings Corporation BRAF REEEER 22,907, 700k Hi&
Limited"®
China Merchants Bank Co.,  BERTRHARAF  Interest in controlled corporations 22,907,700 H Shares 4.74% 7.25%
Ltd.(0) REFERE 22,907,700 HAx



Annual Report 2023
ZRC=EER

Directors’ Report

EEEHE

\\/?‘*

Approximate

Approximate percentage of
percentage interest in the
of interest  relevant class
inour  of Shares of
Nature of interest Number and class of Shares”  Company” our Company!"
|
fEARE  REENRG
BENEY ERNEL
Name e/ % REiME RAHEE KA AR AL
Shenzhen Sequoia Hanchen  Shenzhen Sequoia Beneficial owner 8,962,500 Domestic Shares 1.86% 5.37%
Equity Investment Hanchen Equity ExAEA 8,962 500k W&
Partnership (L.P.) Investment Partnership
(“Hanchen”)"" (L.P.) (THanchen])"
Shenzhen Sequoia Yuechen  Shenzhen Sequoia Interest in controlled corporations 8,962,500 Domestic Shares 1.86% 5.37%
Investment Partnership Yuechen Investment S AEIREE 8,962,500 &K
(Limited Partnership) Partnership (Limited
(“Yuechen”)" Partnership)
(['Yuechen )
Shenzhen Sequoia Yuchen Shenzhen Sequoia Interest in controlled corporations 8,962,500 Domestic Shares 1.86% 5.37%
Equity Investment Yuchen Equity REiEER 8,962 500k A&
Partnership (Limited Investment Partnership
Partnership) (“Yuchen”)"" (Limited Partnership)
([Yuchen])
Shenzhen Sequoia Antai Equity Shenzhen Sequoia Antai  Interest in controlled corporations 8,962,500 Domestic Shares 1.86% 5.37%
Investment Partnership Equity Investment REiEER 8,962 500k A&

(Limited Partnership)
(“Antai”)"

Partnership
(Limited Partnership)
([ Antai] )™

m
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Approximate

Approximate  percentage of
percentage interest in the
of interest  relevant class
inour  of Shares of
Nature of interest Number and class of Shares”  Company” our Company!"
|
fBARE  REENRG
BENEY BREOBH
Name e/ E% REiME RAOEE RERIO AL AL
Shenzhen Sequoia Huanyu Shenzhen Sequoia Interest in controlled corporations 8,962,500 Domestic Shares 1.86% 5.37%
Investment Consulting Co., ~ Huanyu Investment R ABIH#Z 8,962 500k W&
Ltd. (“Huanyu”)™ Consulting Co., Ltd.
(Huanyu )
ZHOU Kuit™ [ Interest in controlled corporations 8,962,500 Domestic Shares 1.86% 5.37%
REEERR 8,962,500 & Mk
Springleaf Investments Pte. Springleaf Investments  Beneficial owner 12,000,000 Unlisted Foreign Shares 2.48% 7.19%
Ltd.12 Pte. Ltd.(? ExBREA 12,000,0008% & L mAME R
Anderson Investments Pte. Anderson Investments Interest in controlled corporations 12,000,000 Unlisted Foreign Shares 2.48% 7.19%
Ltd.? Pte. Ltd.1? REEERR 12,000,000/ K LM
Thomson Capital Pte. Ltd."”  Thomson Capital Pte. Interest in controlled corporations 12,000,000 Unlisted Foreign Shares 2.48% 7.19%
Ltd.1? REiEER 12,000,000f% & L mAhE R
Tembusu Capital Pte. Ltd."®  Tembusu Capital Pte. Interest in controlled corporations 12,000,000 Unlisted Foreign Shares 2.48% 7.19%
Ltd."? REEERR 12,000,000 K L5hE M
Temasek Holdings (Private) Temasek Holdings Interest in controlled corporations 12,000,000 Unlisted Foreign Shares 2.48% 7.19%

Limited""®

(Private) Limited""?

REEERR

12,000,0008cR E oM &




Notes:

As at December 31, 2023, the Company had issued a total
of 482,963,000 Shares, comprising 154,824,311 Domestic
Shares, 12,000,000 Unlisted Foreign Shares and 316,138,689
H Shares. All interests stated are long positions. For the
Domestic Shareholders and Unlisted Foreign Shareholders,
the approximate percentage of interest in the relevant class of
Shares of the Company is calculated based on the sum of the
issued Domestic Shares and Unlisted Foreign Shares.

Taizhou Yuangong was owned as to 0.0001% by Dr. LIU as a
general partner.

Ruibaitai was owned as to 37.27% by Dr. LIU as a general
partner.

The general partner of Junlian Shengyuan was Lhasa Jungi
Enterprise Management Co., Ltd. (FufEE#HSEEBEFR A A).
Zhuhai Junlian Yongshuo Equity Investment Enterprise (Limited
Partnership) (GREBEB KERERELCX(BEREY)) was
controlled by Lhasa Jungi Enterprise Management Co., Ltd. (fz
ERHMEERAFRAF]). Lhasa Jungi Enterprise Management
Co., Ltd. (uEFEHMPEEEERAGF) was wholly owned
by Legend Capital, which was held as to 80% by Beijing
Juncheng Hezhong Investment Management Partnership
Enterprises (Limited Partnership) (It REHABREKEEEA Y
P (BRA%)). The general partners of Beijing Juncheng
Hezhong Investment Management Partnership Enterprises
(Limited Partnership) (ItREHERICEEEARLE(BRAE
%)) were Beijing Jungi Jiarui Business Management Limited
(AR BEZEFCESEAMRQA]), Tianjin Huizhi No.1 Investment
Management Consulting Partnership Enterprises (Limited
Partnership) (KEEEEFLXEEZRNGBEE(BRER))
and Tianjin Junlian Jieyou Investment Management Partnership
Enterprises (Limited Partnership) (KZ2EB LD EBTIRERNE
BE(BREH)), holding approximately 58.12% and 41.87%
of its partnership interest respectively. The partnership interest
of Beijing Junqi Jiarui Business Management Limited (t=
EPHEECEEEARAA) was approximately 40% owned
by CHEN Hao (FR)). The partnership interest of Tianjin
Huizhi No.1 Investment Management Consulting Partnership
Enterprises (Limited Partnership) (KZESSHRDEEIRHKAE
BhE(BRAEH)) was approximately 34.68% owned by ZHU
Linan (5R32F).

FHEE -
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LC Healthcare Fund Il., L.P. was managed by LC Healthcare
Fund Il GP Limited, which was wholly owned by LC Fund GP
Limited. LC Fund GP Limited was wholly owned by Union
Season Holdings Limited. Union Season Holdings Limited was
wholly owned by Legend Capital.

Therefore, under the SFO, Lhasa Jungi Enterprise Management
Co., Ltd. (NEEBHELXEEFRAA) was deemed to be
interested in the Shares held by Junlian Shengyuan and
Zhuhai Junlian Yongshuo Equity Investment Enterprise (Limited
Partnership) (GREBBKERERERZE (BRE)); each
of Legend Capital, Beijing Juncheng Hezhong Investment
Management Partnership Enterprises (Limited Partnership) (it
REBERIREECEAELE (BRAEE)), Beijing Jungi Jiarui
Business Management Limited (It RZHEZECEEEAREA
Al), Tianjin Huizhi No.1 Investment Management Consulting
Partnership Enterprises (Limited Partnership) (KEEEZ
HOEXEEERERANEGREE (BRER)), Tianjin Junlian Jieyou
Investment Enterprise Management Partnership Enterprises
(Limited Partnership) (KEEBAHCETEZRNEREE (AR
A%)), CHEN Hao (BR%) and ZHU Linan (4K ) was deemed
to be interested in the Shares held by Junlian Shengyuan,
Zhuhai Junlian Yongshuo Equity Investment Enterprise (Limited
Partnership) (SRBABKEBERIEZRERE (BARE%)) and LC
Healthcare Fund II, L.P.

Huai’an Chaorui was owned as to approximately 10.48% by YU
Yue (T8) as a general partner and 36.56% by LIU Hongyan
(BI41) as a limited partner. Therefore, each of YU Yue (T &)
and LIU Hongyan (2J41%) was deemed to be interested in the
Shares held by Huai’an Chaorui under the SFO.

Nanjing Xinrui Technology Partnership (Limited Partnership)
(ARFEREARBEE (BREE)) held 256,292 Domestic
Shares and 1,025,168 H Shares, whose general partner
was LIU Hongyan (BI41%). ZHAO Jiayi (#%%£), spouse of
LIU Hongyan (Zl41%), held 256,292 Domestic Shares and
1,025,168 H Shares respectively. Therefore, LIU Hongyan was
deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Nanjing Xinrui
Technology Partnership (Limited Partnership) (B R#FEREA
B¥ (BRE%)) and ZHAO Jiayi ().

LC Healthcare Fund Il., L.P.FHLC Healthcare
Fund Il GP Limited&12 ' MLC Healthcare
Fund Il GP Limited@ELC Fund GP Limited%
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LYFE Niagara River Limited, Shanghai Jiyue Enterprise
Management Partnership (Limited Partnership) (/&%
FEEEEEEBLE(BRAEH)) (“Shanghai Jiyue”) and
Shanghai Jixuan Enterprise Management Partnership (Limited
Partnership) (LB EHCEXEBE B CE(GRAE)) (“Shanghai
Jixuan”) held 18,151,700 H Shares, 8,318,800 Domestic
Shares and 8,029,340 Domestic Shares, respectively. LYFE
Niagara River Limited was controlled by LYFE Capital Fund
Il (Dragon), L.P.. LYFE Capital Fund Il (Dragon) L.P. was
controlled by LYFE Capital Management Limited, which was in
turn controlled by ZHAO Jin (#&). Therefore, each of LYFE
Capital Fund IlI (Dragon), L.P., LYFE Capital Management
Limited and ZHAO Jin (&) was deemed to be interested in
the Shares held by LYFE Niagara River Limited under the SFO.
Shanghai Jiyue and Shanghai Jixuan were managed by LYFE
Capital Investment Management (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. (%
AEESEE(LE)EMRAA]), which was in turn controlled by
ZHAO Jin (#&). Therefore, each of ZHAQO Jin (&) and LYFE
Capital Investment Management (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. (JH%&7L.
SEHSE(LB)ER AT was deemed to be interested in the
Shares held by Shanghai Jiyue and Shanghai Jixuan under the
SFO.

Oriental Fortune Capital was interested in an aggregate of
24,616,335 H Shares and 8,669,705 Domestic Shares through
six entities, including (i) Shenzhen Fuhai Juanyong Il Venture
Capital Enterprise (Limited Partnership) (EIIE & &k — SR A%
KEMLE(BRAR)) (the general partner is Shenzhen Oriental
Fortune Venture Capital Investment Co., Ltd. (FIIHEAE
BRIEREEEER AR, which was in turn wholly owned by
Oriental Fortune Capital), (ii) Shenzhen Fuhai Juanyong IlI
Venture Capital Enterprise (Limited Partnership) CRIIE & &K
THRAIEIRENE(ERAE)) (the general partner is Shenzhen
Oriental Fortune Venture Capital Investment Co., Ltd., which
was in turn wholly owned by Oriental Fortune Capital), (iii)
Shenzhen Fuhai Youxuan Il High Technology Venture Capital
Investment Partnership (Limited Partnership) (T = EER
“HERRHRAIEREABREE(BERAEH)) (the general partner
is Shenzhen Oriental Fortune Venture Capital Investment Co.,
Ltd. OFRYITR A B BAIZEKREETEAERAA]), which was in
turn wholly owned by Oriental Fortune Capital), (iv) Shenzhen
Nanshan OFC Small and Medium Venture Capital Investment
Fund Partnership (Limited Partnership) (#YIFEILE & /ET
IMHBIERERESERDE(BRER)) (the general partner is
Shenzhen Oriental Fortune Venture Capital Investment Co.,
Ltd. OFRYITR A B BAIZEKREETEAERAA]), which was in
turn wholly owned by Oriental Fortune Capital), (v) Shenzhen
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Qianhai Kekong Fuhai Youxuan Venture Capital Investment
Partnership (Limited Partnership) (FJITAERHE = @2 A
(R BEBLE(ARAE)) (the general partner is Shenzhen
Qianhai Kekong Gangshen Venture Investment Co., Ltd. (F3I]
™ANERHEE RAIFILE BRAR]), which was in turn owned as
to 50% by Oriental Fortune Capital), and (vi) Shenzhen Fuhai
Xincai Phase Il Venture Capital Investment Fund Partnership
(Limited Partnership) (RIIMEEFMM —HalEEEESEEE
¥ (BRA%E)) (the general partner is Shenzhen Fuhai Xinwan
Equity Investment Fund Management Enterprise (Limited
Partnership) (RYIMEBESERELEESEELE(ERE
%)), which was in turn owned as to 90% by Oriental Fortune
Capital. Oriental Fortune Capital was owned as to 48.42%
by CHEN Wei (F%32). Therefore, under the SFO, Shenzhen
Fuhai Xinwan Equity Investment Fund Management Enterprise
(Limited Partnership) (RN E S EREREESEELE(R
[R&%)) was deemed to be interested in the Shares held by
Shenzhen Fuhai Xincai Phase Il Venture Capital Investment
Fund Partnership (Limited Partnership) G & /& — HA 4l
EREHSABLE(BRAE)); Oriental Fortune Capital and
CHEN Wei (FR3) were deemed to be interested in the Shares
held by the above six entities.

Fer-Capital was the general partner of each of Shenzhen
Yingkejin Investment Management Partnership (Limited
Partnership) (RIBRERLEERARELE(BEREE))
(“Shenzhen Yingkejin”), Liuyang Woyang Health Industry
Investment Partnership (Limited Partnership) (2IF33K5 6 E
EEREAERILE(BRE%)) ("Woyang Health”), Changsha
Woyang Phase Il Health Industry Investment Partnership
(Limited Partnership) (EXKRS — Bl EEEREABRCE(ER
£A%)) ("Woyang Phase II") and Shenzhen Luewei Investment
Management Partnership (Limited Partnership) (F3JIIBSEISE
ERABLE(BRAE)) (‘Shenzhen Luewei’). Fer-Capital is
held by FENG Tao (/&) as to an aggregate of approximately
42.80% (comprising 32.80% of his direct equity interests, and
as a general partner of Shenzhen Huizhi Gongying Enterprise
Management Partnership (Limited Partnership) (F3IITTES H 2
TEEBABELEERAE)) holding 10% equity interests), and
33.60% by CHEN Erjia (F£#31E). Therefore, each of FENG Tao,
CHEN Erjia and Fer-Capital was deemed to be interested in the
Shares held by Shenzhen Yingkejin, Woyang Health, Woyang
Phase Il and Shenzhen Luewei under the SFO.
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B)EBENRDPEAES RO EERRER
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10.

Zhaoyin Modern, Nanjing Zhenyuan Ill Equity Investment
Partnership (Limited Partnership) (FARER2FRIELEESE
(AR A%)) (‘Nanjing Zhenyuan”) and Nanjing Zhaoyin
Gongying Equity Investment Partnership (Limited Partnership)
(ARMHERABRRERESGRCE(ARER)) (“Nanjing
Zhaoyin Gongying”) held Shares of the Company respectively.
Zhaoyin Modern was managed by Jiangsu Zhaoyin Industrial
Fund Management Co., Ltd. (TERBIEEXESEEGR A A])
and 83.26% was held by Jiangsu Zhaoyin Modern Industry
Equity Investment Fund Phase | (Limited Partnership) (JI#k
RIFPBEREERERLEES —BH(BERAEE)). Jiangsu Zhaoyin
Industrial Fund Management Co., Ltd. (IEBRELELE
IEHR/AF]) was wholly owned by CMB International Capital
Management (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. (HBSEBEEENEE(FINE
[RA7]). Jiangsu Zhaoyin Modern Industry Equity Investment
Fund Phase | (Limited Partnership) (iT%kA3EIR A E R AE
REHES—H(BRA¥E)) was managed by Jiangsu Zhaoyin
Industrial Fund Management Co., Ltd. (TEREEEELEIR
BBR/A7F]) and 66.56% was held by CMB International Financial
Holdings (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. (FEBEEEIERCRINER
A 7]). Nanjing Zhenyuan was managed by Jiangsu Zhaoyin
Industrial Fund Management Co., Ltd. (IEREEEELEIR
BBRAF]) and 99.95% was held by Shanghai Qiji Technology
Partnership (L.P.) (E8EER AR X (BRAR)). Shanghai
Qiji Technology Partnership (L.P.) (E/SHERAZDE(ER
£&%)) was managed by CMB International Financial Holdings
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. (FBRBEKEEBITROFYNBRAE) and
99.90% was held by CMB Financial Holdings (Shenzhen) Co.,
Ltd. (FBIRESBIER ORI AR A F]). CMB International Financial
Holdings (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. (FREBEEaiERCRINBRA
A]) was a wholly-owned subsidiary of CMB Financial Holdings

(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. (FBiRE @IERORINER A 7)),

Nanjing Zhaoyin Gongying was managed by Jiangsu Zhaoyin
Industrial Fund Management Co., Ltd. (T#RREXESE
AR AF]), a wholly-owned subsidiary of CMB International
Capital Management (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. (BB EAREIE
CFRINABMRAA]), which was in turn a wholly-owned subsidiary
of CMB Financial Holdings (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. (B g%
& (CFINEBRAR]). CMB Financial Holdings (Shenzhen) Co.,
Ltd. (RIS @IERORIN)BRAE]) was wholly owned by CMB
International Capital Corporation Limited (HBEBELEER A
A]), which was held as to 83.20% by CMB International Capital
Holdings Corporation Limited (FRIFEIREBITRER A RF]).
CMB International Capital Holdings Corporation Limited (FR#R
H B £ iz AR A7) was wholly owned by China Merchants
Bank Co., Ltd., a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 03968) and Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code:
600036).

10.
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)
Therefore, Jiangsu Zhaoyin Modern Industry Equity Investment
Fund Phase | (Limited Partnership) (T#kBIRIR(EERIER
EES—HI(BREE) was deemed to be interested in the
Shares held by Zhaoyin Modern; CMB International Financial
Holdings (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. (REBRE & riEkORINBRA
A]) was deemed to be interested in the Shares held by each
of Zhaoyin Modern and Nanjing Zhenyuan; China Merchants
Bank Co., Ltd., CMB International Capital Holdings Corporation
Limited, CMB International Capital Corporation Limited, CMB
Financial Holdings (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd., CMB International
Capital Management (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. and Jiangsu
Zhaoyin Industrial Fund Management Co., Ltd. were deemed to
be interested in the Shares held by each of Zhaoyin Modern,
Nanjing Zhenyuan and Nanjing Zhaoyin Gongying under the
SFO.

The general partner of Hanchen was Antai and was held as to
99.99% by Yuechen. The general partner of Yuechen was Antai
and was held as to 60.60% by Yuchen. The general partner of
Yuchen was Antai. The general partner of Antai was Huanyu.
Huanyu was held as to 70% by ZHOU Kui. Therefore, Yuechen,
Yuchen, Antai, Huanyu and ZHOU Kui were deemed to be
interested in the Shares held by Hanchen under the SFO.

Springleaf Investments Pte. Ltd. was a wholly-owned subsidiary
of Anderson Investments Pte. Ltd., which in turn was a wholly-
owned subsidiary of Thomson Capital Pte. Ltd. Thomson
Capital Pte. Ltd. was a wholly-owned subsidiary of Tembusu
Capital Pte. Ltd., which in turn was a wholly-owned subsidiary
of Temasek Holdings (Private) Limited. Therefore, each of
Anderson Investments Pte. Ltd., Thomson Capital Pte. Ltd.,
Tembusu Capital Pte. Ltd. and Temasek Holdings (Private)
Limited was deemed to be interested in the Shares held by
Springleaf Investments Pte. Ltd. under the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at December 31, 2023, no other
persons, other than the Directors or chief executives of our
Company whose interests are set out in the section headed
“Directors’, Supervisors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and Short
Positions in Shares and Underlying Shares and Debentures of our
Company and any of its Associated Corporations” below, had any
interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares as
recorded in the register required to be kept under section 336 of
the SFO.

11.
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DIRECTORS’, SUPERVISORS’ AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF OUR COMPANY AND ANY OF ITS
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As of December 31, 2023, the interests and short positions of
the Directors, Supervisors and chief executives of our Company
in any of the Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of our
Company or its associated corporation (within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO), as recorded in the register required to be kept by
our Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise
notified to our Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code were as follows:

Long positions in the Shares or underlying Shares of our
Company
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Approximate  percentage of

percentage interest in the
of interest  relevant class
Number and in our of Shares of
Nature of interest class of Shares™ Company®™ our Company™
EARRAH
EARE  HRERRG
BRNEN ERHHA
Name nE,/ 4% ERME REE RERIO BaLO BaLO
Dr. LIU EljEhn Beneficial owner 193,943 Domestic Shares 0.05% 0.12%
EHEEA 193,943 WE IR
64,647 H Shares 0.02%
64,647 A H
Interest in controlled corporations® 72,512,138 Domestic Shares 20.02% 43.47%
R EEER? 72,512,138 R E R
24,170,712 H Shares 7.65%

24,170,712 fH

F )

79"




80

Jiangsu Recbio Technology Co., Ltd.
SIERMENEMRHHRAF

Directors’ Report

EEEHE

Notes:

1. As at December 31, 2023, our Company had issued a total
of 482,963,000 Shares, comprising 154,824,311 Domestic
Shares, 12,000,000 Unlisted Foreign Shares and 316,138,689
H Shares. All interests stated were long positions. For
Shareholders of Domestic Shares and Unlisted Foreign Shares,
the approximate percentage of interest in the relevant class of
Shares of our Company was calculated based on the sum of
the issued Domestic Shares and Unlisted Foreign Shares.

2. Dr. LIU was the general partner of each of Taizhou Yuangong,
Taizhou Baibei Biotechnology Partnership (Limited Partnership)
(EMNBEEEDERARLCE(BERAE®)) (‘“Taizhou Baibei”),
Taizhou Guquan Biotechnology Partnership (Limited
Partnership) (FEM & REMBIEEELE(BRE)) (‘“Taizhou
Guquan”) and Ruibaitai, and was interested in an aggregate
of 72,512,138 Domestic Shares and 24,170,712 H Shares held
by these four entities. Therefore, Dr. LIU was deemed to be
interested in the Shares held by each of Taizhou Yuangong,
Taizhou Baibei, Taizhou Gugquan and Ruibaitai under the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at December 31, 2023, none of the
Directors, Supervisors or chief executives of our Company had or
was deemed to have any interests or short positions in the Shares,
underlying Shares or debentures of our Company or any of its
associated corporations (as defined under Part XV of the SFO).

PENSION SCHEME

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate
in mainland China are required to participate in a central
pension scheme operated by the local municipal government.
The subsidiaries operating in mainland China are required to
contribute a certain percentage of its payroll costs to the central
pension scheme. The contributions are charged to profit or loss
as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the
central pension scheme. During the Reporting Period, there were
no contributions forfeited under the central pension scheme and
no forfeited contributions were used to reduce the existing level of
contributions.
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SHARE SCHEMES
Pre-IPO Share Award Scheme

Our Company adopted certain Pre-IPO share award schemes
for certain personnel in order to recognize and reward the
contribution of certain directors and employees (“granted
employees”) to the growth and development of the Group,
and retain eligible employees for the continuous operation and
development of the Group.

The Group granted equity interests of our Company under the
Schemes through Lianyungang Ruiwenshibole Biotechnology
Partnership (L.P.) (“Ruiwenshibole”), Taizhou Ruibaitai
Pharmaceutical Technology Partnership (L.P.) (“Ruibaitai”’) and
Lianyungang Ruibaihe Pharmaceutical Technology Partnership
(L.P.) (“Ruibaihe”). All of the Ruiwenshibole, Ruibaitai and
Ruibaihe (“Ownership platforms”) are controlled by the general
partners of the partnerships.

The Company has established an equity incentive management
agency (the “Management Agency”), which is composed of the
Company’s management personnel and is responsible for the
daily supervision and management of the Pre-IPO Share Award
Scheme, as well as the determination and execution of related
matters such as the grant, lock-up, disposal and withdrawal of
granted employees’ rights and interests.
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The Company has not set a maximum granted incentive limit for
each granted employee under the Pre-IPO Share Award Scheme.

The granted employees shall subscribe for the amount of
subscription of incentive shares or transfer of property shares
corresponding to the incentive shares in cash or other methods
approved by the Management Agency. The source of its funds
shall be true and legal, and the funds shall be the salaries of
the granted employees, other self-raised or self-owned funds
or other funds approved by the Management Agency. The
Company does not provide loans to granted employees, nor does
it provide guarantees for the financing of granted employees.
The granted employees shall pay the amount of subscription of
incentive shares or transfer of property shares corresponding to
the incentive shares in full and on time in accordance with the
instructions and the partnership agreements without undue delay.

The price of incentives granted to granted employees is
determined by the Management Agency based on factors such as
the Company’s development stage, results of operations, and the
positions and rankings of granted employees.

The administrative measures for the Pre-IPO Share Award Scheme
(the “Administrative Measures”) are valid from the date when the
Board resolves to adopt the Administrative Measures to the date
when the granted employees no longer hold any incentive shares.
The Board has the right to resolve to terminate the Administrative
Measures when it believes that the incentive purpose has been
achieved, or to prolong the Administrative Measures when it
believes that the incentive purpose has not been achieved. As the
Ownership platforms are limited liability partnerships under the
laws of the PRC, the remaining term of the Pre-IPO Share Award
Scheme is not applicable.
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The following table sets out the details of movement of the awards ~ TERHJIREHANRIEE X AFEE ﬁﬁ%@%ﬁb‘ﬁ
granted under the Pre-IPO Share Award Scheme during the  BIFTIXEERNE BT -
Reporting Period:

Not yet vested Not yet vested  Closing price
Granted during asat  Vested during asat  immediately Fair value
Purchase  the Reporting January 1,  the Reporting  December 31, before the at the
Class Grant date price Period 2023 Period® 2023 grant date grant date*
R20235 R2023F
1818 REEHR 128318 ZERHAH RELEH
Y] BB BEE  HEEARE HARE BE HABR  ZAWKGE  WATYEE
(AMB/Share) (HKS) (RWB)
A&/ K) (&7) AEE)
Directors
£
Dr. LIU Yong March 25, 2021' 12 - 7,179,761 - 7,779,761 - -
L 02153728
May 24, 20211 12 - 501,480 - 501,480 - -
021558248
July 31, 20211 12 - 13,909 - 13,909 - -
NA1FTA318!
September 8, 2021° 12 - 25,500 - 25,500 - -
202159 H8H
November 18, 2021" 12 - 19,705 - 19,705 - -
20215111881
May 18, 20222 18 - 175,481 - 175,481 25.20 3,700,202
2022571872
September 20, 2022° 18 - 175,481 - 175,481 2155 3,470,020
20225972082
March 16, 20232 18 175,481 175,481 - 175,481 2250 3,486,608
2023537 16R?2
April 7, 2023 18 219,738 219,738 - 219,738 16.66 3,210,184
023F4ATR
April 20, 20232 18 62,782 62,782 - 62,782 14.88 807,917
2023542082
April 21, 2023 18 62,782 62,762 - 62,782 14.64 789,851
2023542172
April 21, 20232 18 175,481 175,481 - 175,481 14.64 2,207,697
2023540172
April 26, 2023! 12 39,846 39,846 - 39,846 13.56 463,957
20234 R26R!
October 25, 2023 18 189,071 189,071 - 189,071 11.20 1,943,105

202351072582
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Not yet vested Not yet vested  Closing price
Granted during asat  Vested during asat  immediately Fair value
Purchase  the Reporting January 1,  the Reporting  December 31, before the at the
Class Grant date price Period 2023 Period® 2023 grant date grant date*
20235 R20235
1818 REESR 128318 ZERHAH RELAH
Lyl RiiAH BEE  BESARN HAGE 1 & HABE  ZAWKEE  MATEE
(RMB/Share) (HKS) (RWB)
(AEET/ &) (B7) (AEE)
Dr. CHEN Jianping March 25, 2021' 12 - 724,831 - 724,831 - -
RETEL 202153725
November 18, 2021" 12 - 25,500 - 25,500 - -
2021511 18R
Mr. LI Bu March 25, 2021' 12 - 772,161 - 772,161 - -
hik 2021537258
Ms. CHEN Qingging September 27, 20217 18 - 2,113,048 - 2,113,048 - -
REERT 22159R 2782
Dr. HONG Kunxue March 25, 2021' 12 - 238,004 - 238,004 - -
ot dihn 2021437258
Five highest paid
individuals
LEREHMAL
Five highest paid March 25, 2021 12 - 772,161 772,161 - - -
individuals during 2021453 A25H
the Reporting Period
(excluding Directors)
fEANIESRFIAL
(MafEEE)
Other employees
HfRs
Other employees (fotal) ~ March 25, 2021 1.2 - 2,519,328 - 2,519,328 - -
HitER (a3f) 200153258
September 27, 20212 18 - 1,876,848 760,720 1,116,128 - -

202149 f27H?2




Notes:

Such shares are granted through Ruibaitai.

Such shares are granted through Ruibaihe.

As the vested shares during the Reporting Period were not
listed at the time of grant, the weighted average closing price
is not applicable.

For accounting standards and policies adopted regarding
fair value, please refer to notes 2.4, 28 and 33 to the financial
statements.

The lock-up period of the above shares is three years from
the grant date. During the lock-up period, the grantee can put
forward the intention to dispose of incentive shares for vesting
according to the provisions of the Administrative Measures on
Share Incentives, while the specific implementation of the act
of disposition is required to wait until the expiry of the lock-up
period. If the grantee quits the Company, the transfer/return
ratio will be calculated according to the ownership duration,
details of which are described in note 28 to the financial
statements. The exercise period of the above shares is from
the vesting date until the date on which the granted employees
cease to hold any incentive shares.

During the Reporting Period, 0.2048% of the then equity
interest (equivalent to 989,290 shares) in the Company was
forfeited due to the resignation of seven employees. Besides
this, there were no invalid or canceled awards during the
Reporting Period.

As of the Latest Practicable Date, the Ownership platforms held
an aggregate of 96,682,850 Shares, representing approximately
20.02% of the issued share capital of our Company. Please refer
to note 28 to the consolidated financial statements in this annual
report for details of the Pre-IPO Share Award Scheme.
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2022\H Share Incentive Scheme

On September 16, 2022, the 2022 H Share Incentive Scheme
(the “2022 H Share Incentive Scheme”) was considered and
approved at the second extraordinary general meeting of the
Company in 2022. On August 25, 2023, to further implement
the 2022 H Share Incentive Scheme and achieve its incentive
purpose, without prejudice to the interests of the Company and
its Shareholders as a whole, the Board, having taken into account
the actual circumstances and market practice, considered and
approved the amendments to certain rules and provisions of the
2022 H Share Incentive Scheme.

As authorized by the second extraordinary general meeting
held on September 16, 2022, the Delegates have established
a management committee (the “Management Committee”) in
respect of the 2022 H Share Incentive Scheme, comprising Dr.
LIU Yong, an executive Director, the chairman of the Board and
the general manager of the Company, Mr. LI Bu, an executive
Director and the vice general manager of the Company and Ms.
CHEN Qingging, the executive Director, the chief financial officer,
the vice general manager and Board secretary of the Company.
The Management Committee shall exercise full power to deal
with related matters within the validity period of the 2022 H Share
Incentive Scheme, including but not limited to: managing the
2022 H Share Incentive Scheme; determining and/or adjusting
grant conditions, grant dates, and vesting conditions; evaluating
and managing performance indicators; signing, executing and
terminating all relevant agreements and other relevant documents
in relation to the 2022 H Share Incentive Scheme; and exercising
any other powers granted by the general meeting of the Company
from time to time in connection with matters necessary for the
implementation of the 2022 H Share Incentive Scheme, etc.

2022 FHER BB ET 2
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Details of the 2022 H Share Incentive Scheme are as follows:

Purposes

The 2022 H Share Incentive Scheme aims to:

(a) attract, motivate and retain skilled and experienced
personnel to strive for the future development and
expansion of the Group by providing them with the
opportunity to own equity interests in the Company;

(b) further reform the Company’'s remuneration
system, and develop and continuously improve
the mechanism to balance the interests
among Shareholders, operation and executive
management; and

(c) (i) recognize the contributions by the leadership
of the Company, including the Directors and senior
management; (ii) encourage, motivate and retain the
leadership of the Company whose contributions are
beneficial to the continual operation, development
and long-term growth of the Group; and (iii) provide
additional incentives for the leadership of the
Company to align their interests with those of the
Shareholders and the Group as a whole.

Term

The 2022 H Share Incentive Scheme shall be valid and
effective for a period of ten years commencing on the date
on which the 2022 H Share Incentive Scheme is approved
at the 2022 general meeting of the Shareholders (unless
it is terminated earlier in accordance with the scheme),
after which period no incentives will be granted under the
2022 H Share Incentive Scheme. If there are any unvested
Restricted Share Incentives granted under the 2022 H
Share Incentive Scheme prior to the expiry of the ten-year
period, the 2022 H Share Incentive Scheme shall remain in
force to give effect to the vesting of such Restricted Share
Incentives. Accordingly, the remaining term of the 2022 H
Share Incentive Scheme is approximately eight years and
eight months as of December 31, 2023.
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Limit
The limit of the 2022 H Share Incentive Scheme shall be
the maximum number or amount of H Shares approved
by Shareholders, that is, the maximum number of H
Shares that may be purchased by the entrusted institution
from time to time through on-market transactions at the
prevailing market price with funds in the amount of not
more than RMB100,000,000. Based on the average closing
price for the five business days prior to December 31,
2023, the maximum number of 10,952,902 H Shares can
be purchased, representing approximately 2.27% of the
issued shares of the Company.

The Company has not set any limit on the number of
incentives that may be granted for each participant for the
2022 H Share Incentive Scheme.

Scope of Incentive

Selected Participants of the 2022 H Share Incentive
Scheme refer to the full-time employees of the Group who
meet the principles for determining the eligible participants
under the 2022 H Share Incentive Scheme, including
Directors, senior management, key operating teams and
other employees of the Company.

Grant of Incentives

The Company will grant Restricted Share Incentives to
Selected Participant from time to time during the term of
the Restricted Share Incentives in the form of a grant letter
as determined by the Board or its Delegates, specifying
the grant date, the manner of acceptance, the value of the
Restricted Share Incentives granted and/or the number of
Incentive Shares underlying the Incentives (with the basis
on which the number of the Restricted Share Incentives
is determined), the grant price and payment method (if
applicable), the vesting criteria and conditions, the vesting
date and such other details, terms and conditions as
they may consider necessary and in compliance with the
scheme.

Any grant of Restricted Share Incentives to any connected
person of the Company shall be in compliance with the
Listing Rules and any applicable laws and regulations.
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Vesting of Incentives

Subject to compliance with all applicable laws and
regulations, the Board or its Delegates may determine the
vesting criteria and conditions or periods for the Restricted
Share Incentives to be vested.

The conditions of the vesting of Restricted Share Incentives
of the Group shall be a combination of the followings:
(1) the achievement of the Group's business milestones,
including but not limited to the achievement of business
milestones regarding the clinical development status of
the Group’s candidate vaccine, the marketing status, the
commercial development and cooperation status and/or
the production and construction status, and (2) the market
value of the Group. The above conditions are set out in
the Grant Letter entered into between the Group and the
Selected Participants.

Fund and Source of Shares

The 2022 H Share Incentive Scheme will be funded by
the Company’s own funds. The source of Shares under
the 2022 H Share Incentive Scheme shall be H Shares
purchased by the entrusted institution entrusted by the
Company through the secondary market at the prevailing
market price in accordance with the Company’s written
instructions, including but not limited to the designated
price or price range for purchase, the maximum amount of
funds available for purchase and/or the maximum number
of H Shares to be purchased.

Grant price

Selected Participants of the 2022 H Share Incentive
Scheme are not required to make cash payments for the
Incentives granted. The number of H Shares to be granted
to each of the Selected Participants will be determined by
the Management Committee according to their positions
and rankings.

Grant
As of the Latest Practicable Date, no incentives have been

granted under the 2022 H Share Incentive Scheme.

Please refer to the announcements of the Company dated
August 25, 2022, September 16, 2022 and August 25, 2023
and the circular dated September 1, 2022 for details.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in this report, at no time for the year ended
December 31, 2023 was our Company or any of its subsidiaries
a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures
of, our Company or any other body corporate; and none of the
Directors, or any of their spouses or children under the age of
18, had any right to subscribe for equity or debt securities of our
Company or any other body corporate, or had exercised any such
right.

EMOLUMENT POLICY AND DIRECTORS’ AND
SUPERVISORS’ REMUNERATION

The Company’s Remuneration and Appraisal Committee
formulates remuneration policies. Directors, Supervisors and
senior management members who receive remuneration from our
Company are paid in forms of salaries, allowances, discretionary
bonuses and other benefits in kind. The remuneration of our
Directors, Supervisors and senior management members is
determined with reference to their experience, duties and
performance and the salaries of comparable companies.

Our Company also has adopted the share incentive schemes
to provide incentives for certain employees. Please refer to the
section headed “Share Schemes” above for details.

Details of the remuneration of the Directors, senior management
and the five highest paid individuals are set out in note 8 and
note 9 to the consolidated financial statements in this report,
respectively.

None of the Directors waived or agreed to waive any remuneration
and there were no emoluments paid by the Group to any of the
Directors as an inducement to join, or upon joining the Group, or
as compensation for loss of office.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

For the year ended December 31, 2023 and up to the Latest
Practicable Date, we have not entered into any connected
transaction or continuing connected transaction which should be
disclosed pursuant to the Rules 14A.49 and 14A.71 of the Listing
Rules.

For the year ended December 31, 2023, none of the related party
transactions disclosed in note 31 to the financial statements
constitute any non-exempt connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions which should be disclosed pursuant to
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

USE OF PREVIOUS PROCEEDS

Our Company’s H Shares were listed on the Stock Exchange
on March 31, 2022. After the exercise of over-allotment option
on April 23, 2022, the net proceeds from the Global Offering
amounted to approximately RMB669,714 thousand. Reference
is made to the announcement of the Company dated March 20,
2023 (the “Announcement”). In order to improve the efficiency
of the use of proceeds, reduce financial expenses and align with
the Company’s strategic objectives, the Board considered and
approved the changes in the use of proceeds on March 20, 2023.
As of December 31, 2023, the Company had utilized proceeds
of approximately RMB504,216 thousand and unutilized proceeds
amounted to approximately RMB165,498 thousand.
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The above proceeds have been and will be used in accordance FtilEEZELRALAEKLRESRIBERIIZMENL
with the purposes set out in the Prospectus and disclosed in the ZAEMIRERG®ER @ HE2023F12H31H -
Announcement. As of December 31, 2023, the Company had ZARAFDERHBEEEEESFEANUTNRS
used the net proceeds from the Global Offering for the following

purposes: Actual utilised Unutilised
amount amount of
Net proceeds  Percentage of proceeds as of proceeds as of
used for related total net December 31, December 31,
purposes proceeds 2023 2023
HZ22023F HZ2023F
ARiEE EATTEE 12A31A 12A31H
REHESR BEERE EREFER KER
BEFR NEDL ERES BERE®
(RMB’000) (%) (RMB’000) (RMB’000)
(AR#Tr) (%) (AR®F ) (AE%T )
1. Continuous optimization, 1. BEEL  AEREE(LHPVE 316,633 47% 174,315 142,318
development and HER REEMMELER
commercialization of our HPV (E#NEHPVEERECG03) '
vaccine pipeline, including our B

Core Product, the recombinant
HPV 9-valent vaccine REC603,

as follows:

(i) The ongoing phase Il (i) &OEMRECE03) i 302,393 45% 160,873 141,520
clinical trial, registration, TR AR RS -
manufacturing and EERBEEL

commercialization of our
Core Product, REC603

(i) Preclinical and clinical (i) EAHPVIREZ & MK 14,240 2% 13,442 798
studies for other HPV Al RERIRA % - BIEAHPY
vaccine candidates, namely ZEREZEHREC60T X
our recombinant HPV REC602 * LARfHEE —K
bivalent vaccine candidates HPV{E & & REC604a &
REC601 and REC602 REC604b

and adjuvanted second-
generation HPV vaccine
candidates REC604a and

REC604b
2. Preclinical and clinical studies, 2. EAMTHEEE (EEHT 153,454 23% 153,454 -
registration of recombinant & EREC611 - FTEmMRNASR
COVID-19 vaccines, namely FREC618) MIEG IR AT I R IR T
recombinant COVID-19 vaccine, % - i

REC611, mRNA COVID-19
vaccine, REC618



Net proceeds
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Percentage of

Actual utilised
amount
proceeds as of

U
Unutilised

amount of
proceeds as of

used for related total net December 31, December 31,
purposes proceeds 2023 2023
HZ22023%F HZ2023%F
R EEEE 12A31R 12A31H
REMES -kt ERERR KER
BLFE MBS BgEe EE S o
(RMB’000) (%) (RMB’ 000) (RMB’ 000)
(AR#Tn) (%) (AR¥T ) (AR%TR)
Preclinical and clinical studies, SEFEAAL EERECE108ER 80,464 12% 59,523 20,941
registration of recombinant KRBT R EERTTTE »
shingles vaccine, REC610
Preclinical and clinical studies, PN AL NPT 273 0% 273 -
registration of adult TB vaccine R - w
Preclinical and clinical studies, EHAFRORAZERECE05 * E 3,630 1% 3,630 =
registration of recombinant AR ERRZERECET7 R EM
HFMD vaccine, REC605; BB MERA REBRTR -
recombinant influenza
quadrivalent vaccine, REC617
and other vaccines
(i) Recombinant HFMD () EEFRORFZEREC605 91 0% 91 -
vaccine, REC605
(i) Recombinant influenza (i) ERMERBZERECE17 6 0% 6 -
quadrivalent, REC617
(iii) Other vaccines (i) g 3,533 1% 3,533 -
Further enhancement of R&D E-SMEHEEIREREE 44,513 7% 42,283 2,230
capabilities and improvement kB
of operating efficiencies,
including:
(i) Enhancement of technology () BEEEMTEUZHBER 18,010 3% 16,295 1,715
platforms to support K
continuous demands
(i) Establishment of (i) BELERESEHRRR 26,503 4% 25,988 515
manufacturing and quality FR 15 BRITER R
control system and upgrade
of information technology
infrastructure
Working capital and general EBESR—ROEERE 70,747 1% 70,738 9
corporate purposes
Total &t 669,714 100% 504,216 165,498
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The expected timetable for certain uses of the above-mentioned
proceeds is delayed compared with that disclosed in the
Prospectus, primarily due to (i) the advancement and construction
of some intended uses has been delayed resulting from the
impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and the market environment;
and (ii) the use of some proceeds has been delayed because of
the impact of the payment cycle. It is expected that the unused
proceeds will be fully utilized by the end of 2025.

The Company will continuously review the plan of the use of
the unutilized net proceeds and may amend such plan where
necessary so as to cope with the changing market conditions and
strive for better business performance of the Company.

Where the net proceeds are not immediately applied to the above
purposes and to the extent permitted by the relevant law and
regulations, so long as they are deemed to be in the best interests
of our Company, we may hold such funds in short-term deposits
with licensed banks or authorized financial institutions in Hong
Kong.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to our Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors as at the Latest
Practicable Date, our Company has maintained the prescribed
percentage of public float under the Listing Rules.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been
audited by Ernst & Young. The Company engaged Ernst & Young
in March 2021 and did not engage any other auditors before.
On June 17, 2022 and May 11, 2023, at the annual general
meetings of the Company in 2021 and 2022, Ernst & Young was
re-appointed as the Company’s 2022 and 2023 International
Auditors and Ernst & Young Hua Ming LLP was appointed as the
Company’s 2022 and 2023 Domestic Auditors.

IMPORTANT EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Management Discussion
and Analysis — Financial Review — Events after the Reporting
Period”, no important events affecting our Company occurred
since the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report.
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FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS AND
CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in this report, we do not have other plans for
material investments and capital assets as of the date of this
report.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS AND
RECORD DATE

The register of members of H Shares of the Company will be
closed from Friday, May 3, 2024 to Wednesday, May 8, 2024, both
days inclusive, during which period no transfer of H Shares will
be registered, in order to determine the holders of H Shares of the
Company who are entitled to attend and vote at the forthcoming
AGM to be held on Wednesday, May 8, 2024. To be eligible
to attend and vote at the AGM, all properly completed transfer
documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates must
be lodged with the Company’s H Share Registrar, Computershare
Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712-1716,
17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai,
Hong Kong no later than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, May 2, 2024 for
registration.

By order of the Board

Jiangsu Recbio Technology Co., Ltd.
Chairman

Dr. LIU Yong

Jiangsu Province, the PRC
March 20, 2024

Annual Report 2023
ZRC=EER

Directors’ Report

EEEHE

-
BEAREREFREENRRKRGTE
BRAMEMBEEN  BEARSHE - KZMIE

BEARERERNBENEMFE -

EENERNBFECLFEANRCEAN

ANAFHEH 202465 A3H (28T ) 2202445 A
8H (EH=)(BEaEMA) TEMIEHRRKRGL B
FEi - HEBTgREEMHRBROBPERLF
B UEEAELESNR2024F5A8H (EH=)
BOICFERFRAEEINEG LREMNARRAHERR
R RREERERFERTFASTRE LEE -
FrBEEZRBP X ER MR RNENR20245F5
A28 (2HM) THEE=+59 R ERNA aMHR
BHEELEB BT RESFZLERLAE (U ABEE
B ERERNER18IFAEMA L 17E1712-17165%
4 EITER ©

HE
IHHREYNFEMRAERAE
e

ZEEL

PPN
B np

RETIEE
202493 H20H

-

>

95




96

Jiangsu Recbio Technology Co., Ltd.
SIERMENEMRHHRAF

Corporate Governance Report
SEEREE

J
The Board is pleased to present this corporate governance report

in our Company’s annual report for the year ended December 31,
2023.

CORPORATE CULTURE

While staying true to its original inspiration of “developing the first-
class vaccines to protect human health”, the Company adhered to
the corporate values of value creation, working hard collectively,
dedication and professionalism as well as inclusiveness and
progress, and is committed to building a positive and progressive
culture in terms of our vision, mission and values.

The Board firmly believes that corporate culture provides an
important support for the Group’s long-term development and
good corporate governance. The Company strictly complies
with national laws and regulations, continuously improves the
corporate governance structure, and makes efforts to enhance the
level of corporate governance. We will continue to carry forward
the corporate culture of integrity, take a high standard of business
ethics as a criterion to follow for business development and
actively shoulder and fulfill our responsibilities in environmental
protection, striving to lay a good foundation for high-quality and
sustainable development of our Company and continuously create
value for shareholders, customers, employees and society.

We endeavor to promote the harmony and synchronization
between the development of the Company and the growth of
employees. A wide range of training and activities are offered
for our employees. Also, we emphasize communication with our
employees and stakeholders, and spread our corporate culture
through communication.

The Board will review on a yearly basis the business model,
strategies and objectives of the Company and evaluate relevant
performance to ensure that the Company realizes long-term
sustainable growth. The Board considers that the corporate culture
is consistent with the Group’s mission, values and strategies. The
Company will monitor the implementation of the corporate culture
on a continuous basis.

For details on the Company’s corporate culture, values and
strategies, please refer to the Company’s 2023 Environmental,
Social and Governance Report to be disclosed on the same day.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

We strive to maintain high standards of corporate governance
to safeguard the interests of the Shareholders and to enhance
corporate value and accountability. Our Company has adopted the
Code Provisions of the CG Code as the basis of our Company’s
corporate governance practices since the Listing Date. Except as
disclosed in this corporate governance report, our Company has
complied with all applicable Code Provisions as set out in the CG
Code during the Reporting Period and up to the Latest Practicable
Date.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Board Composition

The Board structure is governed by the Articles of Association.
The composition of the Board is well balanced with each Director
having sound industry knowledge, extensive corporate and
strategic planning experience and/or expertise relevant to the
business of our Group.

As of the Latest Practicable Date, the Board comprised twelve
members, including four executive Directors, four non-executive
Directors and four independent non-executive Directors.

As of the Latest Practicable Date, the composition of the Board
was as follows:

Executive Directors®

Dr. LIU Yong (Chairman of the Board and General Manager)
Dr. CHEN Jianping

Mr. LI Bu

Ms. CHEN Qingging

Non-Executive Directors?

Dr. HONG Kunxue
Dr. ZHOU Hongbin
Dr. ZHANG Jiaxin

Mr. HU Houwei

6 Ms. CHEN Qingging was appointed as an executive Director
on May 11, 2023.

7 Mr. ZHAO Hui and Dr. DU Wei resigned as non-executive

Directors and members of the Remuneration and Appraisal
Committee on March 20, 2023; Dr. FENG Tao resigned as
a non-executive Director and a member of the Nomination
Committee on April 3, 2023; Dr. ZHANG Jiaxin and Mr. HU
Houwei were appointed as non-executive Directors on May 11,
2023.
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Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. LIANG Guodong

Dr. XIA Lijun

Professor GAO Feng
Professor YUEN Ming Fai

The biographical details of the Directors are set out in the section
headed “Biographies of our Directors, Supervisors and Senior
Management” on pages 35 to 51 of this report.

Save as disclosed in this report, there is no other relationship
(including financial,
relationships) among the Board, Supervisors and senior
management members.

business, family or other material/relevant

Board Meetings

The Board requires the Directors to devote sufficient time and
attention to their duties and responsibilities. Regular Board
meetings shall be convened at least four times each year. The
Board normally will schedule meetings regularly and will meet as
and when required to discuss the matters concerning our Group
including its overall business, development strategy, operations
and financial reporting. Notice of the regular Board meeting shall
be given to all Directors at least 14 days before the meeting.
Notice of the extraordinary Board meeting shall be given to all
Directors and Supervisors at least 5 days before the meeting.
In addition to the regular meetings,
meeting with independent non-executive Directors in the absence
of other Directors.

the Chairman also held a

BYFHTES
R B R S A&
EVEHL
GAO Feng# %
RIERR

%%Eﬁ%i’l$%mztxi&¢”35§51 EWEF &
ERERERERE] & -

BRARSFAWEEIN
BZRAEEMEAR (R
BXR/HEER) -

Exe ESRaMEEA
BIEET - 15 - RESXEM

Exeel

EZS2REERARERHRRBNETERER
B - BFAZLAFANAEHE=ZS SR -EF
ERFTHRFBREZRETERHE - LW
ERASENEER  BREEBEEL  ZHREK -
BELRMBHRE THEFSEIARTARGAEAD
RAEL14RRERESHEL  -EXSHRESER
SARNGHARMELSAR2RESMEFHN -
BRERERN  EFETEEMEETEZNBRT
B jé‘EﬁLﬁﬁ%;ﬁ%ﬁT

E

E

7 A 2
Rk °



During the Reporting Period, the Board held a total of 6 meetings,
and the attendance of each Director at the Board meeting is as
follows:
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Attendance

Attendance in by way of

person/number proxy/number

of meetings of meetings
during tenure during tenure  Attendance Rate

BEHERH EXHERE
Member of the Board EEEHE FROEEIRE ERIESERE HE=E
Dr. LIU Yong BB 6/6 0/0 100%
Dr. CHEN Jianping PRfZTE L 6/6 0/0 100%
Mr. LI Bu Eib it 6/6 0/0 100%
Ms. CHEN Qingging RESTL T 3/3 0/0 100%
Dr. HONG Kunxue AR EE 4 6/6 0/0 100%
Dr. ZHOU Hongbin BaiE T 6/6 0/0 100%
Dr. ZHANG Jiaxin RESEL 3/3 0/0 100%
Mr. HU Houwei HEEELE 3/3 0/0 100%
Mr. ZHAO Hui b e 2/2 0/0 100%
Dr. DU Weji HEEL 2/2 0/0 100%
Dr. FENG Tao EREL 2/2 0/0 100%
Mr. LIANG Guodong REIERCE 6/6 0/0 100%
Dr. XIA Lijun EVEFL 6/6 0/0 100%
Professor GAO Feng GAO Feng##% 6/6 0/0 100%
Professor YUEN Ming Fai R IBHI% 6/6 0/0 100%

Notes:

1 Mr. ZHAO Hui, due to change in personal work arrangements,
resigned as a non-executive Director on March 20, 2023;

2 Dr. DU Wei, due to change in personal work arrangements,
resigned as a non-executive Director on March 20, 2023;

3 Dr. FENG Tao, due to his physical condition, resigned from his
position as a non-executive Director on April 3, 2023;

4 Ms. CHEN Qingqging was appointed as an executive Director
on May 11, 2023;

5 Dr. ZHANG Jiaxin and Mr. HU Houwei were appointed as non-
executive Directors on May 11, 2023.
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Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Each of the executive Directors, non-executive Directors and
independent non-executive Directors of our Company has entered
into a service contract with our Company for a term of three
years following his/her respective appointment date unless it is
terminated in accordance with their respective terms. The term of
appointment of each Director is subject to retirement by rotation
and re-election at general meeting in accordance with the Articles
of Association and the Listing Rules.

Our Company may, in accordance with the Articles of Association,
by ordinary resolution remove any Director before the expiration of
his/her term of office.

Where vacancies on the Board exist, the Nomination Committee
evaluates skills, knowledge and experience required by the
Board, and identifies if there are any special requirements for
the vacancy. The Nomination Committee identifies appropriate
candidates and convenes Nomination Committee meeting
to discuss and vote in respect of the nominated Directors
and recommends candidates for Directors to the Board. The
Nomination Committee considers candidates with individual skills,
experience and professional knowledge that can best assist
and facilitate the effectiveness of the Board. The Nomination
Committee also takes our Company’s board diversity policy (the
“‘Board Diversity Policy”) into consideration when it considers the
balance of composition of the Board as a whole.
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Duties of the Board of Directors and the Management

In accordance with the rights and duties stipulated in the Articles
of Association, the Board reports to the general meeting and is
responsible for implementing resolutions of the general meeting,
safeguarding interests of the Company and all Shareholders, and
making decisions on the Company’s development goals and major
business activities. The rights of the Board include, but not limited
to, laying down strategies and overseeing their implementation,
directly and indirectly through its committees leading and
providing direction to the management, monitoring the Group’s
operation and financial performance, ensuring that sound internal
control and risk management systems are in place, and other
rights conferred by the Articles of Association.

All Directors, including non-executive Directors and independent
non-executive Directors, have brought a wide spectrum of
valuable business experience, knowledge and professionalism to
the Board for its efficient and effective functioning. All Directors
have full and timely access to all the data of the Company
and may, upon request, seek independent professional advice
in appropriate circumstances for discharging their duties to
the Company. The independent non-executive Directors are
responsible for earnestly reviewing significant matters to be
resolved by the Board and exercising their voting rights on an
independent, prudent and objective basis, to effectively safeguard
legitimate rights and interests of the Company and its public
Shareholders.

Daily management, administration and operation of the Group are
delegated to the management, which is responsible for overseeing
the Company’s production, operation and management,
organising and implementing the resolutions of the Board
and other duties stipulated in the Articles of Association. The
delegated functions and duties should be periodically reviewed by
the Board. Approval shall be obtained from the Board prior to any
major transaction that can be entered into by the management
that exceeds the approved annual budget.
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Under Code Provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman
and chief executive should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual. In view of Dr. Liu’s experience,
personal profile and his roles in our Company and that Dr. Liu has
assumed the role of general manager of our Company since our
commencement of business, the Board considers it beneficial to
the business prospect and operational efficiency of our Company
that Dr. Liu acts as the chairman of the Board and continues to
act as the general manager of our Company.

While this will constitute a deviation from the code provision, the
Board believes that this structure will not impair the balance of
power and authority between the Board and the management of
our Company, given that: (i) decision to be made by our Board
requires approval by at least a majority of our Directors; (ii) Dr.
Liu and the other Directors are aware of and undertake to fulfil
their fiduciary duties as Directors, which require, among other
things, that he acts for the benefit and in the best interests of our
Company and will make decisions for our Company accordingly;
and (iii) the balance of power and authority is ensured by the
operations of the Board which comprises experienced and high
caliber individuals who meet regularly to discuss issues affecting
the operations of our Company. Moreover, the overall strategic
and other key business, financial, and operational policies of our
Company are made collectively after thorough discussion at both
Board and senior management levels. The Board will continue to
review the effectiveness of the corporate governance structure of
our Company in order to assess whether separation of the roles of
chairman of the Board and chief executive officer is necessary.
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Independence of Independent Non-Executive Directors

During the Reporting Period and up to the Latest Practicable Date,
our Company has four independent non-executive Directors, who
at all times meet the requirements of the Listing Rules that the
number of independent non-executive Directors must represent
at least one-third of the Board and should not be less than three,
and that at least one of the independent non-executive Directors
has appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise.

The Board has received written annual confirmation from each
independent non-executive Director of his independence pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Our Company considers all
independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has signed a
service agreement with our Company for a term of three years
following his respective appointment date and will terminate
in accordance with the terms and conditions stated in the
agreement. Independent non-executive Directors are required to
inform our Company if there is any change that may affect their
independence.

Induction and Continuing Development of Directors

All Directors will comply with Code Provision C.1.4 of the CG
Code that all Directors participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
The Directors will be provided with amendments to or updates on
the relevant laws, rules and regulations and the Listing Rules to
keep them abreast of the latest development.

Directors should participate in appropriate continuing professional
development to develop and update their knowledge and skills.
The Company will arrange internal lectures/seminars for Directors,
and provide reading materials on relevant topics. The Company
encourages all Directors to attend relevant training courses at the
Company’s expense.

Every newly appointed Director should receive formal,
comprehensive and tailored induction on the first occasion of his/
her appointment to ensure an appropriate understanding of the
business and operations of our Company and full awareness of
the Director’s responsibilities and obligations under the Listing
Rules and relevant statutory requirements.
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Durir@jtrpwe Reporting Period, our Company arranged, and all SEHA @ AAREBLZEBEEMAZESHELFHAN
Directors attended, the seminar training on the Listing Rules and 2RRIAZEBEMAENEE LEHRAREBEHFAN
other aspects of Hong Kong securities laws conducted by the HtZEMMIE - ARBEIMEEIRE THRAE
legal advisor of our Company and relevant training materials were &= o AE&ERWMT ¢

distributed to all the Directors. Details are as follows:

Training content
EHIRE

Compliance training Requirements for
for Hong Kong share schemes under Hong Kong
listed companies the Hong Kong Stock Exchange
(Corporate Governance) Listing Rules regulatory update
EBELTATR BBELTRIBER BB

Name EE# & EREN (DEER) B 1D 5T B ER EEBREN
Executive Directors
BiITESE
Dr. LIU Yong v/ 4 v
ZIEEL
Dr. CHEN Jianping 4 4 v
BREEF B+
Mr. LI Bu 4 4 v
Eibivs
Ms. CHEN Qingging 4 v
RESZL
Non-Executive Directors
FHTES
Dr. HONG Kunxue 4 v v
iR+
Dr. ZHOU Hongbin 4 4 v
&) 7 % 1
Dr. ZHANG Jiaxin 4 v
RIEBHEL
Mr. HU Houwei 4 v
AEEEE
Mr. ZHAO Hui 4
B L&
Dr. DU Wei v
HEEL
Dr. FENG Tao 4
EsiEL
Independent Non-Executive Directors
BYFHTES
Mr. LIANG Guodong 4 4 v
REREE
Dr. XIA Lijun 4 4 v
EVEHL
Professor GAO Feng v/ 4 v
GAO Feng#i%
Professor YUEN Ming Fai 4 v v

REEHIK




MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

Our Company has adopted the Model Code since the Listing
Date.

We have made specific inquiries to all Directors and Supervisors,
and all Directors and Supervisors have confirmed that they
have complied with the Model Code in conducting securities
transactions of the Company during the Reporting Period.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely, the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration and Appraisal Committee, and the
Nomination Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of our
Company’s affairs. All Board committees of our Company are
established with defined written terms of reference which are
available for Shareholders’ viewing on the Company’s website and
the Stock Exchange’s website.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee consists of three members, including two
independent non-executive Directors, namely Dr. XIA Lijun
and Professor YUEN Ming Fai and one non-executive Director,
namely Dr. ZHOU Hongbin. Dr. XIA Lijun has been appointed
as the chairman of the Audit Committee, and is our independent
non-executive Director holding the appropriate professional
qualifications.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review and
supervise the financial reporting process and internal control
system of our Company, oversee the audit process, review and
oversee the existing and potential risks of our Company and
perform other duties and responsibilities as assigned by our
Board.
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Durin\g the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee reviewed the
Group’s annual results and annual report for the year ended
December 31, 2022, the interim results and interim report for the
first half of 2023, financial reports and compliance procedures,
and the Company’s internal control and risk management systems
and processes. The Audit Committee held 2 meetings in total, and
the attendance of each member of the Audit Committee meeting
is as follows:

WEAA - B R E SR BHASEEZR 2022512
AS1ALEFENFEXERFERE - 2023F ¥
FHHFEEBERFIRE  BBHEHRERERER -
ANABHAZEG RREAREREXGIRE - Bit R
Befifoie®  SKELEBITZESEEEN
E A CNE

Attendance in Attendance by

person/number way of proxy/number

of meetings of meetings

during tenure during tenure

BEHERH EREHERY,

Member of Audit Committee ErEEERE ERARERAH ERFEERRE

Dr. XIA Lijun (Chairman) BYEEL(£E) 2/2 0/0

Dr. ZHOU Hongbin BZRE L 2/2 0/0

Professor YUEN Ming Fai REIBHIR 2/2 0/0
Remuneration and Appraisal Committee FHEERZERS

The Remuneration and Appraisal Committee consists of five
members, including four independent non-executive Directors,
namely Dr. XIA Lijun, Mr. LIANG Guodong, Professor GAO Feng
and Professor YUEN Ming Fai, and one executive Director,
namely Mr. LI Bu. Professor YUEN Ming Fai is the chairman of the
Remuneration and Appraisal Committee.

The primary duties of the Remuneration and Appraisal Committee
are to establish and review the remuneration policy and
structure for the Directors and senior management and make
recommendations on employee benefit arrangement; taking into
account their qualification, position and seniority, the Directors’
remunerations are determined by our Board based on the
recommendation of the Remuneration and Appraisal Committee;
and the Remuneration and Appraisal Committee also review
matters relating to share schemes under Chapter 17 of the Listing
Rules.

FMREZZE SR RAKEEN  BREOEBTL
FNTEFELERL - REMELE - GAO Feng
BEEREERBEAR —BRTESEFHALE - R
HEHERFMRERZESIE -

FNEEZZBE T BERERMEREHNESER
BREEENTFMERRRE  IRBTRMNZH
EHER KEBEEE  BUMEE  BEFENFH
MhEZeREFMEERZEeNEBEREE
E o RBHLETRUNET CEMELEBERNFTEIM
EH-



During the Reporting Period, the Remuneration and Appraisal
Committee reviewed the performance of the Company’s executive
Directors and senior management in 2022, and determined the
specific remuneration packages of all Directors, Supervisors
and senior management in 2023 and the related matters of the
amendment of the Company’s H-share incentive plan approved
by the Board. The Remuneration and Appraisal Committee held
a total of 1 meeting, and the attendance of each member at the
Remuneration and Appraisal Committee meetings is as follows:
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TEERRAEEENRBRER  BE2023FHME
B EEReATEEMNARTHNTBREES
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ZRZESHEAIREHE  SKELEFIMNEEZ
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Attendance in Attendance by

person/number  way of proxy/number

of meetings of meetings

during tenure during tenure

Member of Remuneration and FEHERE ZXHERE

Appraisal Committee FMEEREZESERE ERHEEBERE ERHEEERE

Professor YUEN Ming Fai (Chairman) =$1B#5%5% (/&) 1/1 0/0

Dr. XIA Lijun EVEFL 1/1 0/0

Mr. LIANG Guodong PRI E 1/1 0/0

Professor GAO Feng GAO Feng#i 1/1 0/0

Mr. LI Bu THEE 11 0/0

Mr. ZHAO Hui’ FEIE S A 11 0/0

Dr. DU Wei? MR IE L2 11 0/0
Notes: it -

1 Mr. ZHAO Hui, due to change in personal work arrangements, 1 A REA TIEEE) - 1202343 H20H

resigned as a non-executive Director and a member of the
Remuneration and Appraisal Committee of the Board on March
20, 2023;

2 Dr. DU Wei, due to change in personal work arrangements,
resigned as a non-executive Director and a member of the
Remuneration and Appraisal Committee of the Board on March
20, 2023.

BEFPTESTRESTEHFIEERZEEZ

2 TEELREATIFZS - $12023F3A20R
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The remuneration of the members of senior management by band
for the year ended December 31, 2023 is set out below:

B E2023F12A31HIEFE  SREREAB M
FEFHHIOT

Number of

senior management

Remuneration to the senior management EREEABFMEE (ARY) BREEEAY
by bands (RMB)

2,000,000 - 3,000,000 2,000,000 - 3,000,000 4

3,000,000 - 4,000,000 3,000,000 - 4,000,000 0

12,000,000 - 13,000,000 12,000,000 - 13,000,000 0

18,000,000 - 19,000,000 18,000,000 - 19,000,000 0

Total Fob 4

Details of the remuneration of the Directors, Supervisors and
senior management for the year ended December 31, 2023 are
set out in note 8 to the consolidated financial statements in this
report.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee consists of four members, including
one executive Director, namely Dr. LIU Yong, and three
independent non-executive Directors, namely Professor GAO
Feng, Mr. LIANG Guodong and Dr. XIA Lijun. Dr. LIU Yong,
the Chairman of the Board, is the chairman of the Nomination
Committee. The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are
to make recommendations to our Board on the appointment and
removal of Directors of our Company.

BE2023F12A31HIEFEMNES  EENak
EEEFNFBIRANRELE T HIRERMES -

REEZEE

REZEBeHNEREBAR  BE-2ZHNTEEE
BELR=FBYIFNITESRGAO Feng#ix - R
RREEREYERFL - EE2SIFIBBFLRIE
FEBEEIF - REZEBEZIERAER/RARA
EENZERBRAESSEHES



During the Reporting Period, the Nomination Committee evaluated
the structure, composition and number of the first session of
the Board of the Company. The Nomination Committee held a
total of 2 meetings, and the attendance of each member at the
Nomination Committee meetings is as follows:
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Attendance in Attendance by

person/number  way of proxy/number

of meetings of meetings

during tenure during tenure

Member of Nomination BEHERE ERHERE

Committee REZEENE ERBEERIRE ERBEERRE

Dr. LIU Yong (Chairman) BBl (FE) 2/2 0/0

Dr. FENG Tao' EREEL 1/1 0/0

Professor GAO Feng GAO Feng#i# 2/2 0/0

Mr. LIANG Guodong R E 2/2 0/0

Dr. XIA Lijun VAR 2/2 0/0
Note: Hiat -

1 Dr. FENG Tao, due to his physical condition, resigned as 1 BEEETEEASZERA - 1R2023F4 305

a non-executive Director and a member of the Nomination
Committee on April 3, 2023.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

In order to enhance the effectiveness of our Board and to maintain
the high standard of corporate governance, we have adopted the
Board Diversity Policy which sets out the objective and approach
to achieve and maintain diversity of our Board. Pursuant to our
Board Diversity Policy, we seek to achieve the diversity of our
Board through the consideration of a number of factors when
selecting the candidates for our Board, including but not limited to
gender, skills, age, professional experience, knowledge, cultural,
education background, ethnicity and length of service. The
ultimate decision of the appointment will be based on merit and
the contribution which the selected candidates will bring to our
Board.
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We have taken, and will continue to take, steps to promote gender
diversity at all levels of our Company, including but not limited to
our Board and the senior management levels. In particular, our
chief financial officer, who is responsible for financing activities,
investor relationship, internal auditing and control and corporate
governance of the Group, and chief quality officer, are female
and form a part of our management team. On May 11, 2023, Ms.
CHEN Qingging was appointed as an executive Director of the
Company, which has achieved the goal of appointing a female
Director.
gender diversity of our Board.

Going forward, we will continue to work to enhance

Our Nomination Committee is responsible for ensuring the diversity
of our Board members. Our Nomination Committee will monitor the
implementation of our Board Diversity Policy, and will review our
Board composition at least once annually taking into account our
Board Diversity Policy as a whole. When making recommendations
on Board appointments, our Nomination Committee will adhere
to our Board Diversity Policy with the ultimate goal of achieving
greater gender diversity of the Board. We will also continue to
ensure that there is gender diversity when recruiting staff at mid
to senior level so that we will have a pipeline of female senior
management and potential successors to our Board in due time to
ensure gender diversity of our Board.

Our Directors have a balanced mix of knowledge and skills,
are equipped with experiences in various aspects and fields,
and have obtained degrees in various majors. We have four
independent non-executive Directors with different industry
backgrounds, representing one-third of the members of our Board.
Furthermore, our Board has a balanced age representation.
Taking into account our existing business model and specific
needs as well as the different backgrounds of our Directors, the
composition of the Board complies with the provisions of the
Listing Rules on gender diversity of members of the Board and
our Board Diversity Policy. Our Nomination Committee will review
and monitor the implementation of our Board Diversity Policy from
time to time to ensure its continued effectiveness.
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The Group attaches great importance to promoting diversity in
the workforce, including gender, and strives to create equal, fair
and high-quality job opportunities for its employees, as well as
to create a diverse and equal workplace atmosphere. Diversity
of job skills, experience, age and gender is also taken into
account when recruiting employees. As of December 31, 2023,
the number of female employees in our Group has accounted
for approximately 44.49% of the total number of employees
(including senior management), which is at a reasonable level.
Our Group will continue to emphasize training of female talent,
protecting female's rights and interests, and providing long-
term development opportunities for our female employees. The
Company expects to maintain reasonable gender diversity at
the employee level. The Company is not aware of any factors or
circumstances that would make achieving gender diversity for all
employees (including senior management) more challenging or
irrelevant.

For details of the Group’s employee composition and related
policies, please refer to the section headed “Employees” in
this report and the Company’s 2023 Environmental, Social and
Governance Report.

Independent Views and Opinions

The Board has established relevant mechanisms to ensure that
the Board obtains independent views and opinions. According to
the provisions of the Articles of Association, the Board includes
four independent non-executive Directors, at least one of whom
must have appropriate professional qualifications or appropriate
accounting or related financial management expertise. In addition
to regular Board meetings, the Chairman will also hold one
meeting with independent non-executive Directors each year
when other Directors are not present.
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The Company has also formulated the Work Policy for
Independent Non-executive Directors, which provides for the
terms of employment and duties of independent non-executive
Directors, and clearly provides that the Company shall provide
the necessary working conditions for the independent non-
executive Directors to perform their duties. The policy also sets
out the special terms of reference of the independent non-
executive Directors, such as significant connected transaction
shall be subject to the consent of independent non-executive
Directors before submitting them to the Board for discussion, the
appointment or removal of an accounting firm shall be subject to
the consent of half or more of all the independent non-executive
Directors before proposing to the Board for discussion, as well
as proposing the Board to convene an extraordinary general
meeting, proposing to convene a Board meeting, publicly
soliciting voting rights from Shareholders prior to the shareholders’
general meeting. The Company assesses the independence of
the independent non-executive Directors on an annual basis to
ensure that they are able to make independent judgements on an
ongoing basis. The independent non-executive Directors will also
submit a duty report to the annual general meeting.

During the Reporting Period, the Board has complied with the
above relevant provisions and the above mechanisms have been
effective in providing independent views and opinions for the
Board. The Board will review the implementation and effectiveness
of the aforesaid mechanisms annually.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for determining the corporate
governance policy of our Company and performing the functions
set out in Code Provision A.2.1 of the CG Code. The Board
reviews our Company’'s corporate governance policies and
practices, training and continuous professional development of the
Directors, Supervisors and senior management, our Company’s
policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements, and our Company’s compliance with the CG Code,
our Company’s code of conduct applicable to its employees and
Directors, and disclosure in its Corporate Governance Report
during the Reporting Period.

The Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills by the Company. The joint company secretaries of
our Company may from time to time and as the circumstances
required, provide updated written training materials relating to the
roles, functions and duties of a director of a company listed on
the Stock Exchange.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Directors’ Responsibilities for Financial Reporting in
Respect of Financial Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
audited consolidated financial statements of our Company for the
year ended December 31, 2023.

The Directors are responsible for overseeing the preparation
of financial statements of our Company with a view to ensuring
that such financial statements give a true and fair view of the
state of affairs of the Group and relevant statutory and regulatory
requirements and applicable accounting standards are complied
with as well as such internal control as the Directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of the financial statements
that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

The Board has received from the senior management of our
Company the management accounts and such accompanying
explanation and information as are necessary to enable the Board
to make an informed assessment for approving the financial
statements.

Oversight by our Audit Committee

In accordance with the duties and responsibilities set out under
its terms of reference, the Audit Committee assists the Board by
providing objective review of our Company’s accounting policies,
financial position, financial reporting procedures and financial
controls as well as the integrity, accuracy and fairness of our
Company'’s financial statements. In addition, the Audit Committee
discusses any questions or doubts that may be raised by the
external auditors and reviews the external auditors’ independent
letter of audit and other proposals to the senior management of
our Company.

Annual Report 2023
ZRC=EER

Corporate Governance Report
EEREE

( ‘
-

BEERER

EEURBMEBERRNYERENERE

EEMRABERUARNAEZ=2023F12A318 1k
FEE 2 REBEZIEATBRERNET -

ESRAREEARAMBRERNER - UBERZF
MHHRRAEERA VI RRAEE N FEHMIIA R
BTERAEMNEERE ARG ER  YHE
REREFBERRNEETFEARKFERERM
B E RS AR R AL P 7 H O DR

=

EERCWEFATBRERERANEEEAR
BEEEEE B SRR EH BT TR
EIBEN BRI R AR -

REIEEEEE

REFAZESRESEMROBEMAME - B
ZESEBREBARANG B - BB -
BRI T R BES - ARBEARRFEIRE
BN - ERELR QTN EEREMN  mHES
g o IS B R B G R IMNE R B A LR H A
EARRERFRZE - WEMIMEZBE AR R
BREEELANBYRABANBEXNEMERE

EEE -

113

|

J




114

Jiangsu Recbio Technology Co., Ltd.
SIERMENEMRHHRAF

Corporate Governance Report
SEEREE

y
Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the risk
management and internal control systems and reviewing
their effectiveness. We are subject to various risks during
our operations, the details of which are set out in the section
headed “Risk Factors” in the Prospectus and the section headed
“Directors’ Report — Principal Risks and Uncertainties” in this
report. Our Company has established a comprehensive risk
management system and relevant policies and procedures which
we consider suitable for our business operations. Our policies and
procedures are aimed at managing and monitoring our business
performance. We have adopted, or will continue to adopt, among
other things, the following risk management measures:

. establish the Audit Committee to review and supervise our
financial reporting process and internal control system.
Our Audit Committee consists of three members: Dr. XIA
Lijun (the chairman of the committee), Professor YUEN
Ming Fai and Dr. ZHOU Hongbin. For the qualifications and
experiences of these members, please refer to the section
headed “Biographies of our Directors, Supervisors and
Senior Management” in this report;

° adopt various policies to ensure the compliance with
the Listing Rules, including but not limited to policies in
respect of risk management, connected transactions and
information disclosure;

o provide regular anti-corruption and anti-bribery compliance
training for senior management and employees in order to
enhance their knowledge of and compliance of applicable
laws and regulations; and

° arrange our Directors and senior management to attend
training seminars on Listing Rules requirements and
the responsibilities as directors of a Hong Kong-listed
company.
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As a crucial part of our internal control system, we have adopted
stringent procedures to protect the confidentiality of clinical trial
data we collected. Sensitive patient data we obtained in our
clinical trial is stored in the Internet data center established and
owned by us. Our clinical operation department is responsible
for supervising the data protection practice during clinical trials.
We have kept all patient data such as personal information since
they enrolled in our clinical trials for an indefinite period unless
deletion of such data is required by relevant laws and regulations
or requested by the relevant users. We also provide on-board
training with respect to the handling of personal data to all of our
employees when they join us.

We have also adopted a set of anti-corruption policies. Our
management team and Audit Committee are responsible for
designing and implementing our anti-corruption policies and
procedures as well as overseeing our anti-corruption practice.
Our employee handbook and code of conduct sets standard
requirement for our employees in relation to anti-corruption
policies. We have also established a whistle blower program to
encourage employees to report any suspicious conduct and we
will initiate our internal investigation on such suspicious conduct
if necessary. Any employee found in breach of the relevant anti-
corruption policies faces termination of employment. We also
provide anti-corruption training to our employees on an annual
basis.

We value the environmental, social and climate-related impact that
our operations may have during our daily operations. Our senior
management are responsible for overseeing our environmental,
social and climate-related practice. We also encourage our
employees to report any issues or risks in this area they spot in
daily operations. We have also implemented stringent procedures,
which cover crucial aspects of our operations, to ensure that
our environmental, social and climate-related practice complies
with the applicable PRC laws and regulations. We value the
wellbeing of our employees and we have also adopted a series of
procedures to ensure that our health and safety practice complies
with applicable PRC laws and regulations. We also adopt a
whistle-blowing policy through which our employees can report
any health or safety related incidents on an anonymous basis.
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We have also adopted an information disclosure policy, through
which our Directors, senior management and employees are
provided with thorough guidance on the internal approval
procedures as well as the disclosure and/or Shareholders’
approval requirements under the Listing Rules and other
applicable laws and regulations in relation to inside information,
notifiable transactions, connected transactions and other material
events concerning our Group.

Prior to the Listing Date, we have appointed an internal control
consultant to review the effectiveness of our internal control
measures related to our major business processes, to identify the
deficiencies for improvement, advise on the rectification measures
and review the implementation of such measures. During
the review process of our internal control consultant, certain
internal control matters were identified and we have adopted
corresponding internal control measures to improve on these
matters. We have adopted the recommendations made by the
internal control consultant, and our internal control consultant has
completed the follow-up procedures on our internal control system
with regard to those actions taken by us in June 2021 and has not
identified any material deficiencies in our internal control system.

The Company also takes the following measures:

(a) The Company has developed and adopted various risk
management procedures and guidelines with defined
authority for implementation by key business processes
and office functions. All departments conduct internal
control assessment regularly to identify risks that may
impact the business of the Group and various aspects
including key operational and financial processes,
regulatory compliance and information security.

In accordance with the risk-oriented principle, the
Company has determined the main units, businesses
and events and the high-risk areas included in the
scope of assessment. There are four main units, i.e.,
the Company and its majority-owned subsidiaries. The
main businesses and events include four aspects, i.e.,
internal environment, major control activities, information
communication and internal supervision. The high-
risk areas of focus mainly include capital management,
engineering project management, seal management, R&D
management, contract management, human resource
management, procurement and payment management,
asset management and information system management.
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(c) According to the requirements of the regulation system
on internal control of enterprises for the identification of
material deficiencies, important deficiencies and ordinary
deficiencies, with reference to the Company’s size,
industry characteristics, risk preference, risk tolerance and
other factors, the Board distinguished between internal
control over financial reporting and that over non-financial
reporting and has established the specific identification
criteria for internal control deficiencies applicable to the
Company. The Board acknowledges its responsibility
for the risk management and internal control systems
and reviewing their effectiveness. Such systems are
designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure
to achieve business objectives, and can only provide
reasonable but not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or omission.

(d) The Company has set up an internal audit department to
report to the Audit Committee for assisting the Board in
leading the management and supervising the assessment
and improvement of the Company’s internal control system,
and make recommendations accordingly.

The internal audit department, in coordination with other
departments, assesses the likelihood of risk occurrence, provides
response plans and monitors the risk management progress,
and reports to the Audit Committee and the Board on all findings
and the effectiveness of related systems. The management
has reported to the Board and the Audit Committee on the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems
for the Reporting Period.

The Board, as supported by the Audit Committee as well as
the management, conducts an effectiveness review of the risk
management and internal control systems at least once a year.
During the Reporting Period, the Board has conducted an
annual review of the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems, including the financial, operational and
compliance controls, for the Reporting Period, and considered
that such systems are effective and adequate.

The Company has developed its disclosure policy which provides
a general guide to its Directors, Supervisors, senior management
and relevant employees in handling confidential information,
monitoring information disclosure and responding to enquiries.
Control procedures have been implemented by the Company to
ensure that unauthorised access and use of inside information are
strictly prohibited.
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Auditors’ Remuneration

The statement of the external auditors of our Company about their
reporting responsibilities for the financial statements is set out in
the “Independent Auditor's Report” on pages 125 to 133 in this
report.

For the year ended December 31, 2023, the fees for non-audit
services not incurred by and audit services rendered by our
external auditors, Ernst & Young were as follows:

BB AT Y &

AARINEZBMEEEERRUERERETZE
BRE A AR E 125 133 B 1) [ B A HENRE | »

HZE2023F 12 A31HIEFE © BLINERZERED &2 oK
SEHMEBMARAELEIEZBRBER @ Friet 2%
HRBEROT :

Fees

(RMB’000)

=33

(AR®F )

Audit services ZEURTS 2,360
JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES BEATWE

Ms. CHEN Qingging and Ms. HO Yin Kwan are our joint company
secretaries, the current primary contact person of the Company
with Ms. HO Yin Kwan is Ms. CHEN Qingqing. For biographical
details of our joint company secretaries, please refer to the
section headed “Biographies of our Directors, Supervisors and
Senior Management” in this report. Ms. Chen and Ms. Ho have
undertaken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training
in compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

RESRERABEHL L RARABERARME
AAGBAEAREL IO EIEBRRARRES
T - FHBEARNESNERFE  F2HARE
[BEF EFERoREBRERE | — - Rzt kA
ZEERE FTRANEI2EEZTLR15/NE T
HEZREEI -



SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening of Extraordinary General Meetings by
Shareholders

Pursuant to Article 56 of the Articles of Association, the
Shareholders individually or jointly holding more than 10%
(including 10%) of total Shares with voting rights of our Company
have the right to propose an extraordinary general meeting to
the Board, the Board shall provide written feedback on whether
to convene the meeting. In the case of disapproval, or no
written reply of the Board is given within 10 days, the foregoing
Shareholders may submit a written request to the Supervisory
Board to convene an extraordinary general meeting. If the
Supervisory Board fails to issue a notice of general meeting
within 5 days, the Shareholders individually or jointly holding
more than 10% of Shares with voting rights of the Company for
90 consecutive days or above may convene and preside over the
meeting on its/their own.

Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

Unless otherwise provided in the Articles of Association, the
Shareholders holding, individually or jointly, more than 3% of our
Company’s Shares may submit a general meeting proposal to the
Company and have the right to submit a proposal to the convener
before 10 days ahead of the date of the shareholders’ general
meeting.

As regards the procedures for Shareholders to propose a
candidate for election as a Director, the detailed procedures are
available for viewing on our Company’s website (www.recbio.cn).
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS/INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company has a shareholder communication policy and
reviews it annually to ensure its effectiveness. To promote
effective communication, our Company maintains a company
website at www.recbio.cn, where up-to-date information and
updates on our business operations and developments, financial
information, corporate governance practices and other information
are available for public access.

The general meetings of our Company provide a forum and
an important channel for communication between the Board
and the Shareholders. The Chairman of the Board as well as
chairmen of the Nomination Committee, Remuneration and
Appraisal Committee and Audit Committee or, in their absence,
other members of the respective committees, will be available
at the annual general meeting and other relevant shareholder
meetings to answer questions. In addition, during the periods of
interim results and annual results release, our Company may hold
conference calls and/or non-deal roadshows to ensure effective
and timely communication with Shareholders and investors.
Shareholders and investors may also write to our Company at
its principal place of business in Hong Kong or China or via our
Company’s website for any enquiries. Our Company normally also
accommodates Shareholders’ and investors’ requests to site visits
and management meetings to the extent reasonably practicable.
The Company has reviewed its shareholder communication policy
and related measures, and believes that the policy has been
effectively implemented during the Reporting Period.
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Attendance of Directors at Shareholders’ Meetings EEHERREASNER

During the Reporting Period, the Company held one annual $REHA X AQRRBR—KXFEREAE - — X
general meeting, one extraordinary general meeting and two class BRRERASULMAERNBRE S  ESHERE
shareholders meetings. The attendance of Directors at the general AEWIBE R :

meeting is as follows:

Attendance
Attendance in by way of
person/number proxy/number
of meetings of meetings
during tenure during tenure  Attendance Rate
HEHEXH EEHERE
Member of the Board EEEHE TRANEEAH THBIEESERE HE=E
Dr. LIU Yong 2EiE 4/4 0/0 100%
Dr. CHEN Jianping FRIE 151+ 4/4 0/0 100%
Mr. LI Bu T 4/4 0/0 100%
Ms. CHEN Qingging BREFTLL 3/3 0/0 100%
Dr. HONG Kunxue HIHEBE 4/4 0/0 100%
Dr. ZHOU Hongbin BB iE L 4/4 0/0 100%
Mr. HU Houwei tHEE L 3/3 0/0 100%
Dr. ZHANG Jiaxin REZEBLT 3/3 0/0 100%
Mr. ZHAO Hui LA - - -
Dr. DU Wei HEE - - -
Dr. FENG Tao EREtL - - -
Mr. LIANG Guodong REIBREE 4/4 0/0 100%
Dr. XIA Lijun EvVEiEL 4/4 0/0 100%
Professor GAO Feng GAO Feng##% 4/4 0/0 100%
Professor YUEN Ming Fai R $4IBHIK 4/4 0/0 100%
Notes: Hiat -
1 Mr. ZHAO Hui, due to change in personal work arrangements, 1 HEIE S EEA TIEEE) - 7202353 H20H
resigned as a non-executive Director on March 20, 2023; B AIEMITE BRI ¢
2 Dr. DU Wei, due to change in personal work arrangements, 2 TEE L EEATIERS - 12023F3A20R
resigned as a non-executive Director on March 20, 2023; B AR ITE SR ¢
3 Dr. FENG Tao, due to his physical conditions, resigned from 3 ERBELRBEAFERE - 722023F4 A3HE
his position as a non-executive Director on April 3, 2023; KIERITEERT
4 Ms. CHEN Qingging was appointed as an executive Director 4 PREBSLZLH2023F5 A 11 AEZEANITE
on May 11, 2023; E
5 Dr. ZHANG Jiaxin and Mr. HU Houwei were appointed as non- 5 RESH L RBAERLEN2023F5 11 HE

executive Directors on May 11, 2023, LZERFENITES -
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DIVIDEND POLICY

Our Company did not declare or pay dividends on our Shares
during the Reporting Period. Our Company currently expects to
retain all future earnings for use in the operation and expansion of
our business and does not anticipate paying cash dividends in the
foreseeable future. The declaration and payment of any dividends
in the future will be determined by our Board, in its discretion,
and will depend on a number of factors, including our earnings,
capital requirements, overall financial condition and contractual
restrictions. If our Company pays dividends in the future, in order
for our Company to distribute dividends to its Shareholders, it
will rely to some extent on any dividends distributed by our PRC
subsidiaries. Any dividend distributions from our PRC subsidiaries
to us will be subject to PRC withholding tax. In addition,
regulations in the PRC currently permit payment of dividends of
a PRC company only out of accumulated distributable after-tax
profits as determined in accordance with its articles of association
and the accounting standards and regulations in China. We are
subject to PRC governmental controls on currency conversion,
and the fluctuation of the Renminbi exchange rate may materially
and adversely affect our business and our ability to pay dividends
to holders of H Shares. In the future, we may rely to some extent
on dividends and other distributions on equity from our principal
operating subsidiaries to fund offshore cash and financing
requirements. We are subject to PRC governmental controls
on currency conversion, and the fluctuation of the Renminbi
exchange rate may materially and adversely affect our business
and our ability to pay dividends to holders of H Shares.

The Dividend Policy of our Company provides that our Company
in general meeting may declare dividends in any currency but no
dividends shall exceed the amount recommended by the Board.
Subject to the Company’s Shareholders’ resolution, our Company
may also pay half-yearly or at other intervals to be selected by it
any dividend which may be payable at a fixed rate if the Board is
of the opinion that the profits available for distribution justify the
payment.
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CONTACT DETAILS

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as mentioned
above to the following:

Address: No. 888, Yaocheng Avenue, Medical High-tech
District, Taizhou City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC

Fax: 0523-86866018

Email: ir@recbio.cn

For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholders must deposit and send
the original duly signed written requisition, notice or statement, or
enquiry (as the case may be) to the above address and provide
their full name, contact details and identification in order to give
effect thereto. Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as
required by law.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

References are made to the Company’'s announcement dated
August 25, 2023, its circular dated September 6, 2023 and its
announcement dated September 21, 2023 in relation to, among
others, the Company’s certain amendments to the Articles of
Association based on the Company Law of the People’s Republic
of China, the Trial Administrative Measures of Overseas Securities
Offering and Listing by Domestic Companies, the regulatory
rules of the CSRC, the Stock Exchange and other relevant laws,
regulations, normative documents and the Articles of Association,
and in light of the Guidelines on Articles of Association of Listed
Companies, which came into effect after consideration and
approval by the extraordinary general meeting, class meeting
for holders of domestic shares and unlisted foreign shares and
H share class meeting held on September 21, 2023. For details
of the full text of the revised Articles of Association, please refer
to the Articles of Association published on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange on September 21, 2023.

Save as disclosed above, there is no material change in the
Articles of Association during the Reporting Period. The latest
version of the Articles of Association of the Company is also
published on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange.
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~ Jiangsu Recbio Technology Co., Ltd.

By order of the Board

Jiangsu Recbio Technology Co., Ltd.
Chairman

Dr. LIU Yong

Jiangsu Province, the PRC
March 20, 2024
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Independent Auditor’s Report

To the shareholders of JJANGSU RECBIO TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD.
(Incorporated in the People’s Republic of China with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
JIANGSU RECBIO TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD. (the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on
pages 134 to 238, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2023, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including material accounting
policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRSs”) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board
(“IASB") and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

R ETE: e

BUIH BB ENRMBROERATAKRR
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"). Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our
audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report, including in relation to these
matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of
procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks
of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements.
The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures
performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for
our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial
statements.

RRER
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

B ES N AEERARETSER

Impairment assessment of goodwill and in-progress
research and development technology

The Group had goodwill and in-progress research
and development (“R&D”) technology, arising from
the acquisition of Beijing ABZYMO Biosciences Co.,
Ltd., amounting to RMB9,305,000 and RMB22,120,000,
respectively, as at 31 December 2023.

R2023F12A831H @ E5EKREILRZTABEMEEER
NAEAMNEERFAZPHE (THE]) B2 AARE
9,305,000 T M AR #22,120,0007T °

The Group is required to perform impairment tests of
goodwill and in-progress R&D technology at least on
an annual basis. The impairment tests are based on the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (“CGU")
to which the goodwill is allocated, and the recoverable
amount of in-progress R&D technology. The recoverable
amount of the CGU has been determined based on a
fair value less cost of disposal method using cash flow
projections.

BEEAE D REHEERRE R ERETRENR -
RENRENESREENRSELSN (REEESR )
I & B A R BB R B R T S 5 - BeE A
B 1 AT M) S R TV IR B B R R AR A T B B
FEEE -

Management established the impairment assessment
model with the involvement of an external independent
valuer and prepared a recoverable amount calculation
to estimate the future cash flows taking into account
key assumptions, including expected revenue growth
rate, budgeted gross margin, terminal growth rate and
pre-tax discount rate, and management considered no
impairment loss was necessary as at 31 December 2023
based on the impairment assessments being performed.

EEEBAEINBBLAEMNZETERENGRE - Wit
FARKRR (BEAEHAKGSERR BEENX  HRIIER
REBAREREK) REH TN OE BT A G RREDR
- BEEEERDSETHRER GRBABENR2023%F12
A31BFHRREREE

B K BB R B R R E R

Our procedures included, among others:

BMOEFEE (KT EHE)

1. Obtaining an understanding of key internal controls
related to impairment assessment of goodwill and
in-progress R&D technology;

1. TR B R K B B A AT SRR E R (B R R B S D
12l

2. Evaluating the competence and objectivity of the
independent valuer engaged by management;

2. A EREMERIE B EMMEN REEIE

3. Evaluating management'’s identification of the CGU
to which the goodwill is allocated;

3. HEEEENE R RBMNRESESEMABER

4. Assessing whether management’s impairment
assessment model is appropriate with the
involvement of our valuation specialists by reference
to industry practices and valuation techniques;

4. SETEEPIRMGENE  EAEER2ETHEER
B EFERILER A E
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Key audit matter

RAEE T EE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

B ES O AEERARETSER

This matter was significant to our audit considering the
impairment test process was complex and involved
significant judgements and estimates.

SR E RS BRESEL S REA MGG - WZEEY
RMOBHBEAX -

The Group’s disclosures about the impairment tests
of goodwill and in-progress R&D technology are
included in note 2.4 material accounting policies, note 3
Significant accounting judgements and estimates, note
15 Goodwill and note 16 Other intangible assets.

BEEEAHRELFAEPHERIMRERN AN KB E
2ABREFHEK  WESEAGFHE LGt - ME15%8
BLME16EMBELEE -

Assessing the reasonableness of the key
assumptions used in the cash flow projections,
including the expected revenue growth rate and
gross margin, by comparing them with the industry
research report, forecasts and actual performance
of similar products within the industry;

BEFRSREFAMERNBRER (BREBHRES
BEXREMNER) BTERAREREABRUERNE
ARERRBELER  FEZERROAEN

Evaluating the appropriateness of the pre-tax
discount rate and terminal growth rate adopted
with the involvement of our valuation specialists
by benchmarking market data and comparable
companies; and

TS BEEATALBRATMEREE  EEFTERNZ
ETFHEMRAFRAI R R RRKIERENEEME &

Verifying the adequacy of the disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements.

ZERAWBRET AERENTOME -
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

B ES N AEERARETSER

Cut-off of R&D costs

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
incurred research and development costs amounting
to RMB487,847,000. A large portion of the research
and development costs was clinical trial expenses and
service fees paid to contract research organisations
(“CROs"). The research and development activities with
these CROs are documented in detailed agreements
and are typically performed over an extended period.
Allocation of these costs to the appropriate reporting
period based on the progress of the research and
development projects requires estimations.

HZE2023F12A31AIEFE - ESEEAMBERNFTARE
487,847,0007T » HEKN AR EH H BiERRARA S R
FEOWEHERE ([EOWEEE ] NREE - BxE6 00
RRBEFBENA I EHRPFRELH  BEBAFR—BR
EMEEART - RIBEAREENEE  BZERESEE
WEREHEEEER AR -

This matter was significant to our audit given the amount
of R&D costs was significant and allocation of these
costs to the appropriate reporting period based on the
progress of the R&D projects involved judgement.

ENHERASBEERNMRBFHRE NERBZERED
REEEEREHS R RRERHRMNBAEEAX -

The Group's disclosures about R&D costs are included
in note 2.4 Material accounting policies and note 3
Significant accounting judgements and estimates.

BEEEBMMEKRANEERNME2 4EX G5B &M
AESEAE A HIE R fhE o

IR 3% AR

Our procedures included, among others:

BMOEFEE (KR EHE)

1. Obtaining an understanding of key internal controls
related to R&D costs and performing walk-through
tests for internal controls related to R&D costs;

1. TR R AN B RO A EES] - W BB A
BB A ERE BT T BRI,

2, Reviewing the key terms set out in agreements with
the CROs;

2. EB S WM T PTRT LR 85 B0 BB 5K

8. Evaluating the progress of the research and
development projects based on inquiry with project
managers and inspecting supporting documents;

3. HERMAEE KRR REFAXM - FEAEEREN
HER

4. Obtaining confirmations from the CROs, on a
sampling basis, to determine whether these costs
were recorded appropriately at the end of the year;
and

4. BT ABFENMARBHERE  UEBEZEK
ARENFREERLE &

5. Performing the search for unrecorded liabilities
procedure subsequent to the year ended 31
December 2023.

5. HEHE2023F12A31BIEFEZENRARAEET
B o
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL
REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and
fair view in accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee
in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

HERFHBAHHEMER

BERREFAHEMEERAR - RMbEEEETH
REBRANESR - EFEBREGS P BRR R 5
B A B R o

HPEGEAMBRRNELL NREEMES - &,
PR HZFEMEEBRREMEANEZES -

FBABMESEEPBRERNEST - RANEETREH
HEMER > AUBREY  EREEMESESEHER
BMBBRRIRMEZTBIETATHEOBRFE
EAREBEHEUTFEERERBRAMABER - 2R
BAERITHIE  IREMARSEMEEFEE
RERRAL - BHFTEREZFTE - EEHE - K
8B EIHRE

EERGREMBBRRARENER

BERRESARARERR S EANEESHMA
(BRI A& R RE B (R ARSI R ERE
REEEMTENEAMBRER  XHERRA/RE
RAEMBBRROBRBE TN FERRNKFRERMER
BB A RRAAFAREHEE

ERBFEMBEHRRE - BEARERAANE &
SEFELENREN  YEERBERTRERGE
REEMNBE  UREAKELERSTER
BRIF BRAREFEARS BEEEBRIFELE
2 IPEEMERNERTE -

EREZEEWY BEAREFRRTEE
MBHERRNEL -

BEEEN
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’'s report that includes our opinion. Our report is
made solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

R ETE: e

BREMRET FEMBRREAENEL

HPNER UGSV BEHREEESESTFER
REFFR RN BN ERHERRARG S ERF
& UTHABRRMERNZBENRS - RAER
ERBRRBE - RIS - RAIVORE AT BER
A% - HPBAMARBENARTHEMEMAL
BENAERT -

ARFRERBKENRE  BETRRELR(EESR
HERDETNER  ERX - EAERRATHERR
BEEIR o FRARPRML AT A BRGF S B ARSI - IRE
BERMEMEBRERERATETESGSPERE
ERERBEG S M BMRAIELNLERE - BB
RARO SR AR PR A AR EE K ©

ERB(EBEAE)ETESFNBIET - RAE
AT ERAE - RS TEREREE - BT

. s B AN S R X AR SR ER RR M B B & 1 75
BREFEERNERFBOARAR - &t RHAIT
EREFARE ELRAR - ARERFE M
HEENETERE  ERARMERNER - &
REGFAIRE S RER Bl 88K E
BB - SO BN ARESIZ £ - Bt ReE
ERARFMERNEABERRANRER S
AR BE 35 3R X 85 BR 1 G 2R /0 B K88 AR PR 19
G

TREZHEMOABEE - AR AR
EHi2F  BAMLEY BEEABES
WERMBERER -

. FEEEMRASABROREERELE
FHART AR EN S IR -
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o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

. HEFRARELE ST ERNREEFD
& o REBAERNESERE  HEESERF
EE%E&\REﬁmiﬁTﬁ M- fem
RERY BERENRKEKEENELS
Kﬁﬁ WREMRBBSFEEANTFEEN
AV EERBMBSTREEAEIER
Aﬁﬁﬁ$mm@ﬁ% F“E@ME%T
CRAIBRPEEERFEREER - TN
ﬁm%ﬂﬁ%%ﬁiﬁiﬁﬂ HER
% AW RRFBEFIBFAAELEH HH
B TRE AR -

. FHERAMBRROEBRIIBIR - BB
ANE > BEEE  UARGAMBHRRES
BERRABRZSNER -

e B ERENERSEBEBNMBELE
RAT  EENBEIES  AEHEAHT
BERZER - RMEE BEESEHHS
- BRI -

BREMERN BAEREZZBSBBTTENE
AHE - BRZH  EXEERRS  BREAME
FEET AP ARl BRI B (A K ERFA -

BHPMEMERZEQRREH  FARMEFEE
BEMNEEERBEEER  WRKREBBAA
AR EXERMBLENMAREME
EIR - AREEANBERT - RIREERE B
hE kAR B O F A i o
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From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Lung Wai, Shun.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

20 March 2024

R ETE: e

REZZECBBNFET - RAEENLER
HARGAMBERERNBARAEER - AMEKEE
REFTEHE - AMERBEMREPHEMELER -
BRIFPRRERTIAFARBEELER  HERR
ERNBERT  MREERHERMBERBRE
EHERNAERRBEELEN AR E - JFPR
ETEERSTABZFA -

HEARBIZHBENHRENRAIAL SR AZHER

LK EIE A
HEEETAT

A
20244320 H
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GeEEkEMEEENER

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F 12 A31 B ILFE

2023 2022
2023%F 20224
Notes RMB’ 000 RMB’000
k=3 AR®ET T ARBTTT
Other income and gains E U A R Uz 5 100,555 147,993
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHAX (8,471) (8,654)
Administrative expenses THRAX (143,767) (155,302)
Research and development expenses R (487,847) (716,444)
Other expenses HEmAx 5] (19,347) (55)
Finance costs B TS RR AN 7 (13,566) (3,534)
LOSS BEFORE TAX BRELAIES IR (572,443) (735,996)
Income tax expense FrS i 11 - =
LOSS FOR THE YEAR FREER (572,443) (735,996)
Attributable to: THIAL R
Owners of the parent ISYNEIEFEPN (571,957) (722,703)
Non-controlling interests FEERR (486) (13,293)
(572,443) (735,996)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME Hibh 2@k =
Other comprehensive income that will not TR EBHRETHEE
be reclassified to profit or loss in BamzEtE2mEkes
subsequent periods:
Exchange differences on translation of — REGINEBTEEZ 2,421 -
foreign operations fEH Z5
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FREAGEEE (570,022) (735,996)
FOR THE YEAR
Attributable to: THIA LR ¢
Owners of the parent HREIHEB A (569,536) (722,703)
Non-controlling interests FEFE IR (486) (13,293)
(570,022) (735,996)
LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE BRAREBRESHFEA
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS LS REE
OF THE PARENT
Basic and diluted (RMB) EARREHE (ARE) 12 (1.19) (1.52)
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31 December 2023

31 December

2023412 A31H

31 December

2023 2022
20234 20224
12831 H 12A31H
Notes RMB’ 000 RMB’000
oz ARET T AREET T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y B KREE 13 840,843 558,710
Right-of-use assets FREEE 14 43,390 72,542
Goodwill 5SS 15 9,305 9,305
Other intangible assets HEtwEp EE 16 41,126 33,505
Other non-current assets HEMIEREEE 17 122,240 215,625
Total non-current assets IEMBNE EBTE 1,056,904 889,687
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories FE 18 93,750 56,160
Prepayments, other receivables and other TERTFRIE - HAbfEERIE 19 123,197 38,610
assets MEMEE
Pledged deposits BEEHTFRK 20 77,443 =
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBLEEY 20 834,983 1,325,150
Total current assets MBEELRE 1,129,373 1,419,920
CURRENT LIABILITIES i =R
Trade and bills payables B SN HIERERNER 21 115,081 62,517
Other payables and accruals HAb I RIE R FEET & A 22 268,116 244,711
Interest-bearing bank and FTERIT R EAMER — 23 46,307 1,394
other borrowings — current mE
Lease liabilities HEGE 14 14,731 20,361
Total current liabilities mENE RiEEE 444,235 328,983
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEEFE 685,138 1,090,937
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT HWEERARBAS 1,742,042 1,980,624

LIABILITIES
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31 December 2023
2023%F 12 A31H

31 December 31 December

2023 2022
20234 20224
12H31H 12H31H
Notes RMB’ 000 RMB’000
HiaF ARET T AREFIT
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES kRBEE
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings &2 R1T R EME K 23 585,333 231,621
Lease liabilities HEAR 14 4,424 29,251
Deferred income IEFEMA 24 75,811 61,144
Deferred tax liabilities EEFIAAE 25 5,530 5,530
Total non-current liabilities JERB B ERE 671,098 327,546
Net assets BEE 1,070,944 1,653,078
EQUITY s
Equity attributable to owners of the parent (SYNEIE PPN
Share capital N 26 482,963 482,963
Treasury shares E1FRR 26 (54,005) =
Reserves 1 27 642,478 1,178,913
Non-controlling interests TR (492) (8,798)
Total equity AL 1,070,944 1,653,078
Yong Liu Qingging Chen
25 55
Executive Director Director

HITEE EF
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S A il L g
GEERSEHR
Year ended 31 December 2023

HZE2023F12 A31BIEFEE

Attributable to owners of the parent

BRAEE AL
Share-based Non-
Share Share Other payments  Accumulated controlling Total
capital  premium*  reserves” reserve” losses* Total interests equity
ARAD RER
BE  RARE  EtEE  ORREE ES 4% FERER  ERlE
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'O00 ~ RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETR  AREFTT ARETR AR%BTr  ARETT ARETR ARBTT ARETR
(note 26) (note 27) (note 28)
(Hiit26) (Hiztar) (Hit28)
At 1 January 2022 202241 A1H 448250 1,954,260 163,938 137,689 (1,030,836) 1,673,301 (5) 1,673,296
Loss and total comprehensive ~ FREBRRZEFREE - - - - (722703)  (722,703)  (13293)  (735,996)
loss for the year
Shares issued upon initial public  EXAREE 34,713 665,855 - - - 700,568 = 700,568
offering (“IPO”) and ([ERLERE) R
over-allotment option BERREETEE
BRI
Capital contribution by FERRRTE - - - = = = 4500 4,500
non-controlling shareholders
Share issue expenses BinETER = (37,106) = = = (37,106) = (37,106)
Share-based payments DR AERANT - - - 47,816 - 47,816 47816
At 31 December 2022 R2022412A31H 482,963 2,583,009 163,938 185,505 (1,753,539) 1,661,876 (8,798) 1,653,078
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Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F 12 A31 B ILFE

Attributable to owners of the parent

BATRAARL
Share-based Non-
Share  Treasury Share Other  payments Accumulated controlling Total
capital shares premium* reserves*  reserve* losses* Total interests equity
HRBAER

Bx  ERR BRARE AR OORER  RHER BR FERER  BRAE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARRTR ARRBTR ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR ARWTR ARWMTR ARETR ARETR

(note 26) (note 27)  (note 28)
(Hrit26) (liar) (i)
At 1 January 2023 R023E1A1R 482,963 - 2583009 163,938 185505  (1,753,539) 1,661,876 (8,798) 1,658,078

Loss for the year EnER - - - - - (571,957)  (571,957) (486)  (572,443)
Other comprehensive income for the year: FRE 2N :
Exchange differences on translation of BENBAAGEHRZESE - - - 2,421 - - 2,421 - 2,421

the financial statements of subsidiaries ~ Z[EXZE

Loss and total comprehensive loss for the EREERZEFREE - - - 2,421 - (571,957)  (569,536) (486)  (570,022)
year
Shares purchased under the 2022 H RiE2022EHRHB3El - (54,005) - - - - (54,005) - (54,005)
Share Incentive Scheme (Note 26) B ARRLR (HEo6)
Reallocation of loss attributable to owners  BAFEAARFERRIER - - - - - (8792) (8,792 8,792 -
of the parent and non-controlling ~ ElEBEZ ERSE"
interests™
Share-based payments AR BERHHH - - - - 41,89 - 41,89 - 41,893
At 31 December 2023 Ra023% 12831 12963 (54005 2583000 166350 227398 (2334208) 107143  (492) 1,070,044
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of ~ * ZERBEREREEAUBRRARAS IR
RMB642,478,000 and RMB1,178,913,000, respectively, as at 2023F K 2022F 12 A31 HWiRAIEARE
31 December 2023 and 2022 in the consolidated statement of 642,478,0007T 2 A R#1,178,913,0007T °

financial position.

x As the management changed the business plan of the ** HREEENE TARREEMNBARNE

non-wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, the net loss X518 BB HE BT IR S IR D A
of the subsidiary, which excess of the capital contribution MiE AR FBEELAARARERIFTERERS
but cannot be recovered from the NCI, was accounted as a K& o

contribution from the Company on behalf of NCI.
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mERTRER

Year ended 31 December 2023 f"
HZE2023F12 A31BIEFEE

2023 2022
2023 % 20224
Notes RMB’ 000 RMB’000
i3 AR¥T T ARBETTT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING RETEISRENE
ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax R 7 Bl &5 18 (572,443) (735,996)
Adjustments for: 1K EE
Finance costs 2D ®N 7 13,566 3,534
Loss on disposal of items of property, HEWME - BERREBEEE®N 35 55
plant and equipment &8
(Gain)/Loss on disposal of items of HEFRELEEEB N 5 (6,605) 37
right-of-use assets (Wzs),/ B8
Bank interest income RITHFEUA 5 (45,580) (23,975)
Provision of impairment for inventories FERERE 8,038 =
Depreciation of property, plant and Yz - BERRETE 6/13 47,416 27,075
equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 6/14 12,035 13,476
Amortisation of other intangible assets H bR & E 6/16 4,447 384
Amortisation of other non-current assets HibIEmenE Es 461 333
Amortisation of other current assets H b m s & E e 2,019 3,067
Net gains from changes in fair value of EBEATEFABENEREE 5} (492) (3,558)
financial assets at fair value through AT ESEEENFRE
profit or loss (“FVTPL”)
Foreign exchange gains, net P 4 Y 505 58 5 (17,497) (115,061)
Share-based payments expense BAREAD BB A 5K 41,893 47,816
Increase in inventories ﬁ,éii*jju (45,628) (32,611)
(Increase)/Decrease in prepayments, B ERIE - EfbprlikIa Rk (39,957) 35,374
other receivables and other assets HiEE (), Hb
Increase in trade and bills payables B 5 e R R E N RIRIE N 52,564 45,702
(Decrease)/Increase in other payables E b fE T RIE R T B (29,313) 126,024
and accruals CRA),/ 0
Increase in other non-current assets HAth3E R B) & EE AN (255) (117)
Increase in pledged deposits EERFFIG M 20 (77,443) -
Increase in deferred income % S HTA 38 0 14,667 28,900
Net cash flows used in operating activities &Z/EFBFTAR S REFH (638,072) (579,541)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REZHFEELRE
ACTIVITIES
Interest received 2 U F 2 5 45,580 23,975
Purchases of items of property, plant and &% - E&LEEE (212,042) (296,729)
equipment
Purchase of items of other intangible assets §# & &b &8 E1E B (12,068) (11,769)
Purchase of time deposits B B T HIfE = 17/20 = (107,462)
Proceeds from withdrawal of time deposits 12 Ey & Bi17 2 Fr 158 2008 187,462 10,000
Proceeds from investment income of H AR ATEEEABEY 492 3,558
finqncial.products included SREAENSRERRE
in financial assets at FVTPL I A FF B 2E
Net cash flows from/(used in) investing B EEE S (FrA) 9,424 (378,427)

activities HEeREFHE
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Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F 12 A31 B ILFE

2023 2022
2023 % 20224
Notes RMB’ 000 RMB’000
i3 ARET T ARBTIT
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING METBAEHRESRE
ACTIVITIES
Receipt of bank loans UGB ERTT B 3K 360,871 183,515
Repayment of bank loans BEIRITTER (3,123) (500)
Repayment of lease payments EEMEENR (8,747) (10,449)
Interest paid 2T E (10,428) (1,620)
Receipt of funds related to sale and WEREREZ B AEENE S 48,000 =
leaseback
Repayments of borrowings related to EEREEREEEHENER (8,898) =
sale and leaseback
Deposit paid related to sale and leaseback ER&EREIRAMHEHiESE (2,400) =
Proceeds from issue of shares* IR0 AT TS 3R> - 669,714
Capital contributions from non-controlling — FEIZRRAEERIFE - 4,500
shareholders
Shares purchased under Share RIRAR 1 2 B et 2 8 AR AR 19 (100,000) =
Incentive Scheme™*
Payments of listing expense S EmRAX = (5,723)
Net cash flows from financing activities BE SRS REFEE 275,275 839,437
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND REeRBELEEURDFE (353,373) (118,531)
CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning FURENMIREEEDY 20 1,169,092 1,172,562
of year
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes [ERFFHHHTE 19,264 115,061
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FRAERREEEY 20 834,983 1,169,092
AT END OF YEAR
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND BE&RRELSEYNEHR DT
CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents RERREEED 20 834,983 1,325,150
Time deposits with original maturity REEAR =& A A &Y - (156,058)
of more than three months JEBIER
Cash and cash equivalents as stated BeRERIITHNIRES X 834,983 1,169,092

in the statement of cash flows

ReEEY

Proceeds from issue of shares are the net proceeds from

shares issued upon initial public offering (“IPO”) and over-
allotment option after deduction of the underwriting fees and
other related expenses payable by the Company.

*k

On 16 September 2022, shareholders of the Group approved

*k

the adoption of the 2022 H share incentive scheme (the “2022
H Share Incentive Scheme”). The trustee under the scheme
purchased shares from the secondary market using a total
consideration no more than RMB100,000,000. Further details

are contained in note 19 and note 26.

BITROMEFRARBBERAREE ([ARA
FEE |) MBI T R FITERMD T
FRRFRE - DEMNGREHERRARREN
MEMAERR S -

R2022F9 168 » AEBE KRR EFR
2022 FHRR B &t &1 ([ 2022 4 H A% K B &1
2l1) - ZEENFHEANBRETNBBARE
100,000,000 70/ Z & M i5IE AR (D - SF15H
KT FE19 R M 5E26 o
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1.

JIANGSU RECBIO TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD. is a joint stock
company with limited liability incorporated in the People’s
Republic of China (‘PRC"). The registered office of the
Company is located at No. 888 Yaocheng Avenue, Medical
High-tech District, Taizhou City, Jiangsu Province, PRC.

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) are principally
engaged in the research and development of vaccines in

Chinese Mainland.

The Company was listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on

31 March 2022.

Information about subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

B 5 ¥ R Y

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12 A31BIEFEE

RAREEEH

TER IR AN AR QB RRPEA
RAME ([RE]) FMAZHBHDAERA
A o AR EMBFELEUN T EITEHE 2R
JH T B8 BE = ¥ R BEIN KB 8885 ©

RER  ARAIREMBRAR (HRHALE
B ) TERPBEAMEERETE -

RRRP2022F3 A31 BEEBBE X
BRAR (TBRAT]) ERET ©

B QR E R
ARRIEMBABNFELT

follows:
Percentage of
equity attributable
Place and date of to the Company
incorporation/ AAREM
registration and place Registered BEASE
Name of business capital  Direct Indirect Principal activities
BRI BRHHR
8 =P ES Sk HEMER Ef Mg FEER
Beijing ABZYMO Biosciences PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB161,032,500 100% - Research and development
Co., Ltd.* (“Beijing ABZYMQ") 7 March 2011 AR®161,032,5007T f
T RZBBENREERAR HE /BN
(MtRzEE]) 2011F3A7R
Wuhan Recogen Biotechnology PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB 10,000,000 55% - Research and development
Co., Ltd.* 28 September 2021 AK#10,000,0007T f
RERMEEMRRER R A HE/ RER
202149 A28 H
Wuhan Recbio Technology PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB 100,000,000 100% - Research and development
Co., Ltd * 28 September 2021 A& #100,000,0007T tR%
RERRAEDRMERAR" HE/ RER
20219 A 28H
Hangzhou Ruibaio Technology PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB10,000,000 100% - Research and development
Co., Ltd. * 3 February 2023 AR #10,000,0007C F
MR ARMRAERAR" hE /B
20232 A 3R
HK Recbio Limited** PRC/Hong Kong HKD10,000 = 100%  Research and development
27 January 2023
BBHNAENER LA hE/EE 10,0007 7T ik
2023F1F27H
* The English name of the entities registered in Chinese * MR EECERE HEXEHE - R

Mainland represents the best efforts made by the
management of the Company to directly translate
their Chinese name as the entities did not register any
official English name. The Company’s subsidiaries
registered in the PRC are limited liability companies

under PRC law.

> On 27 January 2023, Beijing ABZYMO Biosciences
Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of the Group, established a
wholly-owned subsidiary in Hong Kong namely HK

Recbio Limited.

BAMEMAN AT NEXZERBAR
RIEEEABEEAREBAELAR
EBH o RRBRH BB A A
BHAEPEERRATHAREEAT -

** $2023%F1 A27H  AEBKH BRI
REABEYMRIRERA RN EBRKIL
—H2EWB AR (NEEREEME
RAR) o
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Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F 12 A31 B ILFE

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1

Basis of Preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRSs”), which include all standards
and interpretations approved by the International
Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”), and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared
under the historical cost convention. These financial
statements are presented in RMB and all values are
rounded to the nearest thousand (RMB’'000) except
when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include
the financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”)
for the year ended 31 December 2023. A subsidiary
is an entity (including a structured entity), directly
or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is
achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights,
to variable returns from its involvement with the
investee and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the investee (i.e., existing
rights that give the Group the current ability to direct
the relevant activities of the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of
voting rights results in control. When the Company
has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights
of an investee, the Group considers all relevant
facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has
power over an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other
vote holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual
arrangements; and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting
rights.

R BR

2.1

mREE

ZEMBRERTIRBEBERMBHREE
Al (TERMBHRESEA DR &
EERETEIE RS ([RE S
ABEEE ) #ENMEERRRE -
ARBECABGRD)WRERE -
% E WS MR TR E 2 R AKX R
2o BRARBHBIN  ZFHMHHREMN
ARKZY) MBSBEANEBERE
T (ARETIT) °

= A Y
mARE

BAVKERRBEARARREWNEA
Al (B AEE]) HZE2023F 128
1ALEFENMBHRE - HEBARA
AAFEENHEZEEHNER (278
HEHUEER) EASEHS2HEER
BHEBNAZERAERRSZSR
BRAREZBEENTZEWRER
MEHEs (A FTASERGENE
B E R AEEE MR FER)
BUVER A5 {22 42 o

—RBER T AFEEFEIREEIK
ZHIEZHEE o AR BIHE DR
RETBFBERERELER - AR
SERFEEEEHRRES AR
NEEEE—HBEEERER &
&

(a) HEFERETHOEREFAEA
MBI

(b) EHMENLHELNEN &

(c) ZTEBENRERREERERE
& -
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Notes to Financial Statements

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1

Basis of Preparation (continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are
prepared for the same reporting period as the
Company, using consistent accounting policies.
The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from
the date on which the Group obtains control, and
continue to be consolidated until the date that such
control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners
of the parent of the Group and to the non-controlling
interests, even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group
assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between
members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls
an investee if facts and circumstances indicate
that there are changes to one or more of the three
elements of control described above. A change in
the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss
of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary,
it derecognises the related assets (including
goodwill), liabilities, any non-controlling interest and
the exchange fluctuation reserve; and recognises
the fair value of any investment retained and any
resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The
Group’s share of components previously recognised
in other comprehensive income is reclassified to
profit or loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on
the same basis as would be required if the Group
had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities.

B 5 ¥ R Y

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12 A31BIEFEE

T BCR (#)

2.1

mAERE (H)

e E%E(B)

(RN R PR RN NS
MR E) & B R A — R S 5 R
B MBARNRESANKEEUSE
HIEE HRES AR LEBRSA
REEABEHRRLERRL

B kH mEEWﬁ%ﬁW%“%E
RAEBERRARHEAE A KIEERE
= DEA%ﬁ#Tk%\Ei%ﬁ
Her o TERAKERBARIZHER
SEBNEBERQARBENEERE
& #m o ke AXRBEEREY
RERE AR RE L -

WBEERERER LM =18 E
ZPE—HEKZELRE L AEH
ENMIHASTHERENHEE
HIRE - RIBARAES R
(7 4 22 2Ry 1l ) A0 A BR ISR 5] VERE 25
R e

1 7 5= [ 5k 25 S — il Y /B % B O 2 1)
B RAERIERIAEEEE (BER
2) AfE - EAFERESRER
KEFEE  RERTARERENRD
FERESEPEAEEEERN R
FRF ° SERTR E M 2 W A HERRAY
AEBREORMNEAEEER K
EHRBEEERREMREERRR

ERBHHME B RRDEF (10
@A) -
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Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F 12 A31 B ILFE

SEBR (#)
B REEBRKE

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2.

22 Changes
Disclosures

in Accounting Policies and 2.2

The Group has adopted the following new and
revised IFRSs for the first time for the current year’s
financial statements.

AEBEERAFENPBEHRER B R
AT R AT RS IERT BRI T 2
Al o

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts EREBERERR  REAY
ENVE
Amendments to IAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting B2 ERE15% 2T URRE
and IFRS Practice Policies LB B s
Statement 2 RAEBRE
F2% (BT A)

Amendments to IAS 8 Definition of Accounting it Sl LI EGTEE
Estimates F85% (BT 4)

Amendments to IAS 12 Deferred Tax related to il E—XGEFHEER
Assets and Liabilities F1295% (B3IR) B EMEEHE
arising from a Single
Transaction

Amendments to IAS 12 International Tax Reform Re a2 BB HeE —

— Pillar Two Model F12%% (B7K) FXRETHRA

Rules

The nature and the impact of the new and revised
IFRSs that are applicable to the Group are
described below:

(a)

Amendments to IAS 1 require entities to
disclose their material accounting policy
information rather than their significant
accounting policies. Accounting policy
information is material if, when considered
together with other information included
in an entity’s financial statements, it can
reasonably be expected to influence
decisions that the primary users of general
purpose financial statements make on
the basis of those financial statements.
Amendments to IFRS Practice Statement
2 Making Materiality Judgements provide
non-mandatory guidance on how to apply
the concept of materiality to accounting
policy disclosures. The Group has disclosed
the material accounting policy information
in note 2 to the financial statements. The
amendments did not have any impact on the
measurement, recognition or presentation of
any items in the Group’s financial statements.

AR R B R AT AT BIFR B
BIEERIEE R BMmT

(a) REETHERIZE 15 (BRI A)
EXRERFEHEEASTEER
B MIEEEXESEE -
SET R AR T I ISR
R E M E R —GFE B -
AeREBEMerE KRR
BHRREBEBEERZEN
BHRRAELHORTE - AIZER
AABERENBERX - BEREMB
BELEANEBEBREFE2% (B
R IFH B EZ L2 HEr
R EEERSEARS
IR IR B R OF SR B M 4R
5l e REBEERPBHRKME
CHIBEEANGFERER -
ZEERTHAKEMBHERD
EfIE B M5 E - ERAZT
WmEEEAIE -



Annual Report 2023
ZRC=EER

Notes to Financial Statements

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Changes in Accounting Policies and
Disclosures (continued)

(b)

Amendments to IAS 8 clarify the distinction
between changes in accounting estimates
and changes in accounting policies.
Accounting estimates are defined as
monetary amounts in financial statements
that are subject to measurement uncertainty.
The amendments also clarify how entities
use measurement techniques and inputs to
develop accounting estimates. Since the
Group’s approach and policy align with
the amendments, the amendments had no
impact on the Group's financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 12 Deferred Tax related
to Assets and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction narrow the scope of the
initial recognition exception in IAS 12 so
that it no longer applies to transactions that
give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences, such as leases and
decommissioning obligations. Therefore,
entities are required to recognise a deferred
tax asset (provided that sufficient taxable
profit is available) and a deferred tax liability
for temporary differences arising from these
transactions.

B 5 ¥ R Y

Year ended 31 December 2023

HE2023F 1231 BIEFE

SEBER (#)
22 EFBEESFREKE (H)

(b)

B2 EERFE 8K (BRI &)
BB T B AR REFTBORE
FWER - FRHETER R
BRERPZABTIHEERE
MEB TR - ZFEFTARTE
BE B A ERM L
ABBREHEFHERT - B
REBEWIERBRAZEE
FIAR—B BB BRI A S
AEENTHRRLBTE -

Rt ERFE 125 (B3]
$) X BELHNEERE
(& ERE B R S R B & 5
ZE R 5512 5% 9 ¥ 25 7 3R oh
WEE - FETEEAREL
6 [R) P FR A Ko AT K 0 B
EZENR S HENRGRRE
%ol - BREMRZERS
EENER M ERRELER
Eﬁ?@ﬁ%ﬁi%ﬁ%mﬁ
M) RIEEFIBAE -
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

22 Changes in Accounting Policies and
Disclosures (continued)

(c)

(continued)

Prior to the initial application of these
amendments, the Group applied the initial
recognition exception and did not recognise
a deferred tax asset and a deferred tax
liability for temporary differences for
transactions related to leases. The Group
has applied the amendments on temporary
differences related to leases as at 1
January 2022. Upon initial application of
these amendments, the Group recognised
(i) a deferred tax asset for all deductible
temporary differences associated with lease
liabilities (provided that sufficient taxable
profit is available), and (ii) a deferred tax
liability for all taxable temporary differences
associated with right-of-use assets at 1
January 2022.

Upon the application of the amendments,
the Group has determined the temporary
differences arising from right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities separately, which have
been reflected in the reconciliation disclosed
in note 25 to the financial statements.
However, they did not have any material
impact on the overall deferred tax balances
presented in the consolidated statement of
financial position as the related deferred tax
balances qualified for offsetting under IAS
12.

SETECR (&)
22 EIFBEEBREE(E)
(c) (%)

RAIRERZEEETR - A%
[ fE SRR A SN - A
ROAHERERZINERMEE
BEMIRER IEE E MEEFIE
BE - R2022%F181H » K
SEEEAEASERENEE
METEMWEE] - RYIXERZ
LIERTR - AREERER ()R
EAEREBATA KN
MEEMEERBEESE (KA
BRBEZRFEF) - LK)
R202261 518 - EFERAE
BEMBOERERE TR
EHMELCHERE -

RERZFER R AKED
MEEERAREENREERRE
EENERLEE - YHRTB
BRM T2 MENE RS T
IARER o SR - R AEREIE T
BIREHT S BRSERIE
1257 A E M SH IR - Bk
B A M BARRNKP TR E
BRIRFETR TR A5 #R0 RAE B R 1]
EXFE -



Annual Report 2023
ZRC=EER

Notes to Financial Statements

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Changes in Accounting Policies and
Disclosures (continued)

(d)

Amendments to |IAS 12 /nternational Tax
Reform — Pillar Two Model Rules introduce
a mandatory temporary exception from
the recognition and disclosure of deferred
taxes arising from the implementation of
the Pillar Two model rules published by the
Organisation for Economic Co-operation
and Development. The amendments also
introduce disclosure requirements for
the affected entities to help users of the
financial statements better understand
the entities’ exposure to Pillar Two income
taxes, including the disclosure of current tax
related to Pillar Two income taxes separately
in the periods when Pillar Two legislation
is effective and the disclosure of known or
reasonably estimable information of their
exposure to Pillar Two income taxes in
periods in which the legislation is enacted or
substantively enacted but not yet in effect.
The Group has applied the amendments
retrospectively. Since the Group did not
fall within the scope of the Pillar Two model
rules, the amendments did not have any
impact to the Group.

B 5 ¥ R Y

Year ended 31 December 2023

HE2023F 1231 BIEFE

SEBER (#)
22 EFBEESFREKE (H)

(d)

REEAE125 (&7
$)'ﬂ%ﬁ€ﬁiﬂ?§—éﬁ_:€ff
# ARSI N —TE 58 | 1 B By
BISMRE - BIEEEAEAE
BB RAB T MHAE T E
ZSH8 BIJ T BE A WO AE TR SR A e
REEE - BEIANBZHE
VERES|ABBEE R LLEE)
MBmREAEE T T RE
BEFEmERMNE S EMEHR
& BEEESEEER
Hﬂf‘ﬁ B EEE — ARG
FRAERER E HARITE - LARFESL
FE B EERME MR
AR R EFTERRAE =X
HATER AR ME &k A 4 B
HETRE R - REBE B WM
ERZEER] - ARAKET
BRE_SHEBARANNE
AR ST E A S EIL
BEATMTE -
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.3

Issued But Not Yet Effective International
Financial Reporting Standards

The Group has not applied the following revised
IFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet
effective, in the financial statements. The Group
intends to apply these revised IFRSs, if applicable,
when they become effective.

Sale or Contribution
of Assets between
an Investor and its
Associate or Joint
Venture?®
Amendments to IFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale
and Leaseback’
Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-
current (the “2020
Amendments”)’
Non-current Liabilities
with Covenants (the
2022 Amendments”)’
Supplier Finance
Arrangements’

Amendments to
IFRS 10 and IAS 28

Amendments to IAS 1

Amendments to IAS 1

Amendments to IAS 7
and IFRS 7

Amendments to IAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?

U Effective for annual periods beginning on or

after 1 January 2024

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2025

& No mandatory effective date yet determined but
available for adoption

2. EETEK (&)

2.3

B MM B i R E MM B BRI E
R

AEEYRRMBHREFERBATE
MR B 1 R A RN A ME BT BB B 75 3R
FEA - ER - AEERNZEL
5 5T B8 A% B 765 e o 4 ) A 200 B R F 24

LA o

BEOKREED REFHEABEL AT
F105 REE BREPEEE
SEHERIE 285 HESFTE
(1B7TA)

BREBmELER  EAHEMHERE
F16% (BT A)

S &R BESBATHAILR
ERLAC HPENY B ([202045T))

Ba s BRI E
E1% (BFIK) BE([2022F

&5T])

RETEAETRE AEEHELH
B Bt A e e 2
FTH (BFTF)

RERHERl
F215 (BFTAF)

Rz H e

! 202451 A1 Rz &R

FREHIR A

2 202551 A1 Rz &R
FREHIR AR

8 M ARORTERGIERA S - EA]
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.3

Issued But Not Yet Effective International
Financial Reporting Standards (continued)

Further information about those IFRSs that are
expected to be applicable to the Group is described
below.

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 address
an inconsistency between the requirements in
IFRS 10 and in IAS 28 in dealing with the sale or
contribution of assets between an investor and
its associate or joint venture. The amendments
require a full recognition of a gain or loss resulting
from a downstream transaction when the sale or
contribution of assets constitutes a business. For a
transaction involving assets that do not constitute
a business, a gain or loss resulting from the
transaction is recognised in the investor’'s profit or
loss only to the extent of the unrelated investor's
interest in that associate or joint venture. The
amendments are to be applied prospectively. The
previous mandatory effective date of amendments
to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 was removed by the IASB.
However, the amendments are available for adoption
now.

Amendments to IFRS 16 specify the requirements
that a seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease
liability arising in a sale and leaseback transaction
to ensure the seller-lessee does not recognise any
amount of the gain or loss that relates to the right
of use it retains. The amendments are effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024
and shall be applied retrospectively to sale and
leaseback transactions entered into after the date of
initial application of IFRS 16 (i.e., 1 January 2019).
Earlier application is permitted. The amendments
are not expected to have any significant impact on
the Group’s financial statements.

B 5 ¥ R Y
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T BCR (#)
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B AR AR B 1o R A SR Y B PR B A 3R
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EREMSERRAKENBERMG
WEEREE—FERIT -
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KR 285 IS RT ST EI BRI 5 3R
HRIZE105% R EBE S ERIE 285
ZHEEBREERABENRNEE
hEZBEELESTEMERTEZ
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EHEL BRSSO

RIS EERF 165 (BF]A)
HIAE A AESEHEERERE
BRGFEENHEABERERNR
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2

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.3

Issued But Not Yet Effective International
Financial Reporting Standards (continued)

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements
for classifying liabilities as current or non-current,
including what is meant by a right to defer
settlement and that a right to defer must exist at
the end of the reporting period. Classification of
a liability is unaffected by the likelihood that the
entity will exercise its right to defer settlement.
The amendments also clarify that a liability can
be settled in its own equity instruments, and that
only if a conversion option in a convertible liability
is itself accounted for as an equity instrument
would the terms of a liability not impact its
classification. The 2022 Amendments further
clarify that, among covenants of a liability arising
from a loan arrangement, only those with which
an entity must comply on or before the reporting
date affect the classification of that liability as
current or non-current. Additional disclosures are
required for non-current liabilities that are subject
to the entity complying with future covenants
within 12 months after the reporting period. The
amendments shall be applied retrospectively
with early application permitted. An entity that
applies the 2020 Amendments early is required to
apply simultaneously the 2022 Amendments, and
vice versa. The Group is currently assessing the
impact of the amendments and whether existing
loan agreements may require revision. Based on
a preliminary assessment, the amendments are
not expected to have any significant impact on the
Group’s financial statements.
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.3

Issued But Not Yet Effective International
Financial Reporting Standards (continued)

Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7 clarify the
characteristics of supplier finance arrangements and
require additional disclosure of such arrangements.
The disclosure requirements in the amendments
are intended to assist users of financial statements
in understanding the effects of supplier finance
arrangements on an entity’s liabilities, cash flows
and exposure to liquidity risk. Earlier application
of the amendments is permitted. The amendments
provide certain transition reliefs regarding
comparative information, quantitative information
as at the beginning of the annual reporting period
and interim disclosures. The amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the
Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to |IAS 21 specify how an entity
shall assess whether a currency is exchangeable
into another currency and how it shall estimate a
spot exchange rate at a measurement date when
exchangeability is lacking. The amendments
require disclosures of information that enable
users of financial statements to understand the
impact of a currency not being exchangeable.
Earlier application is permitted. When applying the
amendments, an entity cannot restate comparative
information. Any cumulative effect of initially
applying the amendments shall be recognised as
an adjustment to the opening balance of retained
profits or to the cumulative amount of translation
differences accumulated in a separate component
of equity, where appropriate, at the date of initial
application. The amendments are not expected to
have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4

Material Accounting Policies
Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is
the sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the
Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the
equity interests issued by the Group in exchange
for control of the acquiree. For each business
combination, the Group elects whether to measure
the non-controlling interests in the acquiree at fair
value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. All other components of non-
controlling interests are measured at fair value.
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a
business when the acquired set of activities and
assets includes an input and a substantive process
that together significantly contribute to the ability to
create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses
the financial assets and liabilities assumed for
appropriate classification and designation in
accordance with the contractual terms, economic
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the
acquisition date. This includes the separation of
embedded derivatives in host contracts of the
acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages,
the previously held equity interest is remeasured at
its acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss.
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4

Material Accounting Policies (continued)
Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

Any contingent consideration to be transferred
by the acquirer is recognised at fair value at the
acquisition date. Contingent consideration classified
as an asset or liability is measured at fair value with
changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity
is not remeasured and subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the
excess of the aggregate of the consideration
transferred, the amount recognised for non-
controlling interests and any fair value of the
Group’s previously held equity interests in the
acquiree over the identifiable net assets acquired
and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this
consideration and other items is lower than the fair
value of the net assets acquired, the difference is,
after reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a
gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost
less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill
is tested for impairment annually or more frequently
if events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying value may be impaired. The Group
performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as
at 31 December. For the purpose of impairment
testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination
is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each
of the Group’s CGUs, or groups of CGUs, that
are expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination, irrespective of whether other assets or
liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or
groups of units.
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4

Material Accounting Policies (continued)
Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

Impairment is determined by assessing the
recoverable amount of the CGU (group of CGUs) to
which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable
amount of the CGU (group of CGUs) is less than the
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised.
An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not
reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a CGU (or
group of CGUs) and part of the operation within
that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated
with the operation disposed of is included in the
carrying amount of the operation when determining
the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed
of in these circumstances is measured based on the
relative value of the operation disposed of and the
portion of the CGU retained.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties,
derivative financial instruments and equity
investments at fair value at the end of each reporting
period. Fair value is the price that would be received
to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants at
the measurement date. The fair value measurement
is based on the presumption that the transaction
to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place
either in the principal market for the asset or liability,
or in the absence of a principal market, in the most
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The
principal or the most advantageous market must be
accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset
or a liability is measured using the assumptions
that market participants would use when pricing the
asset or liability, assuming that market participants
act in their economic best interest.
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4

Material Accounting Policies (continued)
Fair value measurement (continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset
takes into account a market participant’s ability to
generate economic benefits by using the asset in
its highest and best use or by selling it to another
market participant that would use the asset in its
highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are
appropriate in the circumstances and for which
sufficient data are available to measure fair value,
maximising the use of relevant observable inputs
and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is
measured or disclosed in the financial statements
are categorised within the fair value hierarchy,
described as follows, based on the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value measurement
as a whole:

Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted)
in active markets for identical assets
or liabilities

Level2 - based on valuation techniques
for which the lowest level input
that is significant to the fair value
measurement is observable, either
directly or indirectly

Level 3 - based on valuation techniques

for which the lowest level input
that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4

Material Accounting Policies (continued)
Fair value measurement (continued)

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in
the financial statements on a recurring basis, the
Group determines whether transfers have occurred
between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing
categorisation (based on the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement as a
whole) at the end of each reporting period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when
annual impairment testing for an asset is required
(other than inventories, contract assets, deferred
tax assets, financial assets, investment properties
and non-current assets/a disposal group classified
as held for sale), the asset’s recoverable amount
is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the
higher of the asset’'s or CGU’s value in use and its
fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined
for an individual asset, unless the asset does not
generate cash inflows that are largely independent
of those from other assets or groups of assets, in
which case the recoverable amount is determined
for the CGU to which the asset belongs. In testing
a CGU for impairment, a portion of the carrying
amount of a corporate asset (e.g., a headquarters
building) is allocated to an individual CGU if it can
be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis
or, otherwise, to the smallest group of CGUs.
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4

Material Accounting Policies (continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount.
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using
a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss is
charged to profit or loss in the period in which it
arises in those expense categories consistent with
the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that
previously recognised impairment losses may
no longer exist or may have decreased. If such
an indication exists, the recoverable amount is
estimated. A previously recognised impairment
loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed
only if there has been a change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable amount of that
asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying
amount that would have been determined (net of
any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A
reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to
the statement of profit or loss in the period in which
it arises.
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (continued)

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of
that person’s family and that person

(i)

(if)

(iii)

or

has control or joint control over the
Group;

has significant influence over the
Group; or

is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or of a parent
of the Group;

(b) the party is an entity where any of the
following conditions applies:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

the entity and the Group are members
of the same group;

one entity is an associate or joint
venture of the other entity (or of a
parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary
of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint
ventures of the same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a
third entity and the other entity is an
associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of
either the Group or an entity related
to the Group; and the sponsoring
employers of the post-employment
benefit plan;
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. EFBER (&)
2.4 Material Accounting Policies (continued) 2.4 EXRGEHE(E)
Related parties (continued) Ay (88)
(b)  (continued) (o) (&)

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly
controlled by a person identified in

(a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has
significant influence over the entity or
is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity); and

(viii)  the entity, or any member of a group
of which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the
Group or to the parent of the Group.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than
construction in progress, are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses. The cost of an item of property, plant and
equipment comprises its purchase price and any
directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its
working condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant
and equipment have been put into operation, such
as repairs and maintenance, is normally charged
to profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred.
In situations where the recognition criteria are
satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is
capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as
a replacement. Where significant parts of property,
plant and equipment are required to be replaced
at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as
individual assets with specific useful lives and
depreciates them accordingly.
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4

Material Accounting Policies (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line
basis to write off the cost of each item of property,
plant and equipment to its residual value over its
estimated useful life. The principal useful life used
for this purpose are as follows:

Over the shorter of the
lease terms and 5 years

Leasehold improvements

Plant and machinery 3-10 years
Furniture and fixtures 2 years
Computer and office equipment 2-3 years
Motor vehicles 10 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, the cost of
that item is allocated on a reasonable basis among
the parts and each part is depreciated separately.
Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
methods are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate,
at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment
including any significant part initially recognised
is derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected from its use or
disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement
recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the
year the asset is derecognised is the difference
between the net sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the relevant asset.

The depreciation expense incurred related to the
right-of-use asset for the building lease during the
construction period is expensed when incurred.

Construction in progress is stated at cost less any
impairment losses, and is not depreciated.
reclassified to the appropriate category of property,
plant and equipment when completed and ready for
use.
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4

Material Accounting Policies (continued)
Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured
on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible
assets acquired in a business combination is the
fair value at the date of acquisition. The useful lives
of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite
or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are
subsequently amortised over the useful economic
life and assessed for impairment whenever there
is an indication that the intangible asset may
be impaired. The amortisation period and the
amortisation method for an intangible asset with
a finite useful life are reviewed at least at each
financial year end.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are
tested for impairment annually either individually or
at the cash-generating unit level. Such intangible
assets are not amortised. The useful life of an
intangible asset with an indefinite life is reviewed
annually to determine whether the indefinite life
assessment continues to be supportable. If not, the
change in the useful life assessment from indefinite
to finite is accounted for on a prospective basis.

The amortization periods are as follows:

Software 3-5 years

Intellectual property

Intellectual property with finite useful life is
amortised using the straight-line basis over the
commercial lives of the underlying products,
commencing from the date when the products are
put into commercial production.
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4

Material Accounting Policies (continued)
Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (continued)
Research and development costs

All research costs are charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new
products is capitalised and deferred only when the
Group can demonstrate the technical feasibility of
completing the intangible asset so that it will be
available for use or sale, its intention to complete
and its ability to use or sell the asset, how the
asset will generate future economic benefits, the
availability of resources to complete the project
and the ability to measure reliably the expenditure
during the development. Product development
expenditure which does not meet these criteria is
expensed when incurred.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether
a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and
measurement approach for all leases, except for
short-term leases and leases of low-value assets.
The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease
payments and right-of-use assets representing the
right to use the underlying assets.

At inception or on reassessment of a contract
that contains a lease component and non-lease
components, the Group adopts the practical
expedient not to separate non-lease components
and to account for the lease component and the
associated non-lease components (e.g., property
management services for leases of properties) as a
single lease component.
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4

Material Accounting Policies (continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

(a)

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease (that is
the date the underlying asset is available
for use). Right-of-use assets are measured
at cost, less accumulated depreciation and
any impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost
of right-of-use assets includes the amount
of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct
costs incurred, and lease payments made
at or before the commencement date less
any lease incentives received. Right-of-use
assets are depreciated on a straight-line
basis over the shorter of the lease terms and
the estimated useful lives of the assets as
follows:

Leasehold land
Properties

50 years
2-5 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to
the Group by the end of the lease term or
the cost reflects the exercise of a purchase
option, depreciation is calculated using the
estimated useful life of the asset.
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 Material Accounting Policies (continued)
Leases (continued)
Group as a lessee (continued)

(b) Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease at the
present value of lease payments to be made
over the lease term. The lease payments
include fixed payments (including in-
substance fixed payments) less any lease
incentives receivable, variable lease
payments that depend on an index or a
rate, and amounts expected to be paid
under residual value guarantees. The lease
payments also include the exercise price
of a purchase option reasonably certain to
be exercised by the Group and payments
of penalties for termination of a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising the
option to terminate the lease. The variable
lease payments that do not depend on an
index or a rate are recognised as an expense
in the period in which the event or condition
that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses its incremental
borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date because the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease
liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion
of interest and reduced for the lease
payments made. In addition, the carrying
amount of lease liabilities is remeasured
if there is a modification, a change in the
lease term, a change in lease payments
(e.g., a change to future lease payments
resulting from a change in an index or rate)
or a change in assessment of an option to
purchase the underlying asset.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4

Material Accounting Policies (continued)
Leases (continued)
Group as a lessee (continued)

(c) Short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets

The Group applies the short-term lease
recognition exemption to its short-term leases
of buildings (that is those leases that have
a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain
a purchase option). It also applies the
recognition exemption for leases of low-value
assets to leases of motor vehicles that are
considered to be of low value.

Lease payments on short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets are recognised as
an expense on a straight-line basis over the
lease term.

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition,
as subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair
value through other comprehensive income, and fair
value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial
recognition depends on the financial asset’s
contractual cash flow characteristics and the
Group’s business model for managing them. With
the exception of trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for
which the Group has applied the practical expedient
of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group initially measures a financial
asset at its fair value, plus in the case of a financial
asset not at fair value through profit or loss,
transaction costs.
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4

Material Accounting Policies (continued)
Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

In order for a financial asset to be classified and
measured at amortised cost or fair value through
other comprehensive income, it needs to give rise
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal amount
outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that
are not SPPI are classified and measured at fair
value through profit or loss, irrespective of the
business model.

The Group's business model for managing financial
assets refers to how it manages its financial assets
in order to generate cash flows. The business
model determines whether cash flows will result
from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the
financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified
and measured at amortised cost are held within a
business model with the objective to hold financial
assets in order to collect contractual cash flows,
while financial assets classified and measured at
fair value through other comprehensive income are
held within a business model with the objective of
both holding to collect contractual cash flows and
selling. Financial assets which are not held within
the aforementioned business models are classified
and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally
established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace are recognised on the trade date, that
is, the date that the Group commits to purchase or
sell the asset.
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4

Material Accounting Policies (continued)
Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets
depends on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt
instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and
are subject to impairment. Gains and losses are
recognised in the statement of profit or loss when
the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.

The Group’s financial assets at amortised cost
include deposits and other receivables included in
prepayments, other receivables and other assets.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a
financial asset or part of a group of similar financial
assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e., removed
from the Group'’s consolidated statement of financial
position) when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the
asset have expired; or

° the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from the asset or has assumed
an obligation to pay the received cash
flows in full without material delay to a third
party under a “pass-through” arrangement;
and either (a) the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset, or (b) the Group has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4

Material Accounting Policies (continued)
Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Derecognition of financial assets (continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from an asset or has entered into a
pass-through arrangement,
what extent, it has retained the risk and rewards
of ownership of the asset. When it has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks

it evaluates if, and to

and rewards of the asset nor transferred control
the Group continues to recognise
the transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s
continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also
recognises an associated liability. The transferred
asset and the associated liability are measured on a
basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the
Group has retained.

of the asset,

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a
guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at
the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset
and the maximum amount of consideration that the
Group could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected
credit losses (“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not
held at fair value through profit or loss. ECLs are
based on the difference between the contractual
cash flows due in accordance with the contract and
all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at an approximation of the original
effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will
include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or
other credit enhancements that are integral to the
contractual terms.
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4

Material Accounting Policies (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)
General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit
exposures for which there has not been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs
are provided for credit losses that result from default
events that are possible within the next 12 months (a
12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which
there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required
for credit losses expected over the remaining life
of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the
default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses
whether the credit risk on a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition.
When making the assessment, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk
of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the date of initial recognition and considers
reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort, including
historical and forward-looking information. The
Group considers that there has been a significant
increase in credit risk when contractual payments
are more than 30 days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset in default
when contractual payments are 90 days past due.
However, in certain cases, the Group may also
consider a financial asset to be in default when
internal or external information indicates that
the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding
contractual amounts in full before taking into
account any credit enhancements held by the
Group. A financial asset is written off when there
is no reasonable expectation of recovering the
contractual cash flows.
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 Material Accounting Policies (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)
General approach (continued)

Debt investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income and financial assets at
amortised cost are subject to impairment under the
general approach and they are classified within the
following stages for measurement of ECLs except
for trade receivables which apply the simplified
approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 - Financial instruments for which credit
risk has not increased significantly
since initial recognition and for which
the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 - Financial instruments for which credit
risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition but that are not
credit-impaired financial assets and for
which the loss allowance is measured
at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 - Financial assets that are credit-
impaired at the reporting date (but
that are not purchased or originated
credit-impaired) and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount
equal to lifetime ECLs

Simplified approach

For trade receivables and contract assets that do
not contain a significant financing component or
when the Group applies the practical expedient of
not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group applies the simplified
approach in calculating ECLs. Under the simplified
approach, the Group does not track changes in
credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance
based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date.
The Group has established a provision matrix that
is based on its historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the
debtors and the economic environment.

For trade receivables and contract assets that
contain a significant financing component and lease
receivables, the Group chooses as its accounting
policy to adopt the simplified approach in
calculating ECLs with policies as described above.
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4

Material Accounting Policies (continued)
Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial
recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss, loans and borrowings,
payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging
instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair
value and, in the case of loans and borrowings and
payables, net of directly attributable transaction
costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and
bills payables, other payables and accruals, lease
liabilities and interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities
depends on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (trade
payables, other payables, loans and borrowings)

After initial recognition, trade and other payables,
and interest-bearing borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest method unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are stated
at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in the
statement of profit or loss when the liabilities are
derecognised as well as through the effective
interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account
any discount or premium on acquisition and fees
or costs that are an integral part of the effective
interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation
is included in finance costs in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income.
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4

Material Accounting Policies (continued)
Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the
obligation under the liability is discharged or
cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by
another from the same lender on substantially
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability
are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the
original liability and a recognition of a new liability,
and the difference between the respective carrying
amounts is recognised in the statement of profit or
loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset
and the net amount is reported in the statement of
financial position if there is a currently enforceable
legal right to offset the recognised amounts and
there is an intention to settle on a net basis,
or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.

Treasury shares

Own equity instruments which are reacquired and
held by the Company or the Group (treasury shares)
are recognised directly in equity at cost. No gain or
loss is recognised in the statement of profit or loss
on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the
Group’s own equity instruments.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of
financial position comprise cash on hand and at
banks, and short-term highly liquid deposits with a
maturity of generally within three months that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash,
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value
and held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash
commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise
cash on hand and at banks
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4

Material Accounting Policies (continued)
Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation
(legal or constructive) has arisen as a result of a
past event and it is probable that a future outflow of
resources will be required to settle the obligation,
provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the
amount recognised for a provision is the present
value at the end of the reporting period of the future
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation. The increase in the discounted present
value amount arising from the passage of time is
included in finance costs in the statement of profit
or loss.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax.
Income tax relating to items recognised outside
profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss,
either in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at
the amount expected to be recovered from or paid
to the taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and
tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of each reporting period, taking
into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the country in which the Group
operates.
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 Material Accounting Policies (continued)
Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method,
on all temporary differences at the end of the
reporting period between the tax bases of assets
and liabilities and their carrying amounts for
financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

° when the deferred tax liability arises from
the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset
or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss and does not
give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries
when the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences can be controlled and
it is probable that the temporary differences
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4

Material Accounting Policies (continued)
Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of
unused tax credits and any unused tax losses.
Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences,
and the carryforward of unused tax credits and
unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

° when the deferred tax asset relating to the
deductible temporary differences arises
from the initial recognition of an asset
or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss and does not
give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences; and

o in respect of deductible temporary
differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries, deferred tax assets are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable
that the temporary differences will reverse
in the foreseeable future and taxable profit
will be available against which the temporary
differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow
all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at
the end of each reporting period and are recognised
to the extent that it has become probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all
or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4

Material Accounting Policies (continued)
Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured
at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the
period when the asset is realised or the liability is
settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities
are offset if and only if the Group has a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets and
current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets
and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority on either the
same taxable entity or different taxable entities
which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and
assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and
settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future
period in which significant amounts of deferred tax
liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant
will be received and all attaching conditions will be
complied with. When the grant relates to an expense
item, it is recognised as income on a systematic
basis over the periods that the costs, for which it is
intended to compensate, are expensed.
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4

Material Accounting Policies (continued)
Government grants (continued)

Government grants that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already
incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate
financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they become receivable.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value
is credited to a deferred income account and is
released to the statement of profit or loss over the
expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal
annual instalments and released to the statement
of profit or loss by way of a reduced depreciation
charge.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis
using the effective interest method by applying
the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future
cash receipts over the expected life of the financial
instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate, to
the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share award scheme for
the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to
eligible participants who contribute to the success
of the Group’s operations. Employees (including
directors) and non-employees of the Group receive
remuneration and rewards in the form of share-
based payments, whereby employees and non-
employees render services as consideration for
equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4

Material Accounting Policies (continued)
Share-based payments (continued)

The cost of equity-settled transactions with
employees is measured by reference to the fair
value at the date at which they are granted.
The cost of equity-settled transactions with non-
employees is measured by reference to the fair
value of the services they provided unless the fair
value of the equity instruments granted is more
reliably determinable. The fair value is measured
at the market value of the shares, adjusted for the
exclusion of expected dividends to be received in
the vesting period, further details of which are given
in note 28 to the financial statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised
in employee benefit expense, together with a
corresponding increase in equity, over the period
in which the service conditions are fulfilled. The
cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled
transactions at the end of each reporting period
until the vesting date reflects the extent to which the
vesting period has expired and the Group’s best
estimate of the number of equity instruments that
will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to profit or
loss for a period represents the movement in the
cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning
and end of that period.

Service conditions are not taken into account when
determining the grant date fair value of awards,
but the likelihood of the conditions being met is
assessed as part of the Group’s best estimate of
the number of equity instruments that will ultimately
vest.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because
service conditions have not been met, no expense
is recognised.
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4

Material Accounting Policies (continued)
Other employee benefits
Pension scheme

The employees of the Group which operates in
Chinese Mainland are required to participate in
a central pension scheme operated by the local
municipal government. The subsidiaries operating
in Chinese Mainland are required to contribute
a certain percentage of their payroll costs to the
central pension scheme. The contributions are
charged to the statement of profit or loss as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the
central pension scheme.

Foreign currencies

The financial statements are presented in RMB,
which is the Company’s functional currency. Each
entity in the Group determines its own functional
currency and items included in the financial
statements of each entity are measured using that
functional currency. Foreign currency transactions
recorded by the entities in the Group are initially
recorded using their respective functional currency
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies are translated at the functional
currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of the
reporting period. Differences arising on settlement
or translation of monetary items are recognised in
profit or loss.
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4

Material Accounting Policies (continued)
Foreign currencies (continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial
transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
measured. The gain or loss arising on translation
of a non-monetary item measured at fair value
is treated in line with the recognition of the gain
or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e.,
translation difference on the item whose fair value
gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive
income or profit or loss is also recognised in
other comprehensive income or profit or loss,
respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial
recognition of the related asset, expense or income
on the derecognition of a non-monetary asset
or non-monetary liability relating to an advance
consideration, the date of initial transaction is the
date on which the Group initially recognises the
non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising
from the advance consideration. If there are multiple
payments or receipts in advance, the Group
determines the transaction date for each payment or
receipt of the advance consideration.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues,
expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying
disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities.
Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could
result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment
to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected
in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart
from those involving estimations, which have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial
statements:

Research and development expenses

Research and development expenses incurred on the
Group’s vaccine product pipelines are capitalised and
deferred only when the Group can demonstrate the
technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset
so that it will be available for use or sale, the Group’s
intention to complete and the Group’s ability to use or sell
the asset, how the asset will generate future economic
benefits, the availability of resources to complete the
pipeline and the ability to measure reliably the expenditure
during the development. Research and development
expenses which do not meet these criteria are expensed
when incurred. Determining the amounts to be capitalised
requires management to make assumptions regarding the
expected future cash generation of the assets, discount
rates to be applied and the expected period of benefits. All
expenses incurred for research and development activities
were regarded as research expenses and therefore were
expensed when incurred.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of each
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities within the next financial year, are described
below.

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators
of impairment for all non-financial assets (including the
right-of-use assets) at the end of each reporting period.
Intangible assets not ready for use are not subject to
amortisation and are tested annually for impairment, or
more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that they might be impaired. Other non-financial
assets are tested for impairment when there are indicators
that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An
impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or a
CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher
of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use.
The calculation of the fair value less costs of disposal is
based on available data from binding sales transactions in
an arm'’s length transaction of similar assets or observable
market prices less incremental costs for disposing of the
asset. When value in use calculations are undertaken,
management must estimate the expected future cash flows
from the asset or CGU and choose a suitable discount rate
in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at
least on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of
the recoverable amount of the CGU to which the goodwill
is allocated. Estimating the recoverable amount requires
the consideration of the best expectation by market
participants of the CGU and also to choose a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value of
those cash flows. The carrying amount of goodwill at 31
December 2023 was RMB9,305,000 (2022: RMB9,305,000).
Further details are given in note 15.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Useful lives and residual values of property, plant and
equipment

The Group determines the estimated useful lives and
residual values for its property, plant and equipment.
This estimate is based on the historical experience of
the actual useful lives of property, plant and equipment
of similar nature and functions. The Group will increase
the depreciation charge where useful lives are less than
previously estimated lives.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will
be available against which the losses can be utilised.
Significant management judgement is required to
determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be
recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of future
taxable profits together with future tax planning strategies.
Further details are contained in note 25.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate
implicit in a lease, and therefore, it uses an incremental
borrowing rate (“IBR”) to measure lease liabilities. The IBR
is the rate of interest that the Group would have to pay to
borrow over a similar term, and with a similar security, the
funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to
the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment.
The IBR therefore reflects what the Group “would have
to pay”, which requires estimation when no observable
rates are available (such as for subsidiary that does not
enter into financing transactions) or when it needs to be
adjusted to reflect the terms and conditions of the lease (for
example, when leases are not in the subsidiary’s functional
currency). The Group estimates the IBR using observable
inputs (such as market interest rates) when available and is
required to make certain entity-specific estimates (such as
the subsidiary’s stand-alone credit rating).

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For the purpose of resource allocation and performance
assessment, the Group’s chief executive officer, being the
chief operating decision maker, reviews the consolidated
results when making decisions about allocating resources
and assessing performance of the Group as a whole and
hence, the Group has only one reportable segment and no
further analysis of this single segment is presented.

The Group did not record any revenue during the year and
the Group’s non-current assets are substantially located in
the PRC, accordingly, no analysis of geographical segment
is presented.
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An analysis of other income and gains is as follows:

HW AR K - AR E MR

H WA Rz o anT

2023 2022
2023 20224
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARET T AREET T
Other income Hiplr A
Government grants (i) BT+ BRI (i) 30,377 5,325
Bank interest income SRITH BULA 45,580 23,975
Gain on disposal of items of right-of-use HEFHEEENTEERR 6,605 =
assets and lease liabilities T8 B M)l
Others Hifb 4 74
Gains =
Gain on fair value changes of BRATEFAEGNCREE 492 3,558
financial assets at FVTPL NEEZF RS
Foreign exchange gains, net b H a5 58 17,497 115,061
Other income and gains H bW A R e 100,555 147,993
(i) The government grants and subsidies related to income (i) BUER U A & B E AR B 2 BT B &

and assets have been received to compensate for the

R AN E AR BT R S KX

Group’s research and development expenditures and B8 o
business operations.
An analysis of other expenses is as follows: HEMAZHTOT :
2023 2022
2023%F 20224F
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBTTT
Impairment of other non-current assets HiIEmBEERE 8,689 =
Provision of impairment for inventories FERERE 8,038 =
Others HAh 2,620 55
19,347 58
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LOSS BEFORE TAX

The Group’s loss before tax is arrived at after charging/

BRELATE 1R
AEENRBABEE NG GEA) T3%

(crediting): g :
2023 2022
2023 % 20224
Notes RMB’ 000 RMB’000
k=3 ARBT T ARBEFTT
Depreciation of property, plant and M - BEREBHTE 13 47,416 27,075
equipment”
Depreciation of right-of-use assets* FREEERE 14(a) 12,035 13,476
Amortisation of intangible assets* | A 16 4,447 384
Amortisation of other non-current assets* £t 3F 7 B & 2= 8§45 461 333
Amortisation of other current assets* H b RENE E 2,019 3,067
Interest on lease liabilities HEARENE 14(b) 1,363 1,914
Expense relating to short-term leases* BRI HA SR 14(c) 2,140 1,688
Provision of impairment for inventories 77 & R{E B 8,038 =
Research and development costs T8 A AN 487,847 716,444
(Gain)/Loss on disposals of items of HEFAEEEREE 5 (6,605) 37
right-of-use assets and leases BE® () B
Loss on disposal of items of property, HEWE - BE NLEE 35 55
plant and equipment 15 B M Es 18
Gain on fair value changes of financial £ @&EQAFEZ TS 5 (492) (3,558)
assets
Government grants related to income  E2UL A 5 78 5 BT 4 B 5 (30,377) (5,325)
Foreign exchange gains, net b W e F 5 5} (17,497) (115,061)
Bank interest income HRITHFIEUA 5 (45,580) (23,975)
Auditor’'s remuneration* (2 G AT 2,360 2,719
Listing expense WX - 9,932
Employee benefit expense* (excluding 1EE®AME* (FEE
directors’, chief executive's and BE  meTBRAER
supervisors’ remuneration): EENHM)
Wages and salaries TERFH® 113,772 109,199
Share-based payments expense LARRD BERR A FH 19,658 30,325
Pension scheme contributions, social BINSEEIMHR - 1t 12,470 10,557

welfare and other welfare

LA~ E Lk =Rl

The depreciation of property, plant and equipment,

depreciation of right-of-use assets, amortisation of
intangible assets, amortisation of other non-current
assets, amortisation of other current assets, expense
relating to short-term leases, auditor’s remuneration,
listing expense and employee benefit expense for the
year are set out in “Selling and distribution expenses”,
“Administrative expenses” and “Research and
development costs” in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

BHFANYE  BERREBINE - &
RREENE  BEE#E  Htk
MEEESN  HMRBEEHRE A
HREPHEHENFX  XEEHFH - £H
R RESRAFAXHEN G EERE
BB ER [ $HE XD HFAX] - [17

X | R [HHER% ] -
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Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12 A31BIEFEE

FINANCE COSTS 7. B 78 B AR

An analysis of finance costs is as follows: MR DTAT -
2023 2022
2023 % 20224
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARET T AREET T
Interest on bank borrowings RITREFF B 19,989 5,567
Less: Interest capitalised B BAMEFIE 7,786 3,947
Interest on lease liabilities (note 14) HEBERNS (MiE14) 1,363 1,914
13,566 3,534

DIRECTORS’, SUPERVISORS’ AND CHIEF 8.

EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION

Directors’, supervisors’ and chief executive’s remuneration
for the year, disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules,

section 383(1)(a), (b),

(c) and (f) of the Hong Kong

Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors)

Regulation, is as follows:

EE ESRRSTHAEHMH

BEE EENERTRAERFANME

RIFLETRA - BER

alEHI5£383(1)(a)

(b) * () (NEAEAR (HEEBEEEEF

WER) ROIE 28T T

2023 2022

2023F 20224

RMB’ 000 RMB’000

ARET T AR®ET T

Fees e 1,158 1,356
Other emoluments: Hue :

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e EAREDA= 11,049 5,883

Performance related bonuses FIBMEEIEAL 925 5,092

Share-based payments VARG AR 7 BT B0 15 3% 22,235 17,491

Pension scheme contributions RIKEBFTEIHER 364 314

35,731 30,136
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Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F 12 A31 B ILFE

8. DIRECTORS’, SUPERVISORS’ AND CHIEF 8. EXE ESRESTHRASHH (&)
EXECUTIVE'S REMUNERATION (continued)

Directors =3
Salaries,
allowances Performance Pension Share-
and benefits related scheme based Total
Fees in kind bonuses contributions payments remuneration
3= 4.1 E3] Rike R A

e  RENNG RERA SERR BROMK FHeE
RMB'000  RMB’000 RMB’ 000 RMB'000  RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR  ARBTR AR®Tn ARMTR AR®TR  ARETx

Year ended 31 December  #Z2023%12A31H

2023 LEE
Executive directors: HITES:
Mr. Yong Liu ey - 2,569 248 43 11,657 14,517
Mr. Jianping Chen BT EaE - 1,807 150 63 1,090 3,110
Mr. Bu Li Thits - 1,804 150 43 1,161 3,158
Ms. Qingqing Chen (a) BEELL(a) - 1,804 150 52 7,896 9,902
Non-executive directors: FHTES:
Mr. Kunxue Hong ik Yt - 1,807 150 63 358 2,378
Mr. Tao Feng (b) EREE(D) - 330 - - - 330
Mr. Feng Gao Gao Fengt & 290 - - - - 290
Mr. Guodong Liang 2EREAE 290 - - - - 290
Mr. Ming Fai Yuen REBEAE 288 - - - - 288
Mr. Lijun Xia BEVERAE 290 - - - - 290

Total At 1,158 10,121 848 264 22,162 34,553
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Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12 A31BIEFEE

8. DIRECTORS’, SUPERVISORS’ AND CHIEF 8. EE  ESRESTHRAEHFH (&)
EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION (continued)

Directors (continued) BE (&)
Salaries,
allowances  Performance Pension Share-
and benefits related scheme based Total
Fees in kind bonuses  contributions payments  remuneration
e 2 =5 EiRE MR A

e REDNE BB sPEIE ERMAR HaE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTL  ARBTL  ARETR  ARETT  ARBTL  ARETR

Year ended 31 December  EZ20224F12831H

2022 IFERE
Executive directors: HITES:
Mr. Yong Liu BBs . 1,728 1,788 38 14,536 18,090
Mr. Jianping Chen Clada - 1,120 1,044 58 1,178 3,400
Mr. Bu Li ThiLE - 1,084 1,080 38 1,316 3,518
Non-executive directors: FHTES
Mr. Kunxue Hong MBS & = 1,113 1,044 58 358 2,573
Mr. Tao Feng (b) EERE(D) 240 = = = = 240
Mr. Feng Gao Gao Feng#t £ 278 = = = = 278
Mr. Guodong Liang ZERRE 278 - - - - 278
Mr. Ming Fai Yuen R#EBEAE 282 - - - - 282
Mr. Lijun Xia BUB%RA 278 - - - - 278
Mr. Jinlong Guo PEELE - - - - - -

Total At 1,356 5,045 4,956 192 17,388 28,937
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Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F 12 A31 B ILFE

8. DIRECTORS’, SUPERVISORS’ AND CHIEF 8. B ESBERESTHRASHM (&)

EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION (continued)

Supervisors Ex
Salaries,
allowances Performance Pension Share-
and benefits related scheme based Total
Fees in kind bonuses contributions payments remuneration
e 28 e8] Bihe URB A
e  REWIE HEA FEME  EENER bk
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTE AR®Tn AR®Tn ARETT AR%®TR  AR%Tx
Year ended 31 December ~ HZ2023%F12831H
2023 Lt5E
Ms. Hongyang Wang ¥t - - - - - -
Ms. Weiwei Qiao BREERL - 574 48 46 69 737
Ms. Ranting Qian Bt - - - - - -
Mr. Feizhou Wang FRALE - - - - - -
Ms. Ping Liu (f) BFLE(f) - 354 29 54 4 441
Total aif 928 77 100 73 1,178
Salaries,
allowances  Performance Pension Share-
and benefits related scheme based Total
Fees in kind bonuses  contributions payments  remuneration
=2 Es) Bike PSl:]
e  REDHE izl ezl AR EROET Hiles
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETT  ARETT AR®TT ARETR ARBTT  ARET:
Year ended 31 December ~ EZE2022F12f31H
2022 ILEE
Ms. Hongyang Wang (c) EHFERL(c) = 61 = 32 8 101
Ms. Weiwei Qiao BlRELL - 483 84 43 91 701
Mr. Yaming Xu (d) RBHALE() = = - = = -
Mr. Gang Chen (e) BRRIEA (o) _ _ _ _ B B
Mr. Zhongcai Gu (&) BRB T (e) - - - - - -
Ms. Ranting Qian BRERT = - = = - -
Mr. Feizhou Wang ITRAEL - - _ _ _ _
Ms. Ping Liu (f) B 24 (f) = 294 52 47 4 397
Total CEH 838 136 122 103 1,199

There was no arrangement under which a director or
the chief executive waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration during the year.

FR BEESFIRRTRABRRELRE

MEEMME R -
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DIRECTORS’, SUPERVISORS’ AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION (continued)

Supervisors (continued)

Notes:

(a) Ms. Qingging Chen was appointed as a director on 11
May 2023.

(b) Mr. Tao Feng was appointed as a director on 2
November 2020, and resigned from the position on 30
March 2023.

(©) Ms. Hongyang Wang was appointed as a supervisor on
24 January 2019 and resigned from the position on 15
March 2022.

(d) Mr. Yaming Xu was appointed as a supervisor on 7
August 2019, and resigned from the position on 15
March 2022.

(e) Mr. Gang Chen and Mr. Zhongcai Gu were appointed
as supervisors on 2 November 2020, and both resigned
from the position on 15 March 2022.

(f) Ms. Ping Liu was appointed as a supervisor on 4 July
2022.

B 5 ¥ R Y

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12 A31BIEFEE

EX ESRESTHAEHM (&)

BEEE ()

Kiat -

(a) RESXLT2023F5 11 HELZTAS
$ °

(b) BELEAN2020FE 11 2R EZ R AE
= WR2023F3 A30 HEHE -

(c) THOF L ER2019F 1 H24BEZ T A
ELE . WR202243 5 15 HEBHE -

(d) BRI ER2019F8A7THEZTA
ELZ . WR202243 5 15 HEHE -

(e) FR I 50 4 I BB B BT S5 £ 7R 20204F 11 A 2
AEZTAEE @ WHRK2022F3 15
HEHE -

(f) B+ M2022F7 A4REZERE
=Ho
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Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F 12 A31 B ILFE

9.  FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 9. IERGFMES
The five highest paid employees during the year included FA - TEHmayHWEERBENRES
four directors (2022: three directors), details of whose (2022F : =REZF) ' HEMFBIHR LEX
remuneration are set out in note 8 above. Details of the MizE8 o F I - 2N —% (20224 : (RE) I
remuneration for the year of the remaining one (2022: two) AR RAEFTAERTRABN TS HME
highest paid employee who is neither a director nor chief BRHMFELT -

executive of the Company are as follows:

2023 2022
2023 F 20224
RMB’ 000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARETTT

Salaries, bonuses, allowances and e B4 FEEREYFE 1,505 2,240
benefits in kind
Performance related bonuses FIRABEIEAL - 2,014
Share-based payments LA RS9 A 20 89 51 3K 2,920 12,205
Pension scheme contributions RIKEFTEIHEK 35 81
4,460 16,540
No emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the five B ZE2023F12A31HILFE - REEME
highest paid employees as an inducement to join or upon MEMREESHMESE NS - ER
joining the Group during the year ended 31 December EHpnA AN £ B o a0 A AR 5 B B A 22 B) (2022
2023 (2022: Nil). £ :F)o
One of the highest paid employees left the Company and HZE2023F12A31BILEE  —&&e
the termination benefit was with the amount of RMB150,000 FMESHAALNT  BBENAARE

during the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil). 150,0007T (20224 : &) o
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Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12 A31BIEFEE

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (continued) 9. LEBRESHFMES (F)
The number of non-director and non-chief executive NI REFNEEANNFEE RIEFREITHA
highest paid employees whose remuneration fell within the BEmHES A :
following bands is as follows:
Number of employees
EEA™
2023 2022

20234 20224
Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z 2% 1,000,000/ 7T - -
HK$3,500,001 to HK$5,000,000 3,500,001 5 %5,000,000/8 7T 1 1
HK$6,500,001 to HK$7,000,000 6,500,001 752 7,000,000 7T = =
HK$10,000,001 to HK$12,000,000 10,000,001 7c£12,000,000/8 7T = =
HK$12,000,001 to HK$16,000,000 12,000,001 7c2 16,000,000/ 7T - 1

During the year of 2023, shares were granted to certain
highest paid employees in respect of their further services
to the Group, further details of which are set out in note 28
to the financial statements. The fair value of such awarded
shares, which has been recognised in profit or loss over
the vesting period, was determined as at the date of grant
and the amount included in the financial statements for
the current year is included in the above highest paid
employees’ remuneration disclosures.

DIVIDEND

No dividends have been paid or declared by the Company
during the year (2022: Nil).

10.

R2023%F @ BLEHANEBE A RERE AE
THEEFHESRLRD - £—FHBERN
MigmARME28 - ERNFBHME N BR
B Z L RE RO A FETIRER L B HE
o MAFENMERRAB S\ A LA
= Hr R B BB R o

’RE

FR - ARAYERNKEIREAEE
(20224 : #E) -

193



194

Jiangsu Recbio Technology Co., Ltd.
SIERMENEMRHHRAF

Notes to Financial Statements

B 75 ¥ R B o

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F 12 A31 B ILFE

11.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

The Group’s principal applicable taxes and tax rates are as
follows:

(a)

No provision for Chinese Mainland income tax
has been provided for at a rate of 25% pursuant
to the Corporate Income Tax Law of the PRC and
the respective regulations (the “CIT Law”), as the
Group’s PRC entities have no estimated assessable
profits during the year.

Pursuant to the Corporate Income Tax Law of
the PRC and the respective regulations (the “CIT
Law”), the Company is subject to CIT at a rate
of 25% on the taxable income. Beijing ABZYMO
obtained its certificate of high-technology enterprise
on 30 December 2022 and is entitled to enjoy a
preferential tax rate of 15% for three years from
2022 to 2024.

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable
to loss before tax at the statutory rate to the tax
expense at the effective tax rate is as follows:

11.

FRr8BIRAX
AEBEETZERARB BT

(a)

FR - ARAEENTEERY &ML
FHERTUEN - BMEREREAR
HMBEEAFHOERMBER ([
EMRFHOE]) R BRI SRR
25% M R ETHE R

BIEPEAREMBCEMEHER
HEDER ([REMBEIE]) - AAF]
AL IER TR AL 25% K TR R a1
ERSH o b REZ ABR20225F 12
ASOBRES SRR HEESE - WAE
R2022F £2024F =FRNEZH15%
BEBEBIE o

BORTER RETHIR B BB 2 @A
HRXERERMERGFEZHBERX
ZEERIOT

2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARET ARBETTT
Loss before tax bR RTEE (572,443) (735,996)
Tax at the statutory tax rate (25%) BEEMEGTENTIE(25%) (143,111) (183,999)
Lower tax rates for specific provinces 5 7E & 17 skt 75 #8845 A9 11,533 11,968
or enacted by local authority BRIEH =X
Expenses not deductible for tax AR HF R 11,514 12,754
Additional deductible allowance for A BB ERAE TN (105,173) (127,394)
qualified research and AR R
development costs
Tax losses and deductible temporary AR TR TR IE BT 18 fe A R 225,237 286,671

differences not recognised

B

Tax charge at the Group’s effective rate

IR

BEASEERBEAED
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Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of
the following items:

B 5 ¥ R Y

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12 A31BIEFEE

Fr&Bipx< (&)
EERIRE E W AR T 5178 B #E:2

2023 2022
2023 F 20224
RMB’ 000 RMB’000

ARBT T ARETT

Tax losses TIEE 18 698,686 491,413
Deductible temporary differences AT R ER 72,263 55,714
770,949 547,127

The Group has tax losses of RMB3,063,726,000 and
RMB2,163,611,000 as at 31 December 2023 and 2022.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of
these losses as it is not considered probable that taxable
profits will be available against which the tax losses can be
utilised.

M20234F 20226124310 » AEEHF
HEED B AAR3,063,726,0007T & A
E#2,163,611,0007T °

HRZEBERRER B/ TR B ERTOREF
AANEENIAER - MU ERZSERE
RIBLEBRIREE -
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Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F 12 A31 B ILFE

12.

LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

The calculation of the basic loss per share amounts for
the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 is based
on the loss for the years attributable to ordinary equity
holders of the parent and the weighted average number
of ordinary shares assumed to be in issue after taking into
account the retrospective adjustments on the assumption
that the company conversion into a joint stock company
(Company’s Capitalization Issue) and the share capital
transfer from capital premium had been in effect on 1
January 2022.

The Company had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in
issue during each of the years presented.

The calculation of basic loss per share is based on:

12.

BAREERERAARLERERE

B E2023F K2022F 12 A31 B IEFEMNE
REAEECREDRES AR ERERSES
AEEERNEBERETRARTEBRNDE
RAE (ARRERET) REARERA
EEEN2022F1 A1 BAERRE P AEE
RFEBITLBRMNEFLHEGE - NERE
B R K26 T R o

NEZINFE  ARAMEDRTEERE

B e

of R

=
B Mo

AEERERERIIER

2023 2022
2023 % 20224
Loss &’
Loss attributable to ordinary BRrEEERTE ARIGEE - (571,957) (722,703)
equity holders of the parent, AR EERERREEER
used in the basic and diluted loss per (AREBTTT
share calculation (RMB’000)
Shares gy
Weighted average number of BT E TR EAR R EEEED 480,943,660 474,213,311
ordinary shares assumed to be in issue FRREE FETERKD
during the year used in the basic I 98
and diluted loss per share calculation
Loss per share (basic and diluted) TSR (EAREE) (1.19) (1.52)

(RMB per share)

(BIRAR%TT)
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HZE2023F12 A31BIEFEE

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. ¥ - BRERR®E
Computer
Leasehold Plant and Furniture and office Motor  Construction
improvements machinery  and fixtures  equipment vehicles  in progress Total
BENEZE  BEREM  GARKE EERBORE hE HEIE - h

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARRTR  ARBTR  ARBTz  ARBTz  ARBFz  ARETR  AREER

For the year ended 2023 HENNELEE
At 1 January 2023: R2023E1 418 :
Cost A 30,059 190,064 200 5,050 2,683 381,731 609,787
Accumulated depreciation and ZHERAE (13,342) (34,162) (94) (2,299) (1,180) - (51,077)
impairment
Net carrying amount FaFE 16,717 155,902 106 2,751 1,503 381,731 558,710
At 1 January 2023, net of 20235118 - 16,717 155,902 106 2,751 1,503 381,731 558,710
accumulated depreciation TREHTERRE
and impairment
Additions AE 461 2,006 56 983 - 340,069 343,575
Disposals 5 - (12) ®) - - (1,878) (1,958)
Depreciation provided during the year EANERE (18,415) (26,336) (33) (1,903) (729) - (47,416)
Transfers g3 122,531 88,909 1 2,286 43 (226,208) (12,068)
At 31 December 2023, R2023128318 - 121,294 220,409 122 4117 1,187 493,714 840,843
net of accumulated depreciation AR Z:HIERA(E
and impairment
At 31 December 2023 R2023F12A31R
Cost A 150,381 279,514 226 8,305 3,096 493,714 935,236
Accumulated depreciation EAHERAE (20087)  (59,105) (104) (4,188) (1,909) - (94,393)

and impairment

Net carrying amount el 121,204 220409 122 417 1,187 493,714 840,843
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

13. ¥1%¥ - BERRE (&)

Computer
Leasehold Plant and Funiture and office Motor  Construction
improvements machinery  and fixtures equipment vehicles in progress Total
BEMERE  HERER  GARRE SERELR e fEIR &t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
For the year ended 2022 HEN0EILER
At 1 January 2022: R202%1A1A -
Cost A 29,207 138,859 176 3,361 2,119 266,735 440,517
Accumulated depreciation and ZIERAE (6,626) (15,762) (62) (1,162) (571) = (24,183)
impairment
Net carrying amount SEYE 22,581 123,097 114 2,199 1,608 266,735 416,334
At 1 January 2022, net of 202251818 22,581 123,097 14 2,199 1,608 266,735 416,334
accumulated depreciation TRZHTERRE
and impairment
Additions AE - 30,104 24 813 134 150,200 181,275
Disposals e = (55) - = = = (55)
Depreciation provided ENfERR (6,716) (18,581) (32) (1,137) (609) - (27,075)
during the year
Transfers g3 852 21,337 = 876 370 (35,204) (11,769)
At 31 December 2022, net of R202E12A318 - 16,717 155,902 106 2,751 1,508 381,731 558,710
accumulated depreciation and TR ZHTERAE
impairment
At 31 December 2022 R202%12A31H
Cost A 30,059 190,064 200 5,050 2,683 381,731 609,787
Accumulated depreciation and ZIERAE (13,342) (34,162) (94) (2,299) (1,180) = (51,077)
impairment
Net carrying amount SEYE 16,717 155,902 106 2,751 1,503 381,731 558,710
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Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12 A31BIEFEE

LEASES 14. #HE
The Group as a lessee AEBEREBEA
During the year, the Group has lease contracts for FAAEEREEERFEANSEEE S
various items of leasehold land and properties used in HEMETZHESY - BERAEL —XE
its operations. Lump sum payments were made upfront MRARFEERERE 1 - AR50 -
to acquire the leased land from the owners with lease MR EZE L HEENER - TR EX
periods of 50 years, and no ongoing payments will be ERRIE - MFEHE—RBEHR2ESF -
made under the terms of these land leases. Leases of —RiME ' AEETNSEERSEINEER
properties generally have lease terms between 2 and 5 HEAEEE - MESSTEHEAK EZEIF
years. Generally, the Group is restricted from assigning RAS#HENFKMNEESY -
and subleasing the leased assets outside the Group. There
is no lease contract that includes extension and termination
options and variable lease payments.
(a)  Right-of-use assets (a) (EREEE
The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use FA - AEEFAEEENREBER
assets and the movements during the year are as g -
follows:
Leasehold
land Properties Total
HELH LYE3 st
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
AR®T T ARET T ARET T
As at 1 January 2022 R2022%F 1 A1H 31,309 23,965 55,274
Additions nNE - 31,534 31,534
Disposals k= = (142) (142)
Depreciation charge WELH (648) (13,476) (14,124)
As at 31 December 2022 R2022412 A31H 30,661 41,881 72,542
As at 1 January 2023 R2023%F1A1H 30,661 41,881 72,542
Additions NE - 4,078 4,078
Disposals k= - (20,546) (20,546)
Depreciation charge TEX W (649) (12,035) (12,684)
As at 31 December 2023 R2023%F 12 H31H 30,012 13,378 43,390

The leasehold land is pledged for the interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings in note 23 to the
consolidated financial statements.

HE L HERE MR 238
STERIT R EMAE TR
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14. LEASES (continued) 14. HE (&)
The Group as a lessee (continued) AEBERAHEA ()
(b)  Lease liabilities (b) THESE

The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the

FR - HEBENKREENRZESH

movements during the year are as follows: ™
2023 2022
2023 % 20224
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBTT
Carrying amount at 1 January ®1A1BMEREE 49,612 26,719
New leases WHE 4,078 31,534
Accretion of interest recognised FNEEREF BIE 1,363 1,914
during the year (note 7) (FaE7)
Disposals = (27,151) (106)
Payments (BN (8,747) (10,449)
Carrying amount at the end of the year FARAIREE 19,155 49612
Analysed into: DT
Current portion mENER S 14,731 20,361
Non-current portion IERENEB 4,424 29,251

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed
in note 34 to the financial statements.

The Group applied the practical expedient to
account for a forgiveness or waiver of lease
payments as a variable lease payment to make a
corresponding adjustment to the lease liabilities, in
effect derecognising the part of the lease liabilities
that has been forgiven or waived.

HERENIBD TR T BERRM T

34355 o

AEEEETERBEMEBRERNL
HEBENKESAEHEENK - K
HEEREETHRREE  KMAL
HRACHEGKARRNHERER

e
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HZE2023F12 A31BIEFEE

14. LEASES (continued) 14. HE (&)
The Group as a lessee (continued) AEEERAHEA ()
(c)  The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation (c) MREXEREVESHENSTEUT :
to leases are as follows:
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR®TR ARBTTT
Interest on lease liabilities HEBENE 1,363 1,914
Depreciation charge of right-of-use REEENTESI L 12,035 13,476
assets
Expense relating to short-term leases * BRIEHHA SR 2,140 1,688
Total amount recognised in profit or loss R85 R 45 15,538 17,078

Included in “Administrative expenses”, “Selling
and distribution expenses” and “Research and
development expenses” in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

The total cash outflow for leases is set out in note
29 to the financial statements.

* RAAGARERENEMEE RS
FAMTBRAX ] [HERDH#H
Fsc | R [#3ER ] -

(d) MENELRLLERRABREN
129 -
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GOODWILL w8

Goodwill
mE
RMB’ 000
AR¥T R
As at 1 January 2023, R2023F1H1H 9,305
Acquisition of a subsidiary Ui — M B A A -
Cost and net carrying amount at 31 December 2023 2023412 A31 BHKA R EEFE 9,305

As at 31 December 2023: K2023F12831H
Cost DN 9,305
Accumulated impairment 2EPRE -
Net carrying amount BREFE 9,305

Goodwill was acquired from the acquisition of Beijing
ABZYMO on 8 January 2019.

Impairment testing of goodwill

Goodwill acquired through business combinations is
allocated to the Group as the CGU (“CGU”) for impairment
testing.

The recoverable amount of the CGU has been determined
based on a fair value less cost of disposal (‘FVLCD”")
method using cash flow projections which has been
considered the highest and best use by market
participants. The cash flow projection covering a 20-year
period reflects current market expectations about the
Group’s future amounts. Using a 20-year forecast period
in the goodwill impairment test has been considered the
best information reasonably available that the market
participants would use. It was appropriate because it
generally takes longer for a vaccine company to reach
perpetual growth mode, compared to companies in other
industries, especially when its products are still under
clinical trial and the market of such product is at an early
stage of development with substantial growth potential.

EEER2019F1 ASHKEILRL A BT
U ER o

BERERE

BBRERBAHRBNAEDEEANKEE
RBREAANRSELEN ([REELSE
fiz]) e

REeELEMNEWESRETIRERFER
HERA (TAFEREERAK ) 75 AIE A
ReneRAEE  ZBADZEEMHLSHE
EFNRDREERE  ME20FHNEER
ERARREATSEARERRSENTE
B REABREANATEMR0FEAHEE
BHS2RENSEERNRKEEN - 1))
BIRE  AREEMITENRFMAL  &E
NEEBKEREERER —RFEREE - LHE
EEHEMDEREBRZARER - B%Em
HWmsRNERVABLEERAERES -
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GOODWILL (continued)
Impairment testing of goodwill (continued)

The following describes inputs that were used in the
FVLCD of the CGU as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 for
its cash flow projections to undertake impairment testing of
goodwill:

Revenue — The basis used to determine the projected
revenue which is based on market participant’s expectation
of when to launch the Group’s products and also the
expectation for future market. The Group’s product
candidates, HPV 9-valent vaccine and recombinant
shingles vaccine, are at the clinical trial stage, and the
market participants expect the Group to submit the
Biologics License Application (“BLA”) to the National
Medical Products Administration (“NMPA") for HPV 9-valent
vaccine and recombinant shingles vaccine in 2027. The
compound growth rate of revenue was estimated based
on information available at the time of assessment,
disregarding information that became available after the
assessment. Such information includes current industry
overview and estimated market development of related
products.

Budgeted gross margins — The basis used to determine
the value assigned to the projected gross margins was
the average gross margins that would achieve when
the product candidates are commercialised, and would
be increased for expected improvements of production
efficiency and market development.

Terminal growth rate — The forecasted terminal growth rate
is based on market expectations of the industry growth rate
and does not exceed the long-term average growth rate for
the industry relevant to the CGU.

Discount rate — The discount rate being used was 14.5% as
at 31 December 2023 and 2022 which was before tax and
reflected the risks relating to the relevant unit estimated by
market participants.

Based on the impairment assessment conducted by the
Group utilising the above key assumptions, the recoverable
amount of the CGU estimated from the cash flow forecast
exceeded the carrying amount of goodwill and no
impairment was considered necessary.

15.

B 5 ¥ R Y
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e (E)

EERERR (&)

AT pETEEREARNES RER
B SR EEEEMPN2023F K 2022F12
A 318 H R FE R &K A& A S

Wik — ETEEE RS EETERTISLH
HTEHA MBS HE H A S B A E A KRR T 5
MTEH - AEEMREER (NWLEHPVER
MEAERBEERR) ERBRABEE
522 B T8 BN 52 [ 15 70 2027 4 [A) B 5% 42
REBEER ([BREER]) R NEHPY
BEREASREZRENEYR R H
F(EDMRBFATRE]) - RABEERE
TR BT ER T ESHERGE  MAZE
B ESHNER - ZEEANBERBE
MAERIITEME RETISHE -

BEER® - BEHRTEMTHF0EE
BB 1R IR B @ E R AR TR
A RIS ESME RS R AH
e FHERI% -

R R R — TR R B R T ER S
TEREXNES  CTBBRRSELS
AR TR R TIgRE -

ARIR K — FTABRIR R AR 2023 F & 2022 4F
12A31H/14.5% @ BRI RKBRTHL
EE(HETAA BEBEMER -

REBEAKENA Lt = BREBETHRERT
i REREBRMAETOREELFEMA
WOl EEHEENREE - WRRBAE
HIRE °
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15.

GOODWILL (continued) 15. BE (&)
Impairment testing of goodwill (continued) BERENR (&)
The values assigned to the key assumptions on market EEE=EAEmMiZERNEERE LA
development of related products and the pre-tax discount EEEETE’M S (EEINBER SRR —E -
rate are consistent with external information sources.
Sensitivity to changes in key assumptions: FRBREHHFRE -
The management of the Company has performed sensitivity AARBRED BARRKBIKREN1% - &
test by decreasing 1% of expected revenue, deceasing 1% RIEEEFEM1% - BEKIFEREN1%
of budgeted gross margins, decreasing 1% of the terminal S8 DA AT BG IR R A9 1 % EATBURE ORI -
growth rate or increasing 1% of the pre-tax discount rate, MEABEMBRRRENE - REELBMNM
with all other assumptions held constant. The impacts on e cEBEYEEMENZE (F2) 0
the amount by which the CGU'’s recoverable amount above N
its carrying amount (headroom) are as follows:
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARMT T ARBEFTT
Headroom FE 4,186,320 2,974,525
Impact by decreasing expected revenue FRETEE I = 2 (49,390) (62,395)
Impact by decreasing budgeted BREBEEMENFE (72,309) (34,353)
gross margins
Impact by decreasing terminal growth rate  FR{ER % KRN L (148,995) (53,241)
Impact by increasing pre-tax discount rate &% AT AL IR R A2 (841,934) (509,383)

Considering there was still sufficient headroom based
on the assessment, the management of the Company
believes that a reasonably possible change in the above
key parameters would not cause the carrying amount of the
CGU to exceed its recoverable amount.

ZRIBBEFENERANFZE - KAF

BEERRLREE %&E’V—\@T%‘%ZET\A
BYRLEABNNEREEBLETNDS
R e
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16. HMEREE

In-progress
research and
development

Software technology Total
BMEHRH
B AR BT ot
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
ARET T AR¥T AR¥T
31 December 2023 2023%12A31H
Cost at 1 January 2023, net of 1202341 A1 BRI - 11,385 22,120 33,505
accumulated amortisation OBk R AT 5
Transfers from construction in EETIREA 12,068 - 12,068
progress
Amortisation provided during FANETIRE (4,447) = (4,447)
the year
At 31 December 2023 R2023% 12 A31H 19,006 22,120 41,126
At 31 December 2023: R2023F 124318
Cost BN 23,837 22,120 45,957
Accumulated amortisation RETHEE (4,831) - (4,831)
Net carrying amount BRME A 19,006 22,120 41,126
31 December 2022 2022%12A31H
At 1 January 2022: R2022F1A1H :
Cost B - 22,120 22,120
Accumulated amortisation BT - - -
Net carrying amount BREFHE - 22,120 22,120
Cost at 1 January 2022, net of /202241 81 HERZ - - 22,120 22,120
accumulated amortisation Bk 2T 5
Transfers from construction in EEIREA 11,769 = 11,769
progress
Amortisation provided during the AT I2EE 8 (384) = (384)
year
At 31 December 2022 2022912 H31H 11,385 22,120 33,505
At 31 December 2022 and at 1 R2022F12A31BH &
January 2023: R2023F1 /108 :
Cost BN 11,769 22,120 33,889
Accumulated amortisation RETEEH (384) = (384)
Net carrying amount BREFE 11,385 22,120 33,505
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16.

OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)
Impairment testing of intangible assets

The intangible assets represented the in-progress research
and development (“R&D”) technology acquired in relation
to Beijing ABZYMO acquisition.

The in-progress R&D technology is amortised using the
straight-line method over their estimated useful lives when
available for use. The recoverable amount of in-progress
R&D technology has been determined based on a FVLCD
method using cash flow projections having taken into
account of the highest and best use by market participants.
The cash flow projections covering a 20-year period, as
referenced by the useful life of the patent, reflected the
current market expectations related to the future economic
benefits of the in-progress R&D technology. Using a 20-
year forecast period for the in-progress R&D technology
impairment test is appropriate because the technology
is still in progress and its useful life is expected to be
20 years which is estimated by considering the period
of the economic benefits to the Group. It generally takes
longer for the HPV 9-valent vaccine to be launched in the
market and generate benefits to the Group, compared to
companies in other industries, especially when the Group’s
product candidate — HPV 9-valent vaccine is still under
clinical trial and the market of such product is at an early
stage of development with substantial growth potential.

16.

HitEEEE (&)
B EERERNR

BEAERARANBIER T EBREIES
BB P AR 3R (THIFEE ) S0l ©

7 25 T O BT R AT A A B A R AR AR B AR i R
AERFREREREEE - FREPOITE
Pl e AT UL (3] & R T ARAR X R H B AR
TAKERREERETRYETE - ZEASE
BmE2EENESRRERR - WE20
FHNRLREBFEN (2ZBZEMH AL A
FHY) RBRE BT 5 55 AR R R
RAEMBEATAR o AR BT IDER R # A
B BFEHIEAFERA205F (BREBAE
By BN SRR - WHRAE PO
BRI ERSEA0FEASRBSE - &
H{TRMRAAMEL  AMEHPVEEBES
EEREHAELTESAEEEE N
LERAEENREERNEHPVREEDRE
RERAARER - AtBERNTHRER A
BREIRRE IR TR -
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OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)
Impairment testing of intangible assets (continued)

Revenue — The basis used to determine the projected
revenue, which was based on market participants’
expectation of when to launch one of the Group’s
product candidates — HPV 9-valent vaccine, and also the
expectation of the future market. HPV 9-valent vaccine is at
the clinical trial stage, and the market participants expect
the Group to submit the Biologics License Application
(“BLA") to the National Medical Products Administration
(“NMPA?”) for this vaccine in 2027. The compound growth
rate of revenue was estimated based on information
available at the time of assessment, disregarding
information that became available after the assessment.
Such information includes current industry overview and
estimated market development of related products.

Budgeted gross margins — The basis used to determine
the value assigned to the projected gross margins was
the average gross margins that would achieve when
the HPV 9-valent vaccine is commercialised, and would
be increased for expected improvements of production
efficiency and market development.

Discount rate — The discount rate being used was 15.5%
as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 which was before tax
and reflected the risks relating to the in-progress R&D
technology.

Based on the impairment assessment conducted by the
Group utilising the above key inputs, the recoverable
amount of the in-progress R&D technology estimated from
the cash flow forecast exceeded its carrying amount and
no impairment was considered necessary.

16.
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HitEEEE (&)
BREERERNR (&)

ik — BETEAIRESNEEENMISRE
HERARELASEEREERZ — — NUE
HPVEZ i R AR MIHHTELE - LEHPVER
BERERAREE  AMB2EEBEHAE
ER2027FRBREREEETER ([H
REER ) RXZEBNEYR R RS
(TR AIRF]) - WABEEERTY
RIFF SR ] SR ERMEE - MAEEF
MEAIESNER - ZEEHBEEBER
WERTTERE RGNS RE -

BEEMNE - B R THEAENXNEE
PTAMEESNEBHPVEE S BN E(LRE
EYERAHARGERRERTHERMA
PTIEINEyFI9FER X o

BYIR R — 20234 N 2022412 A31 BE A/
BEIRE AB15.5%  ABRTA M REFAZEFH
B R A R R

RIEA S BB Lt = 28 ABBETHOR
B - AEt AR RERNNAEHH
BRI RO SR EREE - 83
RBAELRE -
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16.

OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued) 16. H\EEEE (&)
Impairment testing of intangible assets (continued) EREERENSR (F)
Sensitivity to changes in key assumptions: FARBREHNHRE :
The management of the Company has performed sensitivity AAREREDBBREBHKZEN1%
test by decreasing 1% of expected revenue, deceasing 1% P K TE B B F A9 1% sk 38 AN FR AT AL IR R/
of budgeted gross margins, or increasing 1% of the pre-tax 1% ETRURERIR - MATE M ERERFT
discount rate, with all other assumptions held constant. The B o BRI ERMTE A ke SRR A
impacts on the amount by which the recoverable amount of REENZE (CF=)WT
the in-progress R&D technology above its carrying amount
(headroom) are as follows:
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR¥TT ARBEFTT
Headroom FE 1,141,800 1,690,600
Impact by decreasing expected revenue 3 i EHH%Z TH R B (8,300) (13,200)
Impact by decreasing budgeted R TEEEN R E (49,500) (33,400)
gross margins
Impact by increasing pre-tax discount rate & iNF¢ATALIR R §/ 22 (102,500) (139,100)
Considering there was still sufficient headroom based ZREBBETENARHNFZE - ARFE

on the assessment, the management of the Company
believes that a reasonably possible change in the above
key parameters would not cause the carrying amount of
the in-progress R&D technology to exceed its recoverable

amount.

HERAE M FBRYNSEBAEEH TS
B R R I B T A AR B E R ) H AT R
B &% o
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OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS 17. HiERBHEE
2023 2022
2023 20224
RMB’ 000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARBT T

Time deposits TEHIER - 31,404
Prepayment for purchase of property, BEMHE - BERKENHENFIE 118,410 182,585
plant and equipment
Deposits — non current* L& — FERNER 2,400 =
Prepayment for long-term insurance** REVRBR A TR RIE 1,430 1,636
122,240 215,625
As at 31 December 2023, the Group had no time deposits with M2023F12HA31H » AEEWEIBHE R —
a maturity date of one year later. FRREHFER -
* The Company signed a finance lease contract * AR THEFEN B ERS R AR
with Zhongguancun Science-Tech Leasing Co., ([HEART]) 35 T e R S B E A
Ltd. (“Zhongguancun”) with regard to the sale and ARMEHERY  HPmP AN
leaseback for certain equipment, of which the related 1HEAE & & AR #2,400,0007T ©

deposit being paid to Zhongguancun was amounting to
RMB2,400,000.

* This is the prepayment for long-term insurance, which ** A RBRBRAOENKIE - EHR
will expire in September 2027. 202749 A B -
INVENTORIES 18. #E&
2023 2022
2023%F 20224F
RMB’ 000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARETTT

Raw materials R R 100,977 56,160
Provision for inventories FEEE (7,227) =

93,750 56,160
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19. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND 19. WA - AfttERFERAEMEE
OTHER ASSETS

As at As at
December 31, December 31,
2023 2022
R2023F 20224
12A31H 12H31H
RMB’ 000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARBET T

Prepayments for raw materials R B TR 308 24,326 9,983

Prepayment for research and e MTERNRIE 4,433 6,526
development expenses

Deposits T 2,778 3,852

Value-added tax recoverable AT U [ HE(E R 38,569 12,575

Prepayment for shares purchased under BAF2022 FHAR BB =T 8IFE A 46,649 =
2022 H share incentive scheme (note 26) A& BITEN FKIE (Fi7E26)

Others H A, 6,442 5,674

123,197 38,610

The financial assets included in the above balances relate PA LA S RS E T B | R &

to receivables for which there was no recent history of WEIR BRI B RIE B - MN& e H

default and past due amounts. As at the end of each of the N EERBERIGRSEIK -

reporting periods, the loss allowance was assessed to be

minimal.

Value-added tax recoverable represents input VAT related AR ENEERIEHEEEEYE - BE K& HE

to property, plant and equipment acquired and research URBEANFERST A BNEEIZER

and development expenses incurred which are expected B EBRRE BRI H % ARIEN

to be recovered either through refund from tax bureaus SHIEIEED o TREH AR —F U E A RIEET

or to be utilised in the future to offset the output VAT. The ERBEE -

amounts that are expected to be recovered within one year
and thus are recorded as current assets.
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BERBITER
2023 2022
2023 20224
RMB’ 000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARBT T

Cash at banks RITIF R 912,426 1,169,092
Time deposits TEHER - 156,058
Subtotal NEE 912,426 1,325,150
Less: Pledged deposits B BEERTER (77,443) =
Cash and cash equivalents HekBEeZEEY 834,983 1,325,150
Denominated in: LATR%IEB HE :

RMB AR 247,104 205,393
Usb ETT 509,223 701,487
HKD BT 78,656 418,270
Total st 834,983 1,325,150

The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies,
however, under Chinese mainland’s Foreign Exchange
Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, and
Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the
Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies
through banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange
business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on
daily bank deposit rates. The bank balances and pledged
deposits are deposited with creditworthy banks with no
recent history of default.

ARBAAERABRSEMER - A - R
BB R CIMNEE IR GD) R(EE - SE
RNEEERE)  AEEREARBER
REITINERBEORITHARB LB EM

RITFERRE B RITERN X ZF SN KR
S - |RITEBK M ERFRERNEE
RAf BT B30 48 R SO SR HOERTT
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21. TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES

An ageing analysis of the trade and bills payables as at the
end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is

21. EZEAMARERENSERS

RBERR - EHRNFBRENZERE

BHEBAMNRESTAOT

as follows:
2023 2022
12023 F 20224
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBFT
Within 1 year —FR 113,918 62,507
Over 1 year il —F 1,163 10
115,081 62,517
Trade and bills payables are non-interest-bearing and are —BRIE

normally settled within the normal operating cycle.

BZRNKEARENREBETFE
A
=

FeBARNEE -
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22, HiENFERESER

2023 2022

A 20234F 20224

RMB’ 000 RMB’000

ARET T ARET T

Deposits received from vendors BE 5 WErEe 19,814 25,778

Payable for property, plant and equipment EY%¥ - BE MR EHHA 24,060 25,755

Accrued research and development JEETI B 85,140 105,749
expenses

Accrued renovation and construction JEErRIERBEEMY 89,570 35,157
expenses

Staff payroll, welfare and bonus payables  JEfIE T&HEl - &F RIEAL 33,683 43,050

Other payables H fth A< 5RIE 15,849 9,222

268,116 244,711

Other payables and accruals of the Group are non-interest-

bearing and have an average term of three months. FHERA=M@A -

AEBNEMENFIBMEFERSZER
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23.

calculated and published by the National Interbank
Funding Center authorised by the People’s Bank of
China.

> The borrowing was secured by leasehold land, and

bear a floating interest rate.

e The borrowings amounting to RMB40,877,000 (31

December 2022: Nil) were related to a finance lease
contract with Zhongguancun Science-Tech Leasing
Co., Ltd. (“Zhongguancun”), which were secured by
mortgages over the sale and leaseback equipment,
and bear a fixed interest rate with 6.7%.

*%

INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 23. ESHBITRHEMMER
BORROWINGS
As at 31 December 2023 As at 31 December 2022
R2023%12731R 2022412 A31H
Effective interest Effective interest
rate per annum %  Maturity ~ RMB’000  rate per annum % Maturity ~ RMB'000
BERERR%)  H8R ARETR EREHR(%) SR ARETL
Current UL
Bank loans - secured** RITER - BHA 5-year LPR* 2024 4,800 = = =
5% HLPR* 20245
Bank loans - unsecured - BER 1-year LPR+5bps - 2024 21,675 1-year LPR*+20bps 2023 1,000
1-year LPR+35bps
1EHLPRIGEEHRZ 2024 1EHLPR 20235
1EHLPRINI5EE S M20{EES
Bank loans - unsecured BITER - BER 1-year LPR 2024 4,150 3.45% 2023 394
1E8LPR 20245 2023
Borrowings related to sale and &% B 7 A fE 70 6.7% 2024 15,682 = = =
leaseback™*
2024
Non-Current N
Bank loans - secured ROEHR - BHA 5-year LPR  2025-2028 195,200 5-year LPR  2024-2028 100,000
5#HLPR  2025%% S5EHIPR  2024E%
20285 2028
Bank loans - unsecured R - BHR 1-year LPR+5bps -  2025-2026 327,592 1-year LPR+20bps  2024-2025 98,500
1-year LPR+35bps
1EHLPRMSEEHRZE  20255% 1EHLPR 202455
1EHLPRIM3SBEE 2026% M201EES 20254
Bank loans - unsecured B - EHA 1-year LPR 2025 37,346 3.45%  2024-2025 33,121
1E8LPR 20255 202452
2025
Borrowings related to sale and &% BB A f 70 6.7% 2026 25,195 = = =
leaseback™*
2026
631,640 233,015
LPR (Loan Prime Rate) is the basic loan reference rate * LPR(EREBENEX) AHBEARRITE

EHERRTHREREFLAELR
MEERERBEFK o

s

ERARE T EER - BOF B RG

8
=

HEAENRIEAERNER AR ([HE
N BINRERESNEBNER S
ANER#40,877,0007T (20224 12 A 31
B:Z) ZERAESEOHERENR
B - 1R6. 7% EERRETE -
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23. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 23. G ESRITREMER(E)
BORROWINGS (continued)

Analysed into: DT ¢
2023 2022
2023 % 20224
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARMT T ARBEFIT
Analysed into: SR -
Bank loans and overdrafts repayable: EEENRITERRES
Within one year or on demand —FANIZEK 30,625 1,394
In the second year F2F 250,832 3,692
In the third to fifth years, inclusive FEIZEF - BIEERME 309,306 227,929
Subtotal NEF 590,763 233,015
Other borrowings repayable: FEEZE) EADERK -
Within one year —FR 15,682 =
In the second year F24F 16,516 =
In the third to fifth years, inclusive FEIRFESF BIEEREMF 8,679 =
Subtotal NEt 40,877 -
Total #Est 631,640 233,015
24. DEFERRED INCOME 24. EZEWA
2023 2022
2023 % 20224
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARMT T AR¥EFIT
Government grants BT B 75,811 61,144
Government grants received related to assets invested in BRETHBEEENRERBENEESR
equipment and plant were credited to deferred income and W STABRERA - SWNAEREEEMTEE ]
are recognised as income over the expected useful lives of EAFHAERRBEA -

the relevant assets.
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25. DEFERRED TAX 25. IRIEFIEF
Deferred tax liabilities EERBEAE
2023
20234
Fair value
adjustments

arising from
acquisition of Right-of-use

subsidiaries assets Total
W B 2 R
EER

DR EFE ERAEEE st

RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000

ARBT T ARBT T ARET T

At 31 December 2022 R2022% 12 A31H 5,530 - 5,530
Effect of adoption of amendments to R4V &5+ # 8 - 8,357 8,357
IAS 12 E125R BT A2
T
At 1 January 2023 (restated) M2023F1A1H 5,530 8,357 13,887
(& &E31))
Deferred tax charged/(credited) to the REREBZEERMN - (5,666) (5,666)
statement of profit or loss during the B (Gt A) &9
year EREF IR
Exchange differences EH =5 - - -
Gross deferred tax liabilities at R2023%F 12 A31H 5,530 2,691 8,221
31 December 2023 RIELER I & (F

R




Annual Report 2023
ZRC=EER 217

Notes to Financial Statements

B 5 ¥ R Y

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12 A31BIEFEE

25. DEFERRED TAX (continued) 25. EEBIE (&)

Deferred tax assets EEHREBEEE
2023
2023
Lease
liabilities
HEAEE
RMB’ 000
ARET T
At 31 December 2022 2022512 A31H -
Effect of adoption of amendments to IAS 12 HABBR S ERIZE 1257 8,357

BRIR 228
At 1 January 2023 (restated) ®2023F1 A 18 (&K=7) 8,357
Deferred tax credited to the statement of profit ~REARNBBFZERT AN (5,666)
or loss during the year R E

Gross deferred tax assets at 31 December 2023 72023412831 H#K] 2,691

BIETIAE EARRR
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25.

DEFERRED TAX (continued)

25. EEHIR ()

Deferred tax liabilities EEBEAE
2022
20224
Fair value
adjustments
arising from
acquisition of Right-of-use
subsidiaries assets Total
L B BT /8 A R
EEH
NEEFE FREEE ‘st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFTT ARETT ARBT T
At 31 December 2021 R2021%F12H31H 5,530 - 5,530
Effect of adoption of amendments to R4V EFR &85 - 4,229 4,229
IAS 12 125 BT R 2 &
At 1 January 2022 (restated) 1K2022F1H1H 5,530 4,229 9,759
(&%)
Deferred tax charged/(credited) to the REREEZEXMN = 4,128 4128
statement of profit or loss during the — E& (5t A) &
year (restated) EIERTE (KLEF))
Gross deferred tax liabilities at RK2022F12H31H 5,530 8,357 13,887

31 December 2022 (restated) RIELETIERER

(&)
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25. EZEBIIE (8)

Deferred tax assets BEEBEEE
2022
20224
Lease
liabilities
HEAE
RMB’000
ARBT T
At 31 December 2021 72021412 A31H -
Effect of adoption of amendments to IAS 12 FRANBI R g st 2R 1258 4,229
BRI Rz &8
At 1 January 2022 (restated) 202291 F18 (K&7) 4,229
Deferred tax credited to the statement of profit RERNEHEERT AL 4,128
or loss during the year (restated) RERIE (8 EF)
Gross deferred tax assets at 31 December 2023 72023412 A31HH) 8,357
(restated) FERIEE EAR (KES)
For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets REFRME BETEEHBEEERABBRER
and liabilities have been offset in the statement of financial WBARRNZ AT - AEBIEMBRER S
position, The following is an analysis of the deferred tax BRI IR SR DTN T -
balances of the Group for financial reporting purposes:
2023 2022
2023 %F 20224
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBT T
(Restated)
(f&E7))
Net deferred tax liabilities recognised in RERE BRI R R AR 5,530 5,530
the consolidated statement of financial R IEBEFR
position
Net deferred tax liabilities in respect of BB S EERRERE 5,530 5,530
continuing operations BEFE

219
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26.

SHARE CAPITAL/TREASURY SHARES

26. KX EEK

Shares % 17
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARET T AREET T

Issued and fully paid: BEEITRERE
482,963,000 (2022: 482,963,000) ordinary 482,963,000 % (20224 : 482,963 482,963
shares 482,963,000 % ) & @A%

A summary of movements in the Company’s share capital

is as follows:

ARTRAEBBELT :

Share capital ;&N Total

st

RMB’ 000

AR®T T

As at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022 202312 A31H &2022%F12A31H 482,963

Treasury shares EFR Total

st

RMB’ 000

ARBTT

As at 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 R2022%12 431 H &2023%F1H1H -

Shares purchased under the 2022 H Share Incentive  1R1%2022 F H FE =21 AR A5 (a) (54,005)
Scheme (a)

As at 31 December 2023 K2023F 12 A31H (54,005)

Note:

HisE -

(a) On 16 September 2022, shareholders of the Group (a)
approved the adoption of the 2022 H share incentive
scheme (the “2022 H Share Incentive Scheme”).
Pursuant to the 2022 H Share Incentive Scheme, a
total of 3,811,000 shares were purchased from the
secondary market by the trustee under the scheme at a
total consideration of RMB54,005,000 before expenses

during 2023.

R2022F9H16 B » AN&E BRI
2022 FHRR S ENET &l ([20224FH
RS EE S ]) o RIF2022F HA BB 5T
Bl FEAR2023FNAREBARE
54,005,0007T (RETFAX) R4k i
LA A ££3,811,00088%15 -
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RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s and the Company’s reserves
and the movements therein for the current and prior years
are presented in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity and in the statement of financial position of the
Company in note 35 to the financial statements.

SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The Company adopted share award schemes (the
“Schemes”) for certain personnel in order to recognise and
reward the contribution of certain directors and employees
(“Granted employees”) to the growth and development of
the Group, and retain eligible employees for the continuous
operation and development of the Group. During the year,
the Group granted equity interests of the Company under
the Schemes through Taizhou Ruibaitai Pharmaceutical
Technology Partnership (L.P.)(Former name: Lianyungang
Ruibaitai Pharmaceutical Technology Partnership (L.P.))
(“Ruibaitai”) and Lianyungang Ruibaihe Pharmaceutical
Technology Partnership (L.P.) (“Ruibaihe”). Both of
Ruibaitai and Ruibaihe are controlled by the general
partners of the partnerships.

On 25 March 2021, 2.2% of the then equity interest in the
Company were granted to 41 selected employees of the
Company for a consideration of RMB12,738,000 through
Ruiwenshibole. There was no vesting period for these
equity interest granted.

On 25 March 2021, 2.8% of the then equity interest in the
Company were granted to 41 selected employees of the
Company for a consideration of RMB16,212,000 through
Ruibaitai. The vesting period and vesting condition of the
scheme were as follows.

In May 2021, 0.1038% of the then equity interest
(equivalent to 46,544 shares before the Share Allotment,
and 465,436 as adjusted after the Share Allotment) in the
Company were forfeited due to the resign of one employee,
and were transferred to another employee as newly granted
share awards.

27.

28.
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e

RAFEFBEFE  ARERARB
BB LEHNPERRM IS 2HRE R
BHRMARBFHRAKRES

MR A0 SR BT &

ARRRBETAEBRAT RO EZBE (T
g UREEEBETEZLER ([ER
BEDEASERENERNER  XAK
SENHELENERREAERESR - 1
FA - AEEBRBRNGEREERMRAR
X (ERAR) (A EEBRAREE
MEaBEE (BRAR)) (mAa%]) ki
ERmBNBEMRAREE (FRAR)
(MmA M) EFEI TR T ARBRBRE I
BXRknaMomaBRETERGBAE
i o

R2021F3 258 @ KRRAI2.2%H ERFAX
HEBBE B A R 12,738,000 7THY
REFFARARMNBETET  ZSERRK
NS B o

HR2021F3 258 @ KRRI2.8%H ERFAX

R E A TUARKE 16,212,000 TR (E

BYARBIMNEZETEREES - ZrEMEBH
BT o

M2021F5A  B—RESFBMIWER
7]0.1038% #Y & Ff ik i (48 & P AR 17 B 3% Al
H946,544 88815 + R R B AR
465,436 %) + WIE R LR (K RE) M=
TR—%ES -
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28.

SHARE AWARD SCHEME (continued)

During July to November 2021, 0.0175% of the then equity
interest (equivalent to 78,533 shares) in the Company were
forfeited due to the resign of two employees and were
transferred to another employee as newly granted share
awards.

On 27 September 2021, 1.1% of the then equity interest
(equivalent to 4,925,832 shares) in the Company were
granted to 19 selected employees of the Company for a
consideration of RMB9,572,000 through Ruibaihe. The 1.1%
equity interest aforementioned was transferred from Mr.
Yong Liu which has met the vesting condition and thus was
regarded as newly granted share awards.

During May to September 2022, 0.0727% of the then equity
interest (equivalent to 325,878 shares) in the Company
were forfeited due to the resign of two employees and were
transferred to another employee as newly granted share
awards.

During 2023, 0.2048% of the then equity interest
(equivalent to 989,290 shares) in the Company were
forfeited due to the resign of seven employees and were
transferred to another employee as newly granted share
awards.

The vesting period and vesting condition of the granted
equity interests through Ruibaitai and Ruibaihe were as

28.

IR 10 S =t & ()

R2021FE7AE11 A AMEBEEEFERM
SRULZAN A F0.0175% B0 & B AR (FB g R
78,633 & 1) « WEAFIE L ARG BEMm
HETS—ZES -

R2021F 9278 * ARGE1.1% M & B
# (FHE 14,925,832 %% (7 ) & BT B A A
AR¥9,572 000 LR ER FTARAF 195
BEEE - P11 %BRECHIIBLLAE
EMABRECRABBIGNG  BWZER
PR AR BT AR 52 E -

MN2022FE5 8298  AMAEEEBM
SBUARNT0.0727% M EBBRE (HER
325,878k 0 ) - WHERFTH AR D 2B M
HWETS—ZES -

MN2023F - AtZEEFHBMLIMARF
0.2048% H) & I Ik 1 (1B E 70 989,290 Iz iR
7)) WEAFEHBRMERMEET S —
ZER -

BBEEA R MERHRENEE
&N o

follows.

Vesting % Vesting Period

SR BI% 5

20% (i) if employment with the Group exceeds two years: 20% of the share awards granted
can be vested at grant date; (ii) otherwise, the vesting period is defined as grant date
through the date reaching two years’ employment with the Group
(i) MAEBEEABAMT : KERMEBN20%IRREBEHEE : (VB8 - FEBHATA
REBEH  BEEASEHERBHEAMFEA

20% 3 years
3%

60% 5 years

54
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SHARE AWARD SCHEME (continued) 28. KR EBGHE (E)

The fair value of services received in return for a share P AR (5 BB WA RIS A FET 2 ZE
award granted is measured by reference to the fair value Esdunliidh 3o L NS R ED N SN = ol A
of the share award granted less the consideration received FTE o BHEMRNKEN A FEEROHEL
by the Group. The fair value of the share award granted HHMmIZE A= © R2023F @ BEET
is measured as the market value at the grant date, for the HHRzZWMEDERRNATEZSZE - @
year of 2023, the closing share price as of the grant date R2021FE 2 A FEDFERRB SR A XE
is used as a reference of the fair value of the shares, while EoFERZJ(BEMRE  KpERER
for the year of 2021, the fair value is determined using the R misnBEIE) BERAAQRESEIN
discounted cash flow approach. Key assumptions including SEMGFER -

the discount rate, terminal growth rate and DLOM are
required to be determined by the directors of the Company
with best estimate.

Grant during 2021

R2021 FHREEH
Discount rate AhIR & 14.5% — 16%
Terminal growth rate Bmig R = 0%
DLOM Rz s B i & 7.0% - 15%
During the year ended 31 December 2023, share-based B ZE2023F12831HILFE UK AE
payments of RMB41,893,000 (2022: RMB47,816,000) were PEE 1 TR A R #541,893,0007T (20224 = A

charged to profit or loss. R#47,816,0007T) Rz HIK °

223



224

Jiangsu Recbio Technology Co., Ltd.
SIERMENEMRHHRAF

Notes to Financial Statements

B 75 ¥ R B o

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F 12 A31 B ILFE

29. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 29. #ME&BR&RERKEE
OF CASH FLOWS
(a) Major non-cash transactions (a) FEIEERSB
During the year, the Group had non-cash additions FRN - AEESMERSELHHNER
to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of BEEREEAGENIFRSIERA
RMB4,078,000 (2022: RMB31,534,000), in respect R #4,078,0007T (20224 : AR
of lease arrangements for properties. 31,534,0007T) °
The Group had non-cash additions to administrative RN BT EIME - NEBEITHHA
expenses, selling and distribution expenses X o HE R HRA X R KA IE
and research and development costs of RERNED R R AREE28,781,000
RMB28,781,000, RMB1,379,000 and RMB11,733,000 7T AR#1,379,000t X A R ¥
(2022: RMB26,419,000, RMB1,701,000 and 11,733,000t (20224 : AR¥
RMB19,696,000), respectively, in respect of share 26,419,0007T *+ AR#¥1,701,0007T
award schemes. M AR#19,696,0007T) °
(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing (b) RETBHELENEEESH
activities
Bank and Lease
other loans liabilities Total
RITR
Hih &R HEASE st
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
AR¥T R AR¥T R AR¥TT
At 1 January 2023 R2023%F1A1H 233,015 49,612 282,627
Additions V= 408,871 4,078 412,949
Disposals k=S - (27,151) (27,151)
Interest expense FIEF S 19,989 1,363 21,352
Payment (BN (30,235) (8,747) (38,982)
Including: B
- Changes from financing cash flows — Bi&HE € &% (22,449) (8,747) (31,196)
— Changes from investing cash flows — KREH % &2 (7,786) - (7,786)
At 31 December 2023 R2023%F 12 A31H 631,640 19,155 650,795
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29. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT

OF CASH FLOWS (continued)
(b)

(c)

29. LEBEREBRMEE (H)

Changes in liabilities arising from financing (b) RMETBHEENESLSH (H)
activities (continued)
Payable
Bank and Lease for listing
other loans liabilities expenses Total
BITR
Hitt &R HERE EMLHEX @t
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARBTT AR¥Tx AR%Tn
At 1 January 2022 #2022 1A1H 50,000 26,719 9,429 86,148
Additions NE 183,015 31,534 - 214,549
Disposals HE = (1086) = (106)
Interest expense FERZ 5,567 1,914 = 7,481
Payment AR (5,567) (10,449) (19,361) (35,377)
Including: 227
-Changes from financing cash flows - BEHE ERE (1,620) (10,449) (5,723) (17.792)
-Changes from operating cash flows ~MER S NER = = (13.638) (13638)
-Changes from investing cash flows - REF G RERE) (3.947) = = (3.947)
Listing expenses Nalyili5 - = 9,932 9,932
At 31 December 2022 202212 A31H 233,015 49,612 - 282,627
Total cash outflow for leases (c) HERERLEE
The total cash outflow for leases included in the HARESTRERNBAENR S T HA
statement of cash flows is as follows: B
2023 2022
2023 %F 20224
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBT T
Within operating activities L TEEN 2,140 1,688
Within financing activities BB EENA 8,747 10,449
10,887 12,137
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30. COMMITMENTS 30.

The Group had the following capital commitments at the
end of the reporting period:

iR
RBERR - AKENEAREZELT ¢

As at As at
December 31, December 31,
2023 2022
R20234% 20224
12A31H 12H31H
RMB’ 000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARBT T

Contracted, but not provided for: EETHE M R B -
Buildings BF
Plant and machinery BB M 2s

25,487 32,672
50,680 36,252

76,167 68,924
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 31. BEBAEXRS
The Group had no transactions with related parties during AN ER B R A 3 A BB B 5 HETT RIS S o
the year. The Group had no outstanding balances with NG (B R R T B R BB M A BA o
related parties.
Compensation of key management personnel of the TEEREREEASHH
Group:
The remuneration of directors, supervisors and the chief B EERGaRTBRABSHREEAR
executive of key management was as follows: BN -
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARMT T ARBTT
Salaries, bonuses, allowances and benefits e B4 R REYA S 11,974 10,975
in kind
Pension scheme contributions RIKEFTEIHK 364 314
Share-based payments LA RS9 A 2 Hi 8 51 3K 22,235 17,491
Total compensation paid to key management X FREREIEAEH 34,573 28,780

personnel 4z

Further details of directors’, supervisors’ and the chief
executive’'s remuneration are set out in note 8 to the
financial statements.

FRES ESRERTBRABFHME—
FHBHNI B RERMEES
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 32. REMESHEMIA

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial
instruments as at the end of each of the reporting periods

are as follows:

As at December 31, 2023

-
&

A2023F12A31H

BEHmEAR SRR T ANREEN

Financial assets TRMEE
Financial
assets at
amortised cost
BB ATTERN
TREE
RMB’ 000
AR¥T T
Financial assets included in prepayments, FTATER IR « HAtb FEWGRIE K& 2,778
other receivables and other assets EMEENSREE
Cash and cash equivalents HekREEEY 834,983
837,761
As at December 31, 2023 #2023%F12831H
Financial liabilities SEes
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
REBHRATTERN
=R
RMB’ 000
AR¥T T
Trade and bills payables B SN RIERENER 115,081
Financial liabilities included in other payables AHMENREREFERNEHEE 44,521
and accruals
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings AT BERTT R H A8 K 631,640

791,242
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 32. RZRERE-sWERMIA (&)

(continued)

As at 31 December 2022

A2022F12A31H

Financial assets ETHMEE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
BB 2R
RMB’000
ARBT T
Financial assets included in prepayments, FTATER IR « H b FEWGRIE K& 3,852

other receivables and other assets EMmEENSREE
Time deposits TE B 187,462
Cash and cash equivalents RENRESEZEY 1,169,092
1,360,406
As at 31 December 2022 #2022%F12831H

Financial liabilities cRAaE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
LB E R
CRAE
RMB’000
ARBT T
Trade and bills payables B 5 M5 IE R EN R & 62,517
Financial liabilities included in other payables FFAHMENFIEREFERNSHARE 244,711

and accruals

Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings T EERIT R EAMEK 231,621

538,849
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33.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Fair values

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and
cash equivalents, trade and bills payables, financial assets
included in prepayments, other receivables and other
assets, and financial liabilities included in other payables
and accruals approximate to their carrying amounts largely
due to the short-term maturities of these instruments.
The fair values of other non-current financial liabilities
including interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
and redemption liabilities on owners’ capital have been
calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows
using rates currently available for instruments with similar
terms, credit risk and remaining maturities and the fair
values approximate to their carrying amounts.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are
included at the amount at which the instrument could be
exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties,
other than in a forced or liquidation sale. The following
methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair
values:

The fair values of the non-current portion of time deposits
and interest-bearing bank and other borrowings have been
calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows
using rates currently available for instruments with similar
terms, credit risk and remaining maturities. The changes in
fair value as a result of the Group’s own non-performance
risk for interest-bearing bank and other borrowings as
at 31 December 2023 and 2022 were assessed to be
insignificant. Management has assessed that the fair values
of the non-current portion of time deposits and interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings approximate to their
carrying amounts.

The Group’s finance department is responsible for
determining the policies and procedures for the fair value
measurement of financial instruments. At the end of each
of the reporting periods, the finance department analyses
the movements in the values of financial instruments and
determines the major inputs applied in the valuation. The
directors review the results of the fair value measurement
of financial instruments periodically for financial reporting.

33.

ETHMITANAFERRIFEER

AT

EEECHG  T2HRRETANEHE
HtE  ReRRSEEY  BEHEMNKA
MEMRE - AR - EfhEWEIE
KEMEEN S RE EIA R A MR
AEEFERNERABEZAFERERE
BERBEE - KRB A E (2
BRITREMERREFTEABEANERDA
&) ATFEDRER  EERRRFHE
MR 77 AR AR T R 693 65 7] A A K47 3R R A1
ARREREFE A FELEEKREER

ot

= o

SMAEREE2ATHENEFERSH (8
A B ERI) BRI RS PR IAZT
2 HLBEAK - T ERBRARE 2
FiE -

TEHF R KT BIRIT R E AL fE F A FEBN R0
DERNFEDIRIER - EERBR &K F SRR
FEEUS T AR R AR EFTRBEHAR
KR RETE - BRAEER2023F K&
202212 A31 B AYFH B R 1T R H M & HAR
FMTEYORE A FEZHETHAETE
Ao EREDTETEHTERKTERITRE
& FRE FERNEA RS o Y A (B R H IR A4

o

AEENMBHFIAEEESRTAAYE
AENBRRERERF  c REREMK - B
FomemTAEENES  YEEMHEMR
EANIZHARE ZEFTHEMSHT
ARQFEABNER  AEMBREZH -
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise cash
and cash equivalents, and interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings. The main purpose of these financial
instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s operations.
The Group has various other financial assets and liabilities
such as trade and other payables, which arise directly from
its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial
instruments are interest risk, foreign currency risk, credit
risk and liquidity risk. The board of directors reviews and
agrees policies for managing each of these risks and they
are summarised below.

Interest risk

The Group has no significant interest-bearing assets
other than time deposits (note 17) and cash and cash
equivalents (note 20). The Group'’s interest rate risk arises
from its borrowings, details of which are set out in note
23. Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings at variable
rates expose the Group to the risk of changes on market
interest rates. The Group has not used any interest rate
swaps to hedge its exposure to interest rate risk. The
Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest
rates relates primarily to the Group’s debt obligations with
a floating interest rate.

As at 31 December 2023, if interest rates on loans had
been 50 basis points higher/lower with all other variables
held constant, the loss before tax for the year ended 31
December 2023 would have been RMB2,063,000 (2022:
RMB670,000) higher/lower, mainly as a result of the higher/
lower interest expense on loans.

34.
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MBEREEBRERBR

AEBENTESRTARERERESEE
ARG BRITREMER - ZFSRTA
MEZEHNRRAEENEESEES - X
SEEZHREMEREERAME  MEEK
BHEEENE S REMEMNKIA -

AEEERITAEENETEZRKAFER
% INERE  FERBRERSDHESRAR o
EEehiI NABSETEXSRAROEE  H
BEWT -

R E R B

BREBEFER(MF17) ARBR SRR SEEY
(fIEE20) 40 - AEBEX EBRFFEEE - &
SEMFXEBRKREEMER - FIERRHE
23 ° F B KRG BAET B RIT R EMBRE
AEEHEBRTSMNEZHNER - NEBT
HAE PR A A R BRSO BN K b o K
SEEBENTIZANZEFRMEZRAREE
HEBEBREIAR

M2023F12A31H  HERFM=E LH T
PROOMEEE - MATEEMESRETE B
£2023F12A31 B IEFEMRIAIEER
=, mA AR 2 063,0007T (20224
AR¥670,0007T) ' TEHRERFIBEMAX
#an SR AFTER o

231



232

Jiangsu Recbio Technology Co., Ltd.
SIERMENEMRHHRAF

Notes to Financial Statements

B 75 ¥ R B o

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F 12 A31 B ILFE

34.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)
Foreign currency risk

The Group has certain cash and cash equivalents
denominated in foreign currencies, mainly United States
Dollars (“USD") and Hong Kong Dollars (“HKD"), which

34. HXEERRE

SMEE LB

BEEEREE (&)

AEERBBEETUNMNE (EBERET([X
T RABET(TETD)HENRERREEE
BY > eHiRIMNERR - NEEBEEIPE

are exposed to foreign currency risk. The Group has not SN R f o
hedged its foreign currency risk.
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end TRETRIEHN - EAEMEERES
of the reporting period to a reasonably possible change in TEBERT - AEBEBRT A EE A R
the USD and HKD exchange rates, with all other variables HETTNEICIE X 2 532 7] f8 & B /) UK
held constant, of the Group’s loss before tax and equity E(RRAEREBHEERABNATEE
(due to changes in the fair value of monetary assets and g)) o
liabilities).
Increase/
(decrease) in
the rate of Increase/ Increase/
foreign  (decrease) in (decrease)
currency loss before tax in equity
INESTE R BRBAIEE R
#gm,CRd) #®mCGES)  Em GRS
% RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
% ARETT ARETT
31 December 2023 2023%F12H31H
If RMB strengthens against US$ EAREEETHE 5 25,498 25,498
If RMB weakens against US$ BEAREHETEE (5) (25,498) (25,498)
If RMB strengthens against HK$ B AR X B THE 5 3,933 3,933
If RMB weakens against HK$ BEARBHATRE (5) (3,933) (3,933)
31 December 2022 2022F 12 A31H
If RMB strengthens against US$ B AR K ETHE 5 35,074 35,074
If RMB weakens against US$ EAREHETRE (5) (35,074) (35,074)
If RMB strengthens against HK$ — H AR X THE 5 20,914 20,914
If RMB weakens against HK$ BEARBHBTRE (5) (20,914) (20,914)
The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy REBERERARBEENE=ARXS °

third parties. In addition, receivable balances are
monitored on an ongoing basis and the Group’s exposure

to bad debts is not significant.

BEAN - RKRGRIRE RIS ER
EEREVERILAERX -

BEfoe ,
miT

R
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk

The Group has no significant concentrations of credit
risk. The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents
and other receivables and other assets included in the
statement of financial position represent the Group’s
maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to its financial
assets.

As at the end of the reporting periods, cash and cash
equivalents were deposited in banks with high credit
ratings without significant credit risk.

Liquidity risk

In the management of liquidity risk, the Group monitors and
maintains the level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by the management of the Group to finance the
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows.

34.

B 5 ¥ R Y

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12 A31BIEFEE

BEEBEERRRBEK ()

FERR

AEEHBEEXBETNERERAR - st AR
BN R & MR & SEWIA SR H R
RIAREMEENREAESAEEEE SR
BEMHEENRAEERBRBA

R|EHR B RREFENFAEAF
AEAYEEXNEERBAIRT

REBESERE

REBRRBEC AR  RNEBEZERER
AEEEEERREANASNREEEY
KF - LB EERRERSRENBF
.
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 34. HERKREEEZEREE (E&)
AND POLICIES (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued) REBEERME (&)
The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at R|EBR  AEEZRESLHRERNTRGTE
the end of the reporting periods, based on the contractual MemBEIHERAT

undiscounted payments, is as follows:

As at 31 December 2023 7A2023F12H31H
On Within 1 year to Over
demand 1 year 5 years 5 years Total
RER 15 15E55F 5FLE wst

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARWTR ARBTR AR®TR AR TR

Financial liabilities included in st At e 30IB K 44,521 = = = 44,521
other payables and accruals B ERANLHER
Trade and bills payables BHENHFIER 115,081 - - - 115,081
ADES S
Interest-bearing bank and other & 8817 K& E b5 - 71,383 622,899 - 694,282
borrowings
Lease liabilities HEAE 5,042 10,618 4,950 - 20,610
164,643 82,001 627,849 - 874,494
As at 31 December 2022 1K2022F12A31H
On Within 1 year to Over
demand 1 year 5 years 5 years Total
REX 16/ 1FE5F 58 AL et

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’000  RMB’000
ARBTT ARETT ARBTT ARETT ARETT

Financial liabilities included in & AE A& F/I8 & 51,624 = = = 51,624
other payables and accruals  [EFfEBAMESRARE
Trade and bills payables 2 SN HRIER 62,517 - - - 62,517
AN
Interest-bearing bank and other &t 83R7T & EAbE R = 11,004 212,731 44,102 267,837
borrowings
Lease liabilities HESE = 21,316 34,376 = 55,692

114,141 32,320 247,107 44,102 437,670
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to
support its business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions
and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital
to shareholders or issue new shares. The Group is not
subject to any externally imposed capital requirements.
No changes were made in the objectives, policies or
processes for managing capital as at the end of each of
the reporting periods.

34.

B 5 ¥ R Y
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BEEBEERRRBEK ()

EXrER
AEEERNEERNTR2BANARERNEERR
BRENBHBEERL RN - X
HEBIHBEREEZALL -

40 B R AT R 088 2 R R A A O L
R IR R A A R B o AR
FBBEALHE  ARETREINFRE
MRS - FAREREE AR BETHR o A%
BB FEMIHE BN ERIRE - BE
WK EREANAE  BRREFL
B2 -
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35.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 35.

COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

AN BB B HE AR 2R

RiRE R - N2 EH M BN K E R0

N

_|

31 December 31 December

2023 2022
2023 F 20224
12831 H 12A31H
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARET T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - BE k& 791,384 495 240
Right-of-use assets FREEE 35,637 34,983
Investments in subsidiaries BB AR NEE 239,533 41,533
Other intangible assets HEthBAEE 19,006 11,385
Other non-current assets HMIEREEE 122,240 199,153
Total non-current assets EMBNEERTE 1,207,800 782,294
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories F& 93,574 51,672
Prepayments, other receivables and other assets  FafT7KIE - Hth fEUFUIE & 451,055 422,391
HEMEE
Pledged deposits BEERFR 75,630 =
Cash and cash equivalents BeRREEEY 820,611 1,313,471
Total current assets MENEELRTE 1,440,870 1,787,534
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Lease liabilities HEAE 8,622 3,525
Trade and bills payables B 5 AR EMNRE 110,854 60,534
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings T EERIT R E A AR 46,307 1,394
— current — BNHA
Other payables and accruals H 5 E R ERT & A 294,605 202,382
Total current liabilities mB B EREE 460,388 267,835
NET CURRENT ASSETS mEEEFHE 980,482 1,519,699
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES HEERRBEE 2,188,282 2,301,993
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35. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 35. ZAARMNBERRE (&)
COMPANY (continued)

31 December 31 December

2023 2022
2023 20224
12A31H 12H831H
RMB’ 000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARBET T

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FFRBEE

Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings T ERIT REAMERK 585,333 231,621
Lease liabilities HE&aE 1,463 2,863
Deferred income RIEW 75,811 61,144
Total non-current liabilities MBI B ERE 662,607 295,628
Net assets FEE 1,525,675 2,006,365
EQUITY s

Equity attributable to owners of the parent BREHEA ARG ER

Share capital &N 482,963 482,963
Treasury shares EE1FR% (54,005) =
Reserves i 1,096,717 1,523,402

Total equity W AARR 1,525,675 2,006,365
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35.

36.

37.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

COMPANY (continued)

35. ARQBMUMBMRE ()

A summary of the Company's reserves is as follows: ARG BESRENT
Share-
Share/ based
Treasury Capital Other payment Accumulated
shares premium reserves reserve losses Total
Wk
R4/ AEEN
E#R RAGE Rfbiit DEGT] ZitER S
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARETRE  ARETR ARETR ARETn AR%Tn  ARETR
At1 January 2022 H2022%1 818 - 1950091 166768 137689 (834275 1420273
Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year ENBERZEERER - - - - (573436)  (573,436)
Shares issued upon initial public offering (‘P0")  ERAREE ([ER = 589,716 = = = 589,716
NHEE])BEAN
)
Shares issued upon over-allotment option RERREETER - 76,139 - - - 76,139
RmRH
Share issue expenses Rip&TER - (37,106) - - = (37,106)
Share-based payments MR AN - = = 47,816 = 47816
At31 December 2022 2022512831 B - 2578840 166768 185505 (1407711) 1523402
At 1 January 2023 120231818 - 2,578,840 166,768 185,505  (1,407,711) 1,523,402
Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year ENBERZEERER - - - - (468,578)  (468,578)
Shares purchased under 2022 H Share Incentive R 2022 FHIR R (54,005) - - - - (54,005)
Scheme STERANRA
Share-based payments IRGBERAAR - - - 41,893 - 41,893
At 31 December 2023 #2023%12831H (54,005) 2,578,840 166,768 227,398  (1,876,289) 1,042,712

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There were no significant events subsequent to 31

December 2023.

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the board of directors on 20 March 2024.

36. HEHREIE
R2023F 12 A31 B 2 B EEKRNEIE -

37. HREMBHRE

BB RARHEETEN2024FE3 A20 Bt E R
BERETEE -
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Definitions Bx

“Annual General Meeting” or the annual general meeting of our Company proposed to be held on May 8,
“‘AGM” 2024;

[FERRAS ] E| RN AERTR2024F5 A8 HRITHFERRAS ¢

“Articles of Association” the articles of association of Jiangsu Recbio Technology Co., Ltd., as

amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time;

NGRS i TEINEHEY MR N BR A B EIR ETRERT - T sAEMA S ER)

“Audit Committee” the audit committee of our Company;

[EtEEg] i RARIEAEER

“Beijing ABZYMO” Beijing ABZYMO Biosciences Co., Ltd. (JtRZBBEVMERERAF]), a

limited liability company established in the PRC on March 7, 2011 and our
wholly-owned subsidiary;

[TEREZBk] <] IRZEBEMRBERAR - —RKR2011FE3A7BERBRVYHBEREER
Bl RARAINZEMBAT

“Board” the board of Directors of our Company;

[EEg ] | RAREEG

“CDE” the Center for Drug Evaluation of NMPA (IR B R EEEIEBERETF L), a
division of the NMPA mainly responsible for review and approval of IND and
BLA;

[EmETPO] i BEREQREBEEREMTIRL  AERREERETHNOIHE =288
IND &2 BLARY B #Z S b

“CG Code” the Corporate Governance Code contained in Appendix C1 to the Listing
Rules, as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time;

[fhEERFA] i FHRAIMERCIAE B EEIRTRI (BAKERT - Mask A M A Ek)

“China” or “PRC” the People’s Republic of China, but for the purpose of the report and

for geographical reference only and except where the context requires,
references in the report to “China” and the “PRC” do not include Hong Kong,
the Macau Special Administrative Region of the PRC and Taiwan;

[ B <] hEARKME - BEFRARERRBRMERENS - ARXESEMREN - K
RERRANHE I TBREFEEE RFIFIITTRRRAEHRER

“Code Provision(s) the principles and code provisions set out in the CG Code;

[ <8I i 12 A ST A P e A9 R A1) B2 sF AR ST
“Companies Ordinance” the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), as

amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time;
(NI i BAEEGIZE 622 F (A RAIEHI (FERRERT ~ Mz AE A Eek)
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“Company” or “our Company”

[ |

“Core Product”

[ 202 i |

“CSRC”

[FEEES]

“Director(s)”

[E%]

“Domestic Share(s)”

[ A& R

“Dr. Liu”

(&t

“FDA”
[FDA]

“Global Offering”

[ R E

“Group”, “our Group”, “we” or

us”

(&R 5 [ 3]

“H Share(s)”

[HAx ]

3

“H Share Registrar’
[HAXE 5 & a0

Jiangsu Recbio Technology Co., Ltd. (T&ImEHEMFIMTRMH AR AR]), a joint
stock company incorporated in the PRC with limited liability, the H Shares of
which are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 2179);
LEmREHEMBEMIROBRAR » —KRPBEEMEZORMDERAF - EHE
PREESZPT BT (AR 5% : 2179)

has the meaning ascribed to it in Chapter 18A of the Listing Rules; for the
purpose of the report, our Core Product refers to REC603, a recombinant
HPV 9-valent vaccine candidate;

HBEFTRAE1BAER FZAMNERE  AREMS - KO RLEME
REC603 (—XREAENEHPVIREZH)

China Securities Regulatory Commission;
TEBESEEEREEY

the director(s) of our Company;

RRBESE

ordinary shares in the share capital of our Company, with a nominal value
of RMB1.00 each, which are subscribed for and paid up in Renminbi by
domestic investors;

RARBRAREREEARKE1.00THE R - ABEAREEUAREREL &
i

Dr. LIU Yong, the executive Director and general manager of our Group;
REBERTERRERLELEEL

the United States Food and Drug Administration;
FEEmEREEERER

the global offering of 30,854,500 H Shares (subject to over-allotment option)
as described in the Prospectus;
R E A2 Pt 23R8 £ 30,854,500 Ak HAR (AR T MR Ac ABETT 1B R E )

our Company and all of our subsidiaries or, where the context so requires,
in respect of the period before our Company became the holding company
of its present subsidiaries, the businesses operated by such subsidiaries or
their predecessors (as the case may be);

ARABREMEMBAT » SIRXEME - AR BKAHBRE A B ZER
RRAZAWEEMS - ZEMBAFSHER S GRIERME) LR %5

overseas listed foreign share(s) in the share capital of our Company, with a
nominal value of RMB1.00 each, which are listed on the Stock Exchange and
traded in Hong Kong dollars;
RARRAHFREEARKE1.007THIRIN ETHINERR - BB AT BT RIAETT
5

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited;

BEPREFECARAA



“HK$" or “Hong Kong dollars”

[t

“Hong Kong”
[&E]

“IASB”

(B EasrEAEEe

“IFRS”

[ B % B 75 ¥ 5 2 B

“Jiangsu MPA”
IR EEESR |

“Latest Practicable Date”

[REBRAITTEH

“Listing”
[E]

“Listing Date”
[ETHH]

“Listing Rules”

[ EfRA

“Main Board”

=

“Model Code”

“NMPA"
[BEREES ]

Annual Report 2023
ZRC=EER
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Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong;

BELEEEETT

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC;
hEEERBITTHRE

Intemational Accounting Standards Board;
REstEREEE

the International Financial Reporting Standards, which as collective term
includes all applicable individual International Financial Reporting Standards,
International Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the IASB;
B B B s 5 R A ;%maa@%l S EEEAR B g M BE N PTE A 8 R BB A
BHEEL - BERE S LR RERE

Jiangsu Medical Products Administration;
IHEEREEERR

March 31, 2024, being the latest practicable date for the purpose of
ascertaining certain information in the report prior to its publication;

20243 A318 ' BIAFKENEIFI T EFRMEE TERNREERT/TEHE

the listing of our H Shares on the Stock Exchange;
H A B 32 P 7

March 31, 2022, on which dealings in our H Shares first commenced on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange;
2022F3A31H @ BIHKR A REMZAERMABEEN R

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited, as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from
time to time;

BRBMERHMBRARRZSF LETRR (BTRHERT - BRIAEMT A EH)

the stock exchange (excluding the option market) operated by the Stock
Exchange, which is independent from and operated in parallel with the
Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange;

BRFTEENE R S (T EEETS) - B RBERFTGrowth Enterprise
Marketf B2 2 W0 1T & &

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules, as amended, supplemented or
otherwise modified from time to time;

EMRAIMSRCIFE M EMBETAEFTETELFR ZHMIZESFA) (B IR
A1 - FARSAEM T B

= 5%

the National Medical Products Administration of the PRC (BI% & REEE B2

/@) and its predecessor the China Food and Drug Administration (HZXR @
EQERERARF),
Bl B m e E “E%&Em%l% mEREETERER
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“Prospectus”

[ ERE ]

“Remuneration and Appraisal
Committee”

[HENEREZZE S ]

“Reporting Period”
B a==p

“RMB” or “Renminbi”
[ARE

“Share(s)”

[Bztn ]

“Shareholders”

[AER ]

“Stock Exchange”
[BsE 22 7 |

“subsidiary(ies)

(KB A

“Supervisor(s)”

[E5% |
“United States” or “U.S.”
E3=0

“Unlisted Foreign Share(s)”

[REFINE B

“U.S. dollars”, “US$” or “USD”

A

“Wuhan Recbio”
[RERRH
“Wuhan Recogen”

[EUEH R |

the prospectus issued by our Company on March 21, 2022 in relation to our
Global Offering and Listing;
RATRBIREE R EHA B BH/A8202243 H21 HWBRKREIE

the remuneration and appraisal committee of our Company;
RARFWNEREZEZE S ;

the year ended December 31, 2023;
HZE2023F 128318 LFE

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC;
PEDEEEBARY

share(s) in the share capital of our Company, with a nominal value of
RMB1.00 each, comprising our Domestic Shares, Unlisted Foreign Shares
and H Shares;

RAGRATGREEARE1.00THKRD - BERER - K EWIINEREHA

holders of our Shares;

ROOFEBA

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited;
BEMERXGMARIA

has the meaning ascribed thereto in section 15 of the Companies Ordinance;
BB R AMGOIE 1560 T Z AR RE

supervisor(s) of our Company;
RRAESE

the United States of America, its territories, its possessions and all areas
subject to its jurisdiction;
ENRERE  EEL  BUMRXRNEGZEEENMBER ;

ordinary share(s) issued by our Company with a nominal value of RMB1.00
each and are held by foreign investors and are not listed on any stock
exchange;

RATRETHEREEARK.00TH LB - WHRIMREERE - BV ER
EREECEEE )i

United States dollars, the lawful currency of the United States;

EXEEEERETT

Wuhan Recbio Biotechnology Co., Ltd. (R ZmEHEWIFIMTER AR, a limited
liability company established in the PRC on September 28, 2021.
REZREAEMRMARAR] » —RMN2021F9 A28 BEF B HBRAR

Wuhan Recogen Biotechnology Co., Ltd. (BNZmEIZEYRIFEAR AR, a
limited liability company established in the PRC on September 28, 2021.
MBS EVBEARAR - —KN2021F9 A28 HEFRBEKVHARAR]
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Glossary of Technical Terms KA s

“adjuvant” a substance that may be added to a vaccine to enhance the body’'s immune
response to an antigen;

[ER ] i — BRI S R LG ABE RN R EEENYE

“adjuvant system” formulations of classical adjuvants mixed with immunomodulators,
specifically adapted to the antigen and the target population;

[ %45t | BFETEHURT B R AR Bl B R A AR & MR

“AE” adverse events, any untoward medical occurrences in a patient or clinical

investigation subject administered with a drug or other pharmaceutical
product during clinical trials and which do not necessarily have a causal
relationship with the treatment;

[TREMH] | BEIBAABRIAENBEAARTES —BEY S HMERNHERBEHENTR
BREEMH BT —FERABEERARMBIRE

“antigen” the substance that is capable of stimulating an immune response,
specifically activating lymphocytes, which are the body’s infection-fighting
white blood cells;

7 | BEMRIM R EENYE - FRIRBEMEARN (ABEBRRNB4EMR) ;

“AS01” a liposome-based vaccine adjuvant system, which contains 3-O-desacyl-4'-
monophosphoryl lipid A (MPL), as well as the saponin QS-21;

[ASO1] i ERRERNERZRS ©E363-0— AME-4'— EHBERBAMPL) - UKk2
%QS-ZT ;

“AS03” an adjuvant system composed of «-tocopherol, squalene and polysorbate
80 in an oil-in-water emulsion;

[ASO03] i Ha— 458 - AREMELARERES0AEMK K /K h LB ER R4t

“*AS04” an adjuvant system composed of aluminum salt and monophosphoryl lipid A
(MPL), a clinically utilized TLR4 agonist;

[ASO04 ] | —TBREEANMNER RS - RANtDE —EBRK CERAMNTLRA KB Bl B8R
A(MPL) :

“B cell(s)” a type of white blood cell that differ(s) from other lymphocytes like T-cells

by the presence of the BCR on the B-cell’'s outer surface, also known as
B-lymphocytes;

[BAAAR ] | —EEBAMINREFAEBCRM AR TARMZE A MM E A B A8 - IRFEB M
EAmH
“BLA” biologics license application;

[BLA] £ EYB A B
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‘Cbh4”"

[CD4]

“CD4 + T cells”

[CD4+T#HM |

“CD8 + T cells”

[CD8+T 4 |

‘CbC”

[RED L

“cervical cancer”

]

(=%

g
\H/’t

“CHO cell”

[CHO#R |

‘CMO(s)”

[BHEERE]

“‘COVID-19"

[ % i 4 |

“DALYs”

[DALYs]

“E.coli”

[ RIGIRHE |

a transmembrane glycoprotein that is expressed as a single polypeptide
chain on the MHC class ll-restricted T-cells;
—ERREED  EFE ZHBEMHCREIMETAM FAEE L IR A R E

a type of important T lymphocyte that helps coordinate the immune response
by stimulating other immune cells to fight infections;

—REBENTHEAR - BERNARCERARSNBRAXEDHARREE

a type of important T lymphocytes for immune defense against intracellular
pathogens, including viruses and bacteria, and for tumour surveillance;
—EHEARARRE (EERSTHAR) ETEEMEUAREEBRREEINEE
B TRES 40 AR

Centre for Disease Control and Prevention;

AR TER RS L

cancer that occurs in the cervix — the lower part of the uterus that connects
to the vagina;
BAEFEGheEE - FEUREEREN = T

Chinese Hamsters Ovary Cell, which is widely used in biopharmaceutical
industry to produce recombinant proteins;
REAEENEME  BZANEYRETE  BREESHERE

a company that serves other companies in the pharmaceutical industry on
a contract basis to provide comprehensive services from drug development
through drug manufacturing;

REBETEAEMATNREYHEIN EmEERERH2ARBHEORBEL
Al ;

Coronavirus Disease 2019, an infectious disease caused by the most
recently discovered coronavirus, first reported in December 2019;

2019F BARA B KRR AR ERNBMB TS RAOEFERIERRE - R2019F12
RERMmE

the disability-adjusted life year, a measure of overall disease burden,
expressed as the number of years lost due to ill-health, disability or early
death;

BRAEREGF  REUSEREARBENES XRREARERE  BEIRES
SR MIB KA E R

Escherichia coli expression system, an expression system used in vaccine
R&D and manufacturing;

RERERERS  ARNREPEREENRERLR



“emulsion”

[FLA ]

“epitopes”

ESvA

‘EV71”

[EV71]

“GFA”
[ABsEEEm ]

‘GMP”
[GMP

“GMT”
[GMT]

“H. polymorpha”

[EHEREE ]

“HFMD”

[FRA%]

“HPV”

[HPV]

“HPV 9-valent vaccine’

[ NEHPVEH |

“HPV bivalent vaccine”

[ ZBHPVEH |
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a mixture of two or more liquids that are normally immiscible (unmixable or
unblendable) owing to liquid-liquid phase separation;

MIESZE —RE TR (TADRE SN AT R FE ) #97R B8 BERR 2 B 2K YR
am

part of an antigen that is recognized by the immune system, specifically by
antibodies, B cells, or T cells;

%I  BERKTARSFHN LR ZRER TR —ES

Enterovirus 71, most EV71 infections commonly result in hand-foot-mouth
disease (HFMD);
BERETE  AZHGERSTIARABTEEHFEORNAR

gross floor area;
MRS

good manufacturing practices;
BEREEESEERE

geometric mean titers;

#EATFIWE

Hansenula polymorpha, a well-known model organism, which can utilize
methanol as the carbon source and energy source, used widely for studying
cellular, metabolic, and genetic issues, and used in vaccine industry for
expression of recombinant proteins;

EREY  —BRAEANEXEY  EUFESRRKRER - BZARH R
B REAFEERRE - AREEBTERERAUNRESHEER

hand-foot-mouth disease, a common infectious disease among infants and
children, characterized by fever, sores in the mouth and a rash with blisters
on hands, feet and also buttocks;

FRAR  BYHERPBERERRE FEAER  ORLERES  F BRE
HHBRKBREZ

human papillomavirus, persistent infection of high-risk types can cause
cervical cancer;

AHBERRS  SRBRBEENFERRATLSENZEHE

a vaccine that can help protect individuals against the infections and
diseases caused by nine types of HPV;

— A EREEA R HNBEREHPY SRR MR BHRE

vaccines that can prevent infections of two HPV types;
AT B HPVER A B R
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“HPV quadrivalent vaccine”
[HPVIU B |

“immune response”

[ ]

“immunogenicity”

[RRRIE]

“IND”
[IND]

“influenza” or “flu”

‘IPD”

[1PD]

“MF59”
[MF59 ]

“mRNA”

mRNA ]

“neutralizing antibodies” or
“NAb”
[FR A48 | 3% [ NAD |

“‘NTD"

[NTD

vaccines that can prevent infections of four HPV types;
A AR PLiEHPVER R R AR

the process by which the body is stimulated by antigens;

FURRIHH R BIE

the ability of an antigen to provoke immune response;

RS R EEHIRE

investigational new drug or investigational new drug application;
W PRAFE I AR AT B SRR PR AR T R BT B2 FR 55

highly infectious respiratory diseases caused by influenza viruses. It is
characterised by sudden onset of high fever, aching muscles, headache,
fatigue and a hacking cough. Serious outcome of influenza can result in
hospitalization or death;

HRRRS S RNERMERNTRELRR  FRERERE
B RERERZ  BREEAGEALR EERT :

MABRE - 58

Integrated Product Development, a structure of work and best practices that
causes people to work together more effectively with better communications
and metrics that connect the entire value chain which is the standard of the
matrix management mode;

EXREMME  —BIERKEEENAERE - AIEAME TSR FETE T
R RMEBRUEHRTE - WEEEREGERE (L AEREEREXNRE)

an adjuvant system that uses a derivative of shark liver oil called squalene;

—RERRBIIMITEY ARBOER RS

messenger ribonucleic acid, a single-stranded molecule of RNA that
corresponds to the genetic sequence of a gene, and is read by a ribosome
in the process of synthesizing a protein;

ERZREZE  BERNEEFIEHENERERNAD T - EEKEREMNBIE
AR i AR RE RE AR

an antibody that is responsible for defending cells from pathogens, which
are organisms that cause disease;
—EAEREAREXFREBEFNNE R RESIRERNED)

N-terminal domain, a region of the protein’s polypeptide chain located at the
start of the protein that is self-stabilizing and that folds independently from
the rest;

N— Rin&&EE  EREZMEN— @R - LXNERENRIGRE - BEEERE
M B R EA AR T



“Omicron variant”

[EBRREEEE

‘OPTI"

[OPTIJ

“pathogens”
a8 ]

‘Qs-21"
[QS-21]

“R&D”
[ 3% |

‘RBD”

[RBD]

“SAE"

[BRETREM]

“SARS-CoV-2"

[SARS-CoV-2]

“shingles”

[FARES ]
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variant of lineage B.1.1.529 of SARS-Co-2, the virus that causes COVID-19;
B BETE A & 8 SARS-Co-2H)3% K B.1.1.520 M EiERE

the management philosophy adopted by our Company, which referred to
Opportunity, Prudence, Technology and Intellectual Property;
RABRGNERIRR - B - ZE - RITRAEERE

a bacteria, virus, or other microorganism that can cause disease;

AERKRNAE - mEREMBEY

a purified plant extract used as a vaccine adjuvant;

—RAREE BN CEYIRRY

research and development;
It R FE

receptor binding domain, a key part of a virus located on its “spike” protein
that allows it to dock to body receptors to gain entry into cells and lead to
infection;
XEECHERSN —EEARMY UREIMEIELE L FHENESES
B - EABRIT B R

bl

serious adverse events, any untoward medical occurrence in human drug
trials that at any dose: results in death; is life threatening; requires inpatient
hospitalization or causes prolongation of existing hospitalization; results
in persistent or significant disability and/or incapacity; may have caused
a congenital anomaly/birth defect, or requires intervention to prevent
permanent impairment or damage;
BENTEMBENABEDHABTNEIMNEINBRSHNLBELR - BB
T EEES : FEBEXRARIEERARARIER : BEUFERRERE
A SR TRRE N « AIAEEBUERMRTE HARKE - SkFEEFIEUR K
AERGHIEE

severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2, the strain of coronavirus
that causes COVID-19;
BESETREASGSEDTRES2  EEEMANTRAESERK

a viral infection that causes a painful rash;

— B E| A RS R B R
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“T cell(s)”

[ T4 |

‘TR’
[ ]
“TLR4”
[TLR4]

“tolerability”
[ i =2

“varicella”
[K5= ]

“VLPs”
[VLPs]

‘WHO”
[ R E A

cell(s) that originate in the thymus, mature in the periphery, become
activated in the spleen/nodes if their T-cell receptors bind to an antigen
presented by an MHC molecule and they receive additional costimulation
signals driving them to acquire killing (mainly CD8 + T cells) or supporting
(mainly CD4 + T cells) functions;

IR IO RR IR HMNEI B AR AR - R ETARXEEMHCH F2RNRREE R
TEREME M AERUE - B E BB IR SN RS SR A RIS AR5 (= Bt
CD8+T#HAE) sk#hB) (= EEHECDA+THIM) Tk

tuberculosis, an infection caused by Mycobacterium tuberculosis that
primarily affects the lungs;
iz AE BB AR D SRS AR

a receptor for lipopolysaccharide (LPS), which has a pivotal role in the
regulation of immune responses to infection;

FEZHE(LPS)MS 88 - A H RN R R EE PR ERBRIER

the degree to which overt AEs of a drug can be tolerated by a patient.
Tolerability of a particular drug can be discussed in a general sense, or it
can be a quantifiable measurement as part of a clinical study;
BEHEYNABIREMHNMIEER - SEEVNMIMAINE-—RES LE
TRl - A AMERERIRTTE —H D ETERIE

an acute infectious disease caused by the first infection of varicella zoster
virus;
BRBRKE — BSIRBE ARSI RNSEERRE

virus-like particles, are molecules that closely resemble viruses;
RSN - RERSIEBHUNS T

World Health Organization.
HRA LA -

Certain amounts and percentage figures included in this report AWEMBOETEERAD LBFEMELE -
have been subject to rounding adjustments.

For ease of reference, the names of the PRC laws and regulations, AF{E2E] » RBUAEEE « BUFEM - #% - 8
governmental authorities, institutions, natural persons or other AAFEMELE (BEAQFNETHERR) HH
entities (including certain of our subsidiaries) have been included HEXZAFBHFARIRE + M B RA 0 H E A
in this report in both the Chinese and English languages and in & BIAFRXIRA A2 - B 5P XA HA R X HZE
the event of any inconsistency, the Chinese versions shall prevail. ZBR#E7R -

English translations of official Chinese names are for identification

purpose only.
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